
Shropshire Council
Legal and Democratic Services
Shirehall
Abbey Foregate
Shrewsbury
SY2 6ND

Date:   Friday, 18 December 2015

Committee: 
Strategic Licensing Committee

Date: Wednesday, 6 January 2016
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: Shrewsbury Room - Shirehall

You are requested to attend the above meeting. 
The Agenda is attached

Claire Porter
Head of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer)

Members of the Committee Substitute Members of the Committee
Michael Wood (Chairman)
Keith Roberts (Vice Chairman)
Peter Adams
Joyce Barrow
Vernon Bushell
Steve Davenport
Andrew Davies
Peter Cherrington
Nigel Hartin
Roger Hughes
Robert Macey
Vivienne Parry
Jon Tandy
Robert Tindall
Dean Carroll

Andrew Bannerman
Gwilym Butler
Ted Clarke
Pauline Dee
Richard Huffer
Vince Hunt
John Hurst-Knight
Jane MacKenzie
William Parr
David Roberts
Tina Woodward
Christian Lea

Your Committee Officer is: 

Shelley Davies  Committee Officer
Tel:  01743 257718
Email:  shelley.davies@shropshire.gov.uk



AGENDA
1 Welcome and Introductions from the Chairman 

2 Apologies 

To receive apolgies for absence

3 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

4 Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 6)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 30th September 2015 as a true record.

Contact: Emily Marshall (01743 257717) 

5 Public Question Time 

To receive any questions, statements or petitions 

6 Safety of Sports Grounds - Annual Report December 2015 (Pages 7 - 10)

To consider the report of the Health Protection/Prevention Team Manager, attached 
marked 6.   

Contact: Matthew Aldridge 01743 251700

7 Gambling Act 2005 - Policy Statement (Pages 11 - 162)

Report of the Senior Commissioner for Business Support & Regulatory Services is 
attached, marked 7.  

Contact: Frances Darling (0345 6789026) 

8 Licensing Fees and Charges - 2016 - 2017 

Report to Follow. 

9 Exercise of Delegated Powers (Pages 163 - 170)

Report of the Team Manager Operational and Community Safety is attached, marked 9.

Contact: Mandy Beever (0345 678 9026) 

10 Records of Proceedings - Licensing Sub-Committees (Pages 171 - 182)

To consider the records of proceedings of the Licensing Act Sub-Committee meetings for 
September 2015 to December 2015 are attached for the Committees information.

2nd September 2015 
10th September 2015 

Contact: Emily Marshall (01743 257717) or Shelley Davies (01743 257718)



11 Date of Next Meeting 

To note that the next meeting of the Strategic Licensing Committee will be held on 
Wednesday, 30th March 2016 in the Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall, Shrewsbury.





Strategic Licensing 
Committee

6th January 2016 

Item

4
Public

MINUTES OF THE STRATEGIC LICENSING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 30 
SEPTEMBER 2015 
9.30  - 10.15 AM

Responsible Officer:    Emily Marshall
Email:  emily.marshall@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 257717

Present 
Councillor Michael Wood (Chairman)
Councillors Keith Roberts (Vice Chairman), Peter Adams, Joyce Barrow, Vernon Bushell, 
Peter Cherrington, Roger Hughes, Robert Macey, Dean Carroll and Andrew Bannerman  
(substitute for Nigel Hartin)

 
14 Welcome and Introductions from the Chairman 

The Chairman gave a brief introduction and welcomed those present to the meeting.

15 Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Steve Davenport, Andrew 
Davies, Nigel Hartin (Substitute Andrew Bannerman), Viv Parry and Robert Tindall.

16 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Members were reminded that they must not participate in the discussion or voting on 
any matter in which they had a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave the 
room prior to the commencement of the debate.

17 Minutes of Previous Meeting 

RESOLVED:
That the Minutes of the meetings held on 14th and 20th May 2015 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

18 Public Question Time 

The Chairman announced that nine public questions had been submitted in 
accordance with Council Procedure Rule 14 and had been circulated to all members 
of the Strategic Licensing Committee (a copy of the report containing the detailed 
questions and the formal response is attached to the signed minutes):

Received from Mr Paul Merrifield, Director of Comet Cars in relation to Euro 5 and 
NCAP 5 Standards – copy attached to the signed minutes.



Minutes of the Strategic Licensing Committee held on 30th September 2015

6

Received from Mr Roddy Doran, in relation to the Euro 5 requirements being 
extended to 2024 rather than 2022 to enable assist drivers to purchase vehicles 
and requesting that the rate card remain the same to achieve continuous business 
within a competitive market.  Copy attached to the signed minutes.  

Received from Mr M Khan on behalf of Asian community drivers, in relation to Euro 
Standards 3 and 4 and fare cards.  Copy attached to the signed minutes.

Received from Ms Tina Brookes and Mr Robbie Bruce of Access Cars Limited in 
relation to the requirement for new private hire vehicles to be NCAP5 and the 
impact this requirement was having upon the trade.  Copy attached to the signed 
minutes.

Received from Mr A. Alyas of County/Lakeside Cars in relation to the requirement 
for NCAP 5 rating and the suggestion that this should be reduced to 4 starts and 
also a rise in fares for the hackney carriage trade. Copy attached to the signed 
minutes.

Received from Mr Neil Gibbons of Station Cabs in relation to current tariff charges 
operating in Zone 4 (Shrewsbury and Atcham).  Copy attached to the signed 
minutes. 

Received from Mr Mark Morris in relation to purchasing affordable vehicles.  Copy 
attached to the signed minutes.

Received from Mr Mark Higgins, a licenced taxi driver in relation to the 
implementation of the Councils ultra-low emissions and safety policy requesting 
further consultation with the trade.  Copy attached to the signed minutes.  

Mr Sven Evans, in relation to vehicle emissions testing.  Copy attached to the 
signed minutes. 

The following response was provided at the meeting:

Before responding to the specific concerns raised within the submissions, the 
Council wishes to make it clear that the current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy was developed over a twelve month period with extensive informal 
and formal consultation with the trade and other key stakeholders.  This included 
face to face forums and two periods of formal consultation, which also included a 
face to face opportunity to further discuss the proposals.  Full consideration was 
given to a large amount of verbal and written feedback prior to the formal adoption 
of the policy; this included making specific amendments to reduce the standards 
that had to be achieved and providing an extension to the timeframe by which 
proprietors had to comply.  The Council does not accept that the policy came ‘out of 
the blue, without dialogue’.

Having given due consideration to the content of the submissions, it is clear that 
there is a single overarching concern, namely certain elements (Euro Emission 
Standards, NCAP Safety Ratings and Hackney Carriage Fare Card) of the 
Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy are apparently 
impacting on the ability of proprietors to comply with the relevant Policy conditions 
without disadvantaging them from a financial perspective.  



Minutes of the Strategic Licensing Committee held on 30th September 2015

7

Where the submissions have referred to the proposed amendment to the Hackney 
Carriage Fare Card, there will be a subsequent opportunity, in accordance with 
legal requirements, where objections can formally be made.  Details are available in 
the report entitled Hackney Carriage Fares – Zone 4, which is before the committee 
today.  Proprietors are advised to re-submit objections during the formal 
consultation period, which will be made known through the Council’s website and 
the Shropshire Star. 

With respect to Euro Emission Standards and NCAP Safety Ratings, the Council 
understands the concerns being expressed.  However; one of the main priorities of 
the Council is to ensure the safety and promote the health of the public.  
Implementation of the Euro Emission and NCAP Safety Ratings through the 
Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy are key to delivering 
this priority.  In addition, the individual submissions are of a general nature and fail 
to practically demonstrate any consideration of financial options that may be 
available to the proprietors.  

In relation to the recent information concerning the manufacture of some diesel 
vehicles and their emission levels, the facts relating to vehicles on the UK market 
have not yet been confirmed.  If, as a result of any investigation, it is confirmed that 
UK vehicles are affected, the Council will consider what, if any, action it needs to 
take.  Irrespective of the findings of any investigation, the Council will be pragmatic 
in its approach.  The Council will continue to accept information, submitted by any 
proprietor, which confirms the emission standard of the vehicle concerned is in line 
with the current policy.  This will continue until such time as any investigation 
relating to UK vehicles confirms that the emission information for any particular 
vehicle is incorrect.  At this time, the Council will confirm those vehicles that do not 
satisfy the policy requirements; drivers, proprietors and operators are strongly 
advised to monitor the Councils website for updates in this respect.  

Vehicles that are already licenced prior to the outcome of any investigation relating 
to UK vehicles being made known will remain licenced until the vehicle is replaced 
and/or changes are made to the Council’s policy (subject to consultation and, where 
appropriate, transition periods).  In addition, applications that have been received 
by the Council prior to the outcome of any investigation relating to UK vehicles 
being made known will be processed and providing all other requirements are 
satisfied will be licenced and remain valid until the vehicle is replaced and/or 
changes are made to the Council’s policy (subject to consultation and, where 
appropriate, transition periods).

The Council appreciates the proposals suggesting an extension to the transition 
periods; however, having considered these it is the Councils view that this will only 
serve to prolong the fundamental issues that proprietors do have to take on board 
whilst meeting all the requirements of a licenced proprietor.  The Council does not 
accept that simply removing the standards or giving too much weight to the 
economic implications is an appropriate way forward given the importance of 
ensuring the safety and promoting the health of the public.  



Minutes of the Strategic Licensing Committee held on 30th September 2015

8

19 Gambling Act 2005 - Policy Statement 

Consideration was given to the report of the Senior Commissioner for Business 
Support & Regulatory Services in relation to the Council’s Gambling Act 2005 draft 
policy statement. (Copy attached to the signed minutes).

RESOLVED:

1. That the draft Gambling Act 2005 policy statement as set out in Appendix 1 of 
the Officer’s report be agreed

2. That the Head of Business Support and Regulatory Services, in consultation 
with the Chair of the Strategic Licensing Committee, be instructed to 
undertake a process of consultation and to prepare a final draft of the policy 
statement for further consideration by the Strategic Licensing Committee no 
later than 6 January 2016. 

20 Hackney Carriage Fares - Zone 4 (Shrewsbury and Atcham) 

Consideration was given to the report of the Team Manager – Operational 
Community Safety in relation to hackney carriage fares, Zone 4 (Shrewsbury and 
Atcham). (Copy attached to the signed minutes).

During the ensuing debate, members expressed concerns at the operation of two 
fare zones within the County, and having heard the concerns of the trade earlier in 
the meeting with regards to the cost of purchasing new vehicles and other financial 
pressures the trade were facing, to proceed with the consultation as detailed in the 
officer’s recommendations would be a retrograde step. The introduction of a separate 
fare for Zone 4 could also mean that other changes were then required.  

RESOLVED:
That no further action be taken in respect of fares for Zone 4.

21 Exercise of Delegated Powers 

Consideration was given to the report of the Team Manager – Operational 
Community Safety in relation to delegated powers to issue and amend licences. 
(Copy attached to the signed minutes).

RESOLVED:
That the report of the Team Manager – Operational and Community Safety be noted.

22 Records of Proceedings - Licensing Act Sub-Committee 

The records of proceedings of the Licensing Act Sub-Committee meetings from 
March 2015 to August 2015 were received by Members (Copies attached to the signed 
minutes). 

RESOLVED:
That the records of proceedings of the Licensing Act Sub-Committee meetings from 
March 2015 to August 2015 be noted.



Minutes of the Strategic Licensing Committee held on 30th September 2015

9

23 Date of Next Meeting 

It was noted that the next meeting of the Strategic Licensing Committee would be 
held on Wednesday, 6th January 2016 in the Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall.





Committee and Date

Strategic Licencing Committee

6th January 2016

Item

6
Public

SAFETY OF SPORTS GROUNDS – ANNUAL REPORT OF ACTIVITY (DECEMBER 2015)

Responsible Officer Matthew Aldridge 

Email: Matthew.aldridge@shropshire.gov.uk Tel: 01743 251700

1. Summary

1.1 On 15th December 2009 it was agreed that an annual report be given to members of the 
Strategic Licencing Committee detailing the exercise of delegated functions in respect 
of the safety of sports grounds, undertaken by the Public Protection service over the 
past year. 

1.2 There are no financial, environmental or health and safety implications associated with 
this report.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the Strategic Licencing Committee note the activities in respect of safety of sports 
grounds at designated sports grounds and regulated stands in Shropshire.

REPORT

3. Background

3.1 The Safety of Sports Grounds Act 1975, Fire Safety and Safety of Places of Sport Act 
1987 and the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order are enforced by Public Protection.

3.2 Under the Safety of Sports Grounds Act 1975, the Council is required to issue Safety 
Certificates for designated sports grounds which are defined as: 

3.3 A place where sports or other competitive activities take place in the open air and where 
accommodation has been provided for spectators, consisting of artificial structures or of 
natural structures artificially modified for the purpose.

3.4 Safety certificates are required in sports grounds that can accommodate more than 
10,000 spectators (5000 in the case of Football League grounds) or have a covered 
stand that holds more than 500 spectators. 

mailto:Matthew.aldridge@shropshire.gov.uk


Item 6 Safety of Sports Grounds - Annual Report of Activity (December 2015)

3.5 The primary purpose of the safety certificate is to set a limit on the safe capacity of a 
designated ground or regulated stand. The capacity of a sports ground or stadium is 
calculated on the physical condition of the stadium (the P factor) and the level of safety 
management (the S factor). 

3.6 The safety certificate will also detail conditions in respect to safety matters with which 
the certificate holder must comply if that capacity is to be maintained. 

3.7 The venues within Shropshire which hold safety certificates are: 

 Shrewsbury Town Football Club
 Ludlow Racecourse
 New Saints Football Club, Park Hall, Oswestry.

4. Shrewsbury Town Football Club (Greenhous Meadow)

4.1 An annual regime of during performance inspections and site visits have been 
conducted to verify the safe capacity of the stadium taking account of the physical 
condition of the stadium and the safety management operations in place (P and S 
factors). The calculations have been verified and the capacity of the club has been 
retained at a maximum of 9875 people. 

4.2 A Safety Advisory Group consisting of West Mercia Police, Shropshire Fire and Rescue, 
West Midlands Ambulance Service, The Safety of Sports Grounds Authority, 
Emergency Planning and Public Protection has met twice to routinely address any 
safety issues associated with football matches at the stadium. 

4.3 Since the last report there have been changes to the deputy safety manager at the 
ground and also a new electronic ticketing system has been installed and the club have 
changed their match day first aid and ambulance cover back to West Midlands 
Ambulance Service. A revised general safety certificate was issued on the 23rd 
November 2015 to reflect these changes.

4.4 The following official match day inspections were carried out by the service and 
representatives of the Safety Advisory Group to view the clubs operational procedures 
in action and to assess compliance with the General Safety Certificate. Both evening 
and weekend matches were selected:

4.5 Shrewsbury Town vs. Oxford United (21st March 2015). A visit was undertaken to view 
the safety management operation during a weekend match of a high risk game. No 
issues were found regarding the operations in place. Overall a very high standard of 
safety management was seen.

4.6 Shrewsbury Town vs Doncaster Rovers (Tuesday 20th October 2015). This was police-
free match and a well-controlled safety management system was implemented. 
Feedback was given regarding minor housekeeping issues relating to the storage of 
items in protected fire escapes and a damaged fire door. 



Item 6 Safety of Sports Grounds - Annual Report of Activity (December 2015)

4.7 Special safety certificates were granted for the following events over the past twelve 
months: 

 RAF vs Navy (11th March 2015).
 Celebrity Football Match (30th August 2015)
 England under 20’s vs Czech Republic (7th September 2015).

5. Ludlow Racecourse

5.1 A General inspection of the ground has taken place to review the P&S factors and work 
is ongoing to review the implementation of an operations manual to ensure compliance 
with the requirements of the of the Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds (Green Guide). 

5.2 A race day inspection was undertaken on the 21st April 2015. There were no significant 
concerns regarding the operations on the day. Feedback was given regarding minor 
housekeeping issues and compliance with their own policies regarding admittance of 
spectators to certain viewing areas. A further inspection has been arranged for 16th 
December 2015.

5.3 The safety certificate is currently under review. The current capacity of the designated 
viewing areas is 3065, with an S factor of 0.5 applied. Improvements made to safety 
management at the course are likely to result in an increased capacity being permitted.

6. New Saints Football Club, Oswestry 

6.1 A full review of the safety management operation has taken place during the year by the 
public protection team. 

6.2 Following site visits, during performance inspections and follow up meetings with the 
management of the club; the application of the Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds 
(Green Guide) has resulted in the S factor being reduced to 0.5 and limiting the capacity 
of the ground to 1320 spectators. The reduction is comprised of the following matters: 

6.3 The entry capacity of the ground, determined by the maximum number of people who 
can pass through the turnstiles within an hour.

6.4 The designation of a suitable Safety Officer who is occupationally competent with 
sufficient training, experience and knowledge to be able to carry out their duties during 
a football game. It has also been recommended that a suitable deputy officer is assigned 
also.

6.5 Qualifications of stewards who should have a level 2 stewarding qualification or be 
undergoing training and assessment for the qualification.

6.6 The restriction of the capacity should not affect the regular fixtures at the club with 
average spectator attendance being below the 1320 capacity. 



Item 6 Safety of Sports Grounds - Annual Report of Activity (December 2015)

6.7 The Council are working closely with the club to ensure that the above matters are 
addressed if the club wishes to increase its capacity in the future. 

7. Sports Grounds Safety Authority (SGSA):

7.1 A desktop audit of the Councils Sports Ground Safety Licencing function was carried 
out in July 2015 by the SGSA.

7.2 The outcome of the desktop audit was that the Councils operational function in relation 
to the regulation of the three sports grounds was satisfactory but recommended that the 
Council considers developing written procedures in relation to how premises are 
certified and that a Safety Advisory Group for Ludlow Racecourse and the New Saints 
Football Club is convened. 

8. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

None

9. Financial Implications

None

10. Additional Information

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but 
does not include items containing exempt or confidential information)
None

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder) Cllr. Malcolm Price

Local Member
Covers all areas of the Council

Appendices None



Committee and Date

Strategic Licensing Committee

6 January 2016

Item

7
Public

Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement

Responsible Officer Frances Darling – Senior Commissioner, Business Support & 
Regulatory Services

e-mail: frances.darling@shropshire.gov.uk Tel: 01743 251715
 

1.  Summary

1.1 The Gambling Act 2005 (‘the Act) requires the Council to prepare and publish a 
statement of the principles (policy statement) that it proposes to apply in 
exercising its functions under the Act.  The policy statement under the Act lasts 
for a maximum period of 3 years but can be reviewed and revised by the Council 
at any time.  

1.2 As agreed by the Strategic Licensing Committee, a period of formal consultation 
has been undertaken in respect of the draft policy statement that was considered by 
the Committee on 30 September 2015.  This report sets out the representations 
received from consultees for further consideration and proposes amendments to the 
draft policy statement with a view to agreeing a revised statement that may be 
reported to the Council for final approval.

2.  Recommendations

2.1 That the Committee considers the representations received following the formal 
consultation on the draft Gambling Policy Statement and agrees the amendments, 
set out as ‘tracked changes’, with any further amendments as appropriate, to the 
proposed Gambling Policy Statement as detailed in Appendix 1 and recommends 
to the Council that the policy statement is published and advertised by the Head of 
Public Protection in accordance with the provisions of the Act and that the policy 
statement will take effect from 1 April 2016. 

2.2 That the Committee delegates to the Senior Commissioner for Business Support 
and Regulatory Services, in consultation with the Chair of the Strategic Licensing 
Committee, the authority to finalise the tracked changes, correct the paragraph 
numbering and amend any typographical errors and/or administrative 
inconsistencies in the proposed Gambling Policy Statement as set out in Appendix 
1 prior to the policy statement being presented to the Council for final approval.



Strategic Licensing Committee – 6th January 2016 – Agenda Item 7

REPORT

3.  Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

3.1 The preparation and publishing of the policy statement is a legal requirement under 
the Gambling Act 2005 (the Act).  

3.2 If the Council fails to prepare and publish the policy statement the Council may be 
challenged when exercising its functions under the Act through a number of routes, 
e.g. service complaints to the Local Government Ombudsman and judicial review. 
Conversely, by preparing and publishing the policy statement, the Council is 
complying with its legal obligation.  In addition, the Council provides a defined 
framework within which to exercise its functions and makes it clear to all 
stakeholders the manner by which the Council intends to exercise its functions.

3.3 There is no anticipated environmental impact associated with the recommendations 
in this report.

3.4 The recommendation is not at variance with the Human Rights Act 1998 and is 
unlikely to result in any adverse Human Rights Act implications.  The 
recommendation is in line with relevant legal procedures prescribed by the Act and 
with guidance issued by the Gambling Commission.

 
3.5 The Act requires the Council to consult and this has been undertaken widely with 

relevant stakeholders.  Informal engagement was carried out with a number of key 
internal and external stakeholders with the aim of providing a robust basis for the 
formal consultation process.  This included making contact with representatives 
from children and adult services, economic development, information governance, 
housing, planning, tourism, police, public health, mental health, community safety 
and organisations that aim to support ‘problem gamblers’.  

3.6 Formal consultation, in accordance with the decision made by the Strategic 
Licensing Committee on 30 September 2015, was undertaken over an 8 week 
period (5 October 2015 to 29 November 2015), which provided, in particular, an 
opportunity for gambling industry representatives to provide feedback.  

3.7 The representations received during the formal consultation period are produced at 
Appendix 3.  Appendix 4 sets out the officer response to each representation, 
including any changes made to the policy statement and, where relevant, the 
reasons why changes have not been made.  There were no fundamental or 
significant amendments as a result of the representations made; those changes that 
were made simply provide greater clarification on specific matters across the policy 
statement.  In particular, there were insufficient representations made to enable the 
Council to introduce a ‘no casinos policy’ without attracting the risk of legal 
challenge; consequently, the policy statement makes it clear that the Council does 
not have a ‘no casinos policy’.  Each licence application will be considered on its 
own merits.

3.8 The proposed policy statement clarifies and amends committee and officer 
delegations (see Appendix D of the policy statement); in particular, it is proposed 
that the Strategic Licensing Committee is given the authority to set licensing fees 



Strategic Licensing Committee – 6th January 2016 – Agenda Item 7

under the Gambling Act.  This approach is permitted under the Act and is supported 
through guidance issued by the Gambling Commission.  It would bring the setting of 
licence fees under the Act in line with the Council’s position on setting hackney 
carriage and private hire licensing fees.  The Council’s Constitution will need to be 
amended to give effect to the proposed delegations.  No feedback was received on 
this matter during the formal consultation period.  

3.9 Following the consultation process, further consideration was given to the need for 
a formal Equality and Social Inclusion Impact Assessment (ESIIA).  Based on the 
position that the proposed policy is a revision of the statement of principles that was 
adopted on 1 June 2013 and continues to be in line with requirements of the Act 
and guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, together with the fact that the 
consultation feedback did not raise any equality or social inclusion issues, it has 
been concluded that the completion of a formal ESIIA is unnecessary.

4.  Financial Implications

4.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with the recommendation in 
this report; although prior to the policy statement formally taking effect, a cost will be 
incurred to place the required legal notice in the Shropshire Star newspaper in order 
to satisfy the requirement to advertise the fact that the policy statement has been 
published.  This cost, which will be incurred by Regulatory and Business Support 
Services, will be approximately £500 and is recoverable over subsequent years 
through the licensing fee process.

5.  Background

5.1 Under the Gambling Act 2005, the Council is the licensing authority and is 
responsible for licensing and overseeing local gambling establishments.  Part of 
this responsibility is the duty to prepare and publish a statement of the principles 
(policy statement) that the Council proposes to apply in exercising its functions 
under the Act.  

5.2 The Council’s current Gambling Policy Statement came into effect on the 1 June 
2013 and will cease to have effect on the 31 May 2016.  The Council must be in a 
position to formally adopt a revised policy statement with effect from 1 June 2016.  
The aim, however, is to bring the adoption date forward to the 1 April 2016; the 
timetable to undertake the necessary legal process has been set accordingly.

5.3 There are legally prescribed procedures that the Council must follow before the 
policy statement can take effect.  This involves making the statement publicly 
available by a variety of means for at least 4 weeks and by advertising that it has 
been published.   

5.4 The policy statement must be adopted by full Council; for this reason the proposed 
policy statement will proceed from Strategic Licensing Committee directly to full 
Council.  The proposed statement must be presented to Council no later than the 
10 February 2016, to allow sufficient time for the necessary publication and 
advertising to take place prior to the 1 April 2016.  



Strategic Licensing Committee – 6th January 2016 – Agenda Item 7

5.5 The council has taken the opportunity to significantly revise the format and content 
of the policy to reflect the latest guidance issued to licensing authorities by the 
Gambling Commission, to provide greater practical clarity to existing and potential 
licence holders and to assist council officers to correctly apply the legal provisions 
of the Gambling Act 2005.  Further details are set out in Appendix 2 under the 
heading ‘What does the revised policy seek to achieve?’  In addition, it clarifies and 
amends committee and officer delegations (see Appendix D of the policy 
statement).

5.6 The formal consultation was publicised through the ‘Get Involved’ pages of the 
Council’s website; a copy of the details is set out at Appendix 2.  In addition, direct 
emails, providing a link to the Council’s web page consultation, were sent to key 
stakeholders.  Part 5 of the policy statement includes a list of the stakeholders that 
were consulted.  

5.7 As part of the consultation, five specific questions were asked as set out in 
Appendix 2 under the heading ‘On what does the council particularly want to 
receive feedback?’  There was only one response that specifically addressed these 
questions, although a number of representations made reference to some of the 
issues raised.  Specifically, the opportunity was taken to ask whether the Council 
ought to have a ‘no casino policy’ (as permitted by Section 166 (1) of the Act) and if 
so why.  The one consultee who responded directly to this question supported such 
a policy but with no substantive reasons.  As a result, there were insufficient 
representations on this matter to enable the Council to consider introducing such a 
policy.

5.8 The Gambling Act does single out children and vulnerable people for special 
regulatory attention and the proposed policy statement does focus on protecting 
these particular groups.  However, in relation to gambling activities, the question as 
to who is vulnerable, why and under what circumstances, has been subject to little 
investigation.  The Local Government Association is currently supporting research, 
being led by Westminster and Manchester councils, that aims to assess and map 
area vulnerability to gambling related harm.  As and when the outcomes of this 
research are made available, together with other emerging information, trends and 
risks, the Council will have to consider the implications for both its ‘local area profile’ 
and policy statement accordingly. 

6.  Additional Information

6.1 Unless there are specific reasons for an earlier review and publication of a revised 
policy statement, the Council will be required to undertake the next consultation 
process under the Act in the latter part of 2018 with the aim of a revised policy 
statement being effective from an agreed date in 2019.  

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)

The Gambling Act 2005 (2005 Chapter 19), as amended

The Gambling Act 2005 (Licensing Authority Policy Statement) (England and Wales) 



Strategic Licensing Committee – 6th January 2016 – Agenda Item 7

Regulations 2006 (SI 2006 No. 636)

Shropshire Council’s Gambling Policy Statement (effective 1 June 2013) 
(https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/media/1552618/Gambling-Policy-2013-2016.pdf) 

Guidance to Licensing Authorities 5th Edition September 2015 published by the 
Gambling Commission (http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/GLA/GLA.pdf)

Gambling Regulation Councillor Handbook (England and Wales) June 2015 
published by the Local Government Association 
(http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/L15-
230+Councillor+handbook+-+gambling+regulation+FINAL.pdf/3e8fafb9-493b-4027-
a7c8-0feb89b8e209) 

Problem Gambling Frequently Asked Questions August 2013 published by the Local 
Government Association in association with Public Health England 
(http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11463/Problem+gambling+-
+frequently+asked+questions+-+briefing+for+councillors/21f6fef7-8d62-4edd-a535-
a42244d4e50f)

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor Malcolm Price – Portfolio Holder for Regulatory Services, Housing and 
Commissioning (Central)

Local Member
Not applicable

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Proposed Gambling Act 2005 Policy Statement 2016 - 2019

Appendix 2 - ‘Get involved’ website consultation details

Appendix 3 - Representations received

Appendix 4 - Officer response to representations received

https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/media/1552618/Gambling-Policy-2013-2016.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/GLA/GLA.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/L15-230+Councillor+handbook+-+gambling+regulation+FINAL.pdf/3e8fafb9-493b-4027-a7c8-0feb89b8e209
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/L15-230+Councillor+handbook+-+gambling+regulation+FINAL.pdf/3e8fafb9-493b-4027-a7c8-0feb89b8e209
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/L15-230+Councillor+handbook+-+gambling+regulation+FINAL.pdf/3e8fafb9-493b-4027-a7c8-0feb89b8e209
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/L15-230+Councillor+handbook+-+gambling+regulation+FINAL.pdf/3e8fafb9-493b-4027-a7c8-0feb89b8e209
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/6869714/L15-230+Councillor+handbook+-+gambling+regulation+FINAL.pdf/3e8fafb9-493b-4027-a7c8-0feb89b8e209
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11463/Problem+gambling+-+frequently+asked+questions+-+briefing+for+councillors/21f6fef7-8d62-4edd-a535-a42244d4e50f
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11463/Problem+gambling+-+frequently+asked+questions+-+briefing+for+councillors/21f6fef7-8d62-4edd-a535-a42244d4e50f
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11463/Problem+gambling+-+frequently+asked+questions+-+briefing+for+councillors/21f6fef7-8d62-4edd-a535-a42244d4e50f
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11463/Problem+gambling+-+frequently+asked+questions+-+briefing+for+councillors/21f6fef7-8d62-4edd-a535-a42244d4e50f




APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

1 

 

DRAFT 

Gambling 

Policy 

Statement 

2016 to 2019 
 

 

 

 

Date policy adopted: 

Policy adopted by: Full Council  

Date policy formally published: 

Date policy implemented:  

Next review period: July 2018 – February 2019 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

2 

 

Executive Summary 
 

The Policy is divided into six parts with five supporting appendices.   
 
Part 1 
 
Under Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005, Shropshire Council is required to 
prepare a statement of principles that it proposes to apply in relation to its regulatory 
responsibilities in relation to gambling.  This legal duty is fulfilled through this 
Gambling Policy Statement (‘the Policy’). 

 

The Policy sets out the regulatory and policy framework within which the Council will 
operate.  It describes the geographical area to which the Policy relates and includes 
a local area profile that maps areas of concern, including actual and emerging risks.  
The local area profile will need to be reviewed and updated on a regular basis to 
reflect changes to the local landscape and environment.  The Council’s position 
concerning, consultation and communication and the process for reviewing the 
Policy are also set out. 

 

The Policy makes it clear that the Council will proactively promote the three 
Gambling Act 2005 licensing objectives, namely: 

 

• preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime; 

• ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and  

• protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. 

 

These objectives underpin the functions that the Council perform.  The Council will 
also aim to permit the use of premises for gambling providing that it is consistent with 
these licensing objectives. 

 

The Policy describes the regulating bodies relevant to the licensing of gambling 
premises and activities and their primary responsibilities, together with the scope and 
purpose of the Policy.  In particular, the Policy is concerned with the 
licensing/permitting of and regulatory controls associated with betting shops, bingo 
halls, adult gaming centres, family entertainment centres, casinos, tracks, alcohol 
licenced premises and clubs (members’ clubs, miners’ welfare institutes and 
commercial clubs) that have gaming (‘fruit’ machines), prize gaming and small 
society lotteries.   

 

The Policy acts as the primary vehicle for setting out the Council’s approach to 
gambling regulation having taken into account public interest, local circumstances, 
issues, data, risk and the expectations that the Council has of operators who either 
currently offer gambling facilities or may do so in the future.  This provides greater 
scope for the Council to work in partnership with operators and other local 
businesses, communities and responsible authorities to identify and proactively 
mitigate local risks to the licensing objectives.  The Policy also provides guidance to 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

3 

 

interested parties; in particular, with regard to the fundamental principles that the 
Council is particularly minded to ensure are covered.    
 
The fundamental purpose of the Policy is to reduce the harm and exploitation that is 
caused by problem gambling; in particular, to safeguard children, young persons and 
vulnerable adults, and to reduce crime and disorder associated with gambling, whilst 
simultaneously recognising the contribution that responsible gambling brings to 
supporting local businesses and the growth and prosperity of Shropshire’s economy.  
The Policy sets out the type of people that the Council considers are likely to be 
vulnerable.     
 

The Policy also sets out the Council’s position with respect to the application of 
licensing conditions and the code of practice requirements that flow from the 
Gambling Act 2005 provisions.  Specific reference is made to the matters that will be 
considered when dealing with applications for self-service betting terminals (SSBT).  
It is also made clear when the Council cannot attach conditions to a premises 
licence.  With respect to the codes of practice requirements, the Policy sets out the 
Council’s expectations, particularly with regard to the ‘ordinary provisions’ and the 
requirement for future and existing licensees to assess local risks to the licensing 
objectives and to have policies, procedures and control measures in place to 
mitigate these risks. 

 

Part 2 
 
The second part of the Policy focusses on the functions that the Council undertakes 
and the principles the Council will follow when administering applications, reviewing 
conditions and setting fees.  Overarching principles, together with specific principles 
relating to each of the licensing objectives are set out.  The Council expects 
compliance with these principles to assist applicants and licence holders to meet the 
statutory licensing objectives when undertaking gambling activities that are regulated 
by the Council.  This part also explains the roles and duties of the Strategic 
Licensing Committee, the Licensing Act Sub-Committee and officers of the Council.  
The Council’s powers and decision making processes are clearly set out, together 
with details relating to rights of appeal and the review of premises licences, including 
the making of representations. 
 
Responsible authorities are listed, together with their roles and responsibilities.  It is 
also made clear that the Council has designated the Shropshire Safeguarding 
Children Board as the body competent to advise about the protection of children 
from harm and by doing so confirms that this body is also a designated responsible 
authority under the Gambling Act 2005.  The Council also sets out the parameters it 
considers relevant when determining who is an ‘interested party’ under Section 158 
of the Act. 

 

The second part of the Policy also sets out the principles that the Council will apply 
in relation to the exchange of information with the Gambling Commission, other 
enforcement and government persons/bodies, other organisations and operators.  
Also included is the Council’s position with respect to the disclosure of information 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and with respect to the confidentiality of 
anyone making representations as part of the licensing and/or review process. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

4 

 

 

The final elements of this part confirm the Council’s commitment to partnership 
working and the position with respect to the setting of fees. 

 

Part 3 

 

The third part of the Policy focusses on the specific activities that are subject to 
authorisations and sets out how applicants obtain and hold a licence, permit or 
registration and, where relevant, how they provide notifications.  These steps will 
include the standards that applicants must attain and the conditions that apply.  
 
There are a number of general principles that apply to all licence types, together with 
guidance on the meaning of ‘premises’ and the principles that the Council will apply 
in relation to the meaning of premises.  In addition, the Policy sets out the 
circumstances where it will consider the suitability of the applicant and where a 
criminal records disclosure is, therefore, required. 
 
This part of the Policy confirms that the Council has not passed a resolution not to 
issue a casino premises licence.  It then sets out, in relation to each 
licence/permit/notice/registration type (as appropriate and where relevant), the 
following matters: 
 

• description of the licence/permit 

• principles that will be applied by the Council 

• period of the licence/permit 

• application or notification process (new and renewal) 

• objection process 

• conditions 

• right of appeal 

• processes relating to changes to permits, including variations, transfer, lost, 
stolen or damaged 

• returns to the Council 

• annual fee (renewal) 

• decisions of the Council 
 
The final element of this part of the Policy sets out those activities that do not require 
specific permissions. 
 
Part 4 
 
This part of the Policy addresses inspection, compliance, enforcement and 
complaints; in particular, the principles that will be applied when the Council carries 
out the inspection of premises and when it institutes criminal proceedings in respect 
of specified offences under the Act.  Within this part, the Council addresses test 
purchasing and age verification and the publication of information relating to the 
Council’s regulatory function.  
 
 
 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

5 

 

Part 5 
 
This part provides a summary of the consultation process that was undertaken prior 
to the Policy taking effect, together with a list of the consultees. 
 
Part 6 
 
This part sets out the contact details for information, advice and guidance relating to 
the Policy and the licensing and permitting of gambling premises and activities.  It 
provides a link to the relevant website pages for information and the contact details 
in respect of licence fee payments via the telephone and online. 
 
Appendices 
 
The appendices include a map of the geographical area to which the Policy applies; 
the Council’s local area profile; further information concerning child sexual 
exploitation and trafficking of children and young people; an extract from the 
Council’s constitution setting out the delegations; and the criteria that the Council will 
apply in respect of assessing the suitability of an applicant.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

6 

 

CONTENTS 

[Page numbering to be inserted following Strategic Licensing Committee decision.] 

 

Policy 

 

Part 1   Introduction 

Part 2   Licensing Principles, Process and Delegation 

Part 3   Activities Subject to Authorisations 

Part 3A Premises Licences 

Part 3B Permits 

Part 3C Temporary and Occasional Use 

Part 3D Lotteries 

Part 3E Activities not requiring permissions 

Part 4   Inspection, Compliance, Enforcement and Complaints 

Part 5   Consultation 

Part 6   Licensing Contacts 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix A Map of geographical area of the administrative area of Shropshire 

Council 

Appendix B Local Area Profile 

Appendix C  Child Sexual Exploitation & Trafficking of Children and Young People 

Appendix D Extract from the Shropshire Council Constitution setting out 

Delegations 

Appendix E Criminal Record Disclosure 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

7 

 

 

 

 

PART 1 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

8 

 

PART 1 – INTRODUCTION  
 

1.0 Background 
 
1.1 Under Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 (‘the Act’), licensing authorities 

are required to prepare a statement of principles that they propose to apply in 
relation to their regulatory responsibilities in relation to gambling.  Shropshire 
Council (‘the Council’) is the Licensing Authority for the county of Shropshire 
(excluding the area that is the responsibility of Telford & Wrekin Council) and 
is fulfilling its legal duty to prepare a statement of principles through this 
Gambling Policy Statement (‘the Policy’). 

 
1.2 The Council is required to publish the Policy at least every three years.  It will 

also review the Policy from time to time and revise it when appropriate to do 
so.  Any amendments to the Policy must be the subject of further consultation 
and the Policy, or relevant parts of the Policy, must then be re-published. 

 
2.0 County area 
 

Geographical profile 
 
2.1 The geographical area to which this Policy applies is the administrative area 

of Shropshire Council as outlined in the map produced at Appendix A.    
 
2.2 Shropshire is a diverse, predominantly rural, inland county, situated on the far 

western edge of the West Midlands region.  Shropshire borders Wales to the 
East, Telford and Wrekin and Staffordshire to the North West, Worcestershire 
and Herefordshire to the South and Cheshire to the North.   

 
2.3 The population of Shropshire is 310,100 and has only 0.97 persons per 

hectare (319,730.32 hectares) or 251.21 persons per square mile (1234.49 
square miles), compared to a national figure of 4.17 persons per hectare 
(13,027,843 hectares) or 1,079.8 persons per square mile (50,300.76 square 
miles).  The County is one of the most sparsely populated local authorities in 
the country, with approximately 540 settlements widely dispersed and only 
five settlements have a population of over 10,000 (Shrewsbury, Oswestry, 
Ludlow, Bridgnorth and Market Drayton.) 

 
2.4 The population of Shropshire continues to grow and is projected to rise to 

334,700 by 2035 (an 8.6% rise 2012-2035).  The number of households is 
projected to rise to 152,500 by 2035 (a 16% rise 2012-2035).  The Shropshire 
Core Strategy 2011 has planned for 25,700 new homes in Shropshire 
between 2006 and 2026. 

 
 
 
 
 

Local area profile 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

9 

 

 

2.5 The Council has undertaken a preliminary assessment of the local 
environment as a means of ‘mapping out’ local areas of concern, including 
actual and future emerging risks.  The outcome of this assessment is 
produced at Appendix B.   

 
2.6 It is recognised that this will need to be reviewed and updated on a regular 

basis to reflect changes to the local landscape and environment, particularly 
as the process to undertake the assessment and the techniques by which it 
can be made more effective are more fully understood by the Council.  Formal 
consultation will be undertaken where changes to the profile are likely to have 
a significant impact on stakeholders and the areas of concern and risks 
associated with the local area; otherwise changes will be highlighted on an 
ongoing basis on the Council’s website.  The risks identified in the local area 
profile will be evidence (not perception) based.     

 
2.7 The profile takes account of a range of factors, data and information held by 

the Council and a wide range of partners and has been brought together 
through proactive engagement with both responsible authorities and other 
relevant organisations.   

 
2.8 The profile aims to increase awareness of local risks and improve information 

sharing in order to facilitate constructive engagement with licensees and a 
more coordinated response to local risks.  The Council encourages operators 
to use the local area profile to help inform them of specific risks that need to 
be considered in local risk assessments prior to submitting any new or 
variation to a premises licence application. 

 
2.9 The profile aims to:  
 

• enable the Council to better serve the Shropshire community by more 
accurately reflecting the community and the risks within it;  

• provide greater clarity for gambling premises operators as to the relevant 
factors in the Council’s decision making process;  

• improve premises licence applications as operators will be able to incorporate 
necessary controls and measures to mitigate relevant risks in their 
applications;  

• enable licensing authorities to make robust but fair decisions, based on a 
clear, published set of factors and risks, which are therefore less susceptible 
to challenge; and  

• encourage a proactive approach to risk that is likely to result in an increase in 
compliance and a reduction in enforcement action.  

 

3.0 Consultation and communication 
 
3.1 In determining the Policy the Council has consulted widely as set out in Part 5 

of this Policy.   
 
3.2 In order to deliver a transparent, accountable and efficient licensing service 

the Council is committed to proactive engagement, ongoing communicating 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

10 

 

and consultation with all stakeholders, specifically including local operators.  
The Council wants to facilitate an open and constructive partnership with all 
stakeholders in order to improve compliance and reduce regulatory costs.   

 
3.3 In particular, the Council welcomes the opportunity to communicate and 

consult with representatives of the gambling trade to enable and encourage 
the exchange of views and information in relation to the Policy, to mitigate 
risks to the licensing objectives, to ensure conditions are relevant, 
proportionate and necessary, to ensure changes in the law are widely 
communicated and understood and the need for licence reviews are reduced 
to a minimum.  The specific methods to achieve this communication and 
consultation will be determined as required. 

 
4.0 Gambling Act 2005 
 
4.1 The Act consolidated and updated previous gambling legislation and created 

a framework for three different types of gambling: gaming, betting and 
lotteries.  The Act contains the regulatory system that governs the provision of 
all gambling in Great Britain, other than the National Lottery and spread 
betting.   

 
4.2 It contains three licensing objectives which underpin the functions that the 

Gambling Commission (‘the Commission’) and licensing authorities will 
perform.  These objectives are central to the Act and are: 

 

• preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime; 

• ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and  

• protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. 

 
4.3  The Council will proactively promote these licensing objectives through the 

adoption, implementation and enforcement of this Policy.  The Council, in 
accordance with Section 153 of the Act, will also aim to permit the use of 
premises for gambling providing that it is consistent with the licensing 
objectives.   

 
5.0 Regulating bodies 
 

Lead Government Department 
 
5.1 The Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) is the lead government 

department for gambling issues.  The government wants to ensure that the 
gambling industry is run responsibly so that it provides a safe and enjoyable 
leisure activity and continues to be an important source of revenue and jobs. It 
wants to keep gambling crime-free, make sure that gambling is fair and open 
and protect children and vulnerable adults. 

 
 
 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

11 

 

Gambling Commission  
 
5.2 The Commission is an independent non-departmental public body and has is 

the main advisory body to national and local government on gambling.  It is 
sponsored by the DCMS and the Chair of the Commission is appointed by the 
Culture Secretary.  It is the unified regulator for gambling in Great Britain and 
is responsible for regulating gambling in accordance with the Act.  

 
5.3 The Commission has responsibility for granting operating and personal 

licences for commercial gambling operators and personnel working in the 
industry. It also regulates certain lottery managers and promoters.  To help 
fulfil its role, the Commission issues codes of practice for the gambling 
industry about the manner in which gambling facilities should be provided and 
guidance to licensing authorities on how to implement their responsibilities 
under the Act.   

 
5.4 The Commission is required to aim to permit gambling, providing that it is 

consistent with the licensing objectives.   
 
5.5 For further information about the Gambling Commission refer to the website 

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Home.aspx  
 

Licensing Authorities 
 
5.6 The Council is, by definition, the Licensing Authority for the purposes of the 

Act for the administrative area of Shropshire Council.  Licensing authorities 
play a vital role and are key partners in gambling regulation, with a 
responsibility for overseeing gambling that takes place in gambling premises 
(non-remote gambling) in their local areas.  This involves: 

 

• setting the local framework for gambling through their statement of principles;  

• considering applications and issuing licences for premises where gambling 
takes place, with conditions where appropriate;  

• reviewing or revoking premises licences;  

• issuing permits for some forms of gambling; and 

• undertaking inspection and enforcement activities, including tackling illegal 
gambling. 

 
5.7 Licensing authorities license gambling premises within their area, as well as 

undertaking functions in relation to lower stake gaming machines in clubs and 
miners’ welfare institutes.  

 
5.8 In addition, local authorities deal with the system of temporary and occasional 

use notices.  These notices authorise premises that are not generally licensed 
for gambling purposes to be used for certain types of gambling for limited 
periods. 

 
5.9 Licensing authorities do not have any regulatory responsibilities in relation to 

remote gambling, i.e. gambling that is typically undertaken by phone or online; 
this is the responsibility of the Commission. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

12 

 

6.0 Scope  
 
6.1 This Policy supersedes all previous Council policies relating to gambling. 
 
6.2 The Policy forms the Council’s mandate for managing local gambling 

provision and sets out how the Council views the local risk environment and 
therefore its expectations in relation to operators with premises in the 
administrative area of Shropshire Council.   

 
6.3 In particular, the Policy is concerned with the licensing/permitting of and 

regulatory controls associated with betting shops, bingo halls, adult gaming 
centres, family entertainment centres, casinos, tracks1, alcohol licenced 
premises and clubs (members’ clubs, miners’ welfare institutes and 
commercial clubs) that have gaming (‘fruit’ machines), prize gaming and small 
society lotteries.   

 
6.4 The Policy does not override the right of any person to make an application 

and to have that application considered on its own merits.  In addition, it does 
not undermine the right of any person to make representations on an 
application or to seek a review of the licence where a legal provision is made 
for them to do so. 

 
6.5 The Policy does NOT attempt to explain all the requirements of the Act for 

each type of gambling premises and the associated gambling activities.  The 
requirements of the Act are detailed and complex; consequently, to ensure 
the provisions are fully understood, potential applicants and existing 
licence/permit holders are strongly encouraged, with respect to the type of 
premises and activity being considered to: 

 

• make themselves familiar with the relevant provisions of the Act, regulations 
and orders; 

• consult the guidance available on the Commission’s website; 

• seek advice from appropriate legal experts; and 

• discuss specific requirements with the Council’s licensing team.  
 
6.6 The Policy is not a stand-alone document and must be read in conjunction 

with relevant legislation, codes of practice and guidance.  Whilst the Policy 
sets out the Council’s position with respect to the Gambling Act 2005, the 
legal interpretation and application of the Act is ultimately a matter for the 
Courts.   

 
7.0 Purpose 
 
7.1 The Policy acts as the primary vehicle for setting out the Council’s approach 

to gambling regulation having taken into account public interest, local 
circumstances, issues, data, risk and the expectations that the Council has of 

                                                           
1 Examples of tracks include: horse racecourses, greyhound tracks, point-to-point horserace meeting, football, cricket 
and rugby grounds, athletics stadium, golf course,venues hosting darts, bowls, or snooker tournaments, premises 
staging boxing matches, section of river hosting a fishing competition, motor racing events.  

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

13 

 

operators who either currently offer gambling facilities or may do so in the 
future.  This provides greater scope for the Council to work in partnership with 
operators and other local businesses, communities and responsible 
authorities to identify and proactively mitigate local risks to the licensing 
objectives.  

 
7.2 The fundamental purpose of the Policy is to reduce the harm and exploitation 

that is caused by problem gambling; in particular, to safeguard children, 
young persons and vulnerable adults, and to reduce crime and disorder 
associated with gambling, whilst simultaneously recognising the contribution 
that responsible gambling2 brings to supporting local businesses and the 
growth and prosperity of Shropshire’s economy.  

 
7.3 For the purposes of this Policy, the Council considers that vulnerable 

persons3 include people who gamble more than they want to, people who 
gamble beyond their means and people who may not be able to make 
informed or balanced decisions about gambling. ,The Act makes it clear, 
through the third licensing objective that children are vulnerable and there is 
an expectation that steps will be taken to prevent them from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.  However, this objective also refers to ‘other vulnerable 
persons’ and whilst the Act does not define ‘vulnerable person’ the Council 
considers that these may include including, but is not limited to: 

 

• children 

• young persons including students 

• homeless persons 

• persons who are affected by mental health, learning disabilities/difficulties, 
social isolation and constrained social and economic circumstances 

• low educational attainment  

• persons who are affected by substance misuse relating to alcohol or drugs 

• first generation immigrants 

• persons from minority ethnic groups  

• persons who are affected by multiple deprivation  

•  ex-service forces personnel 

• offenders 

• itinerant groups 
 
7.4 The Policy provides guidance to any person with an interest in the licensing 

and permitting of gambling activities; in particular, but not restricted to: 
 

• persons who wish to apply for gambling licences and permits; 

• persons who hold existing licences and permits, including those that are the 
subject of review; 

• the Council, in its capacity as the licensing authority, including licensing 
officers and members of the relevant licensing committees;  

                                                           
2 Responsible gambling occurs where operators provide socially responsible gambling products and players are able to control 
their play. 
3 Exploring area-based vulnerability to gambling-related harm: Who is vulnerable?  Findings from a quick scoping review  

Heather Wardle, Gambling and Place Research Hub 13th July 2015 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

14 

 

• the Gambling Commission; 

• licensing consultants, solicitors and barristers advising and/or representing 
applicants and licence/permit holders; and 

• magistrates and judges hearing appeals against Council decisions. 
 

7.5  The Council is committed to the licensing objectives set out in the Act and is 
particularly concerned to ensure: 

 

• that the action to promote the welfare of children and to protect them from 
harm is everyone’s responsibility, in particular, prospective and existing 
proprietors of gambling premises who will have dealings with children and 
families have a duty to report matters of concern that could relate to the safety 
of children, young persons and vulnerable adults to the relevant authorities 
(refer to Appendix C for further information);  

• that the public are safeguarded from dishonest persons;  

• that gambling premises and associated gambling activities are lawful;    

• that premises used for gambling activities are safe and fit for the purpose for 
which they are licensed;  

• that gambling activities do not lead to crime and disorder; 

• where the Council has responsibility for determining the suitability of the 
applicant that they are a fit and proper person to hold the relevant gambling 
permit; and 

• that regulation is not aimed at preventing legitimate gambling.  
 

7.6 The Council will aim to ensure that its regulatory approach imposes the 
minimum burden necessary to promote the licensing objectives in the Act, 
having regard to its impact on different types and sizes of licence/permit 
applicant and licence/permit holder, and does not unduly hinder economic 
progress. 

 
8.0 Review of the Policy 
 
8.1 The Policy will be prepared and published every three years.  However, it will 

be the subject of continuous evaluation and from time to time reviewed and, 
where necessary, revised and published before any revision is given effect.  
At the time of review all relevant stakeholders will again be consulted.  Any 
gambling trade representative may request a review of the policy at any time. 

 
8.2 Currently the Policy does not fully address the licensing requirements for 

casinos on the basis that no such applications have, to date, been received by 
the Council.  At such time as an application to licence a casino is received, 
the Council will work with the applicant to manage the application and the 
Policy will subsequently be reviewed to address the relevant casino licensing 
requirements. 

 
8.3 The Council has not resolved not to issue casino premises licences under 

Section 166 of the Act, but it is aware that it has the power to do so.  Should 
the Council become aware of any evidence to suggest that such a resolution 
is required, the Council will consult and update this Policy accordingly.  



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

15 

 

9.0 Regulatory and policy framework 
 
9.1 The operation of the Council’s licensing service, as it relates to the licensing 

of gambling activities, is undertaken primarily in accordance with: 
 

• the Gambling Act 2005, as amended; 

• regulations and orders made under the Act; 

• guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to local authorities; and  

• the principles of better regulation, particularly as set out in the Regulators’ 
Code (BRDO 14/705 April 2014)4.  

 
9.2 In addition, the service is provided in accordance with all relevant Council 

policies, duties and responsibilities; in particular, those relating to: 
 

• Protection of children, young persons and vulnerable adults 

• Better regulation and enforcement  

• Access to information  

• Public sector equality duty 

• Human rights5  
 

9.3 So far as is reasonable practicable the Council will avoid duplication with 
other regulatory regimes.  In particular, the Policy and associated conditions 
do not address health and safety at work, fire safety or planning requirements.  
Gambling trade representatives are required to ensure all relevant provisions 
are satisfied in these respects.   

 
10.0 Licensing conditions and codes of practice requirements 
 
 Conditions and authorisations by virtue of the Act 
 
10.1 There are specific sections of the Act that provide for conditions to be 

attached automatically to premises licences and for authorisations to be 
granted automatically in relation to: 

 

• number of gaming machines 

• betting on virtual events 

• gambling in addition to casino games 

• access by children and young persons 

• giving of credit 

• door supervision 

• pool betting 

• Christmas day 
 

                                                           
4 Regulators’ Code (previously the Regulators’ Compliance Code), Department of Business, Innovation and Skills, 
2014, issued under section 23 of the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006.  
5 Human Rights Act 1998, in particular, Article 1, Protocol 1 – peaceful enjoyment of possessions (a licence is 
considered a possession in law and people should not be deprived of their possessions except in the public interest); 
Article 6 – right to a fair hearing; Article 8 – respect for private and family life (in particular, removal or restriction of a 
licence may affect a person’s private life); Article 10 – right to freedom of expression.  

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

16 

 

10.2 The Secretary of State may make regulations requiring these conditions to be 
set out on the premises licence.  The Council has no discretion to decide not 
to include them or to modify them.  The table below summarises which 
sections of the Act apply to which types of premises licences (excluding 
casinos) and applicants/licencees are encouraged to make themselves 
familiar with the requirements of the relevant sections in relation to the 
particular type of premises and activity for which they are responsible. 

 

Premises Licence Type 
Section of Gambling Act 2005 

S.172 S.173 S.177 S.178 S.179 S.182 S.183 

All  X   X   X 

Bingo   X     

Betting  X      

Betting in respect of a track     X X  

 
 Licensing conditions 
 
10.3 The Act sets out mandatory conditions and default conditions and also 

permits the Council to attach further conditions or exclude any default 
condition.   

 
10.4 The Council will clearly apply the mandatory conditions in all relevant 

circumstances. 
 
10.5 Where there are regulatory concerns of an exceptional nature the Council 

may impose additional individual conditions in relation to matters that are 
already dealt with by mandatory conditions; however, these will relate to the 
licensing objectives. 

 
10.6 The Council will apply the default conditions unless the Council is aware of, or 

made aware by a third party, of circumstances that indicate such conditions 
would be inappropriate or the applicant can demonstrate to the satisfaction of 
the Council why the conditions ought to be excluded.  Where the Council 
excludes a default condition it will generally replace this condition with an 
alternative condition that achieves the desired outcome.  Where the 
alternative condition is more restrictive than the excluded condition the 
Council will ensure that it sets out the regulatory reasons for doing so.    

 
10.7 The Council may also apply further conditions.  Conditions on premises 

licences will only be applied where there is evidence of a risk to the licensing 
objectives that requires the mandatory and default conditions to be 
supplemented y relate to gambling and as considered appropriate in light of 
the overarching principles to be applied by the Council.  Where the 
Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) or other 
legislation places particular responsibilities or restrictions on an applicant or 
licence/permit holder, the Council will not impose the same responsibilities or 
restrictions through conditions on a premises licence.   

 
10.8 Decisions on individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis and 

will only be applied where it is legally permissible, evidence based, 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

17 

 

proportionate and necessary to do so; in particular, but not limited to, ensuring 
that gambling trade representatives: 

 

• comply with the fundamental purpose of the Policy set out above; 

• provide only socially responsible gambling products; 

• take appropriate steps that are within their control to help players control their 
play; 

• take proactive steps to promote and achieve the three Gambling Act licensing 
objectives; and  

• comply with all relevant legislative requirements. 
 
10.9 In particular, the Council will ensure that premises licence conditions are: 
 

• relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling  
facility; 

• directly related to the premises (including the locality and any identified local  
risks) and the type of licence applied for; 

• fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and  

• reasonable, taking into account all the circumstances associated with the 
particular licence application or variation.  

 
10.10 The Council has considered the local area profile.  Given the current position 

demonstrated by the profile it considers it unnecessary at this time to include 
specific conditions in relation to premises licences.  Where specific risks 
associated with a particular locality emerge, the Council will consider the need 
for additional conditions on any premises licence.   

 
10.11 With respect to self-service betting terminals (SSBT), the Council has the 

power to restrict the number, their nature and the circumstances in which they 
are made available by attaching licence conditions to a betting premises 
licence.  When considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the 
number of SSBT in any particular premises, the Council amongst other things, 
will take into account the ability of employees to monitor the use of the 
machines by children and young persons or by vulnerable people, the size of 
the premises and the number of counter positions available for person-to-
person transactions. 

 
10.12 Where SSBT include the functionality to be marketed or presented in foreign 

languages, the Council will seek to ensure that the operator has considered 
the ordinary code provision about making the following information also 
available in those languages:   

 

• the information on how to gamble responsibly and access to help referred to 
in the LCCP;  

• the players’ guides to any game, bet or lottery required to be made available 
to customers under provisions in LCCP; and  

• the summary of the contractual terms on which gambling is offered, which is 
required to be provided to customers as a condition of the licensee’s 
operating licence.  



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

18 

 

10.13 The Council cannot and will not attach conditions to premises licences that   
 

• makes it impossible to comply with an operating licence condition 

• relate to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation 

• requires membership of a club or body  

• imposes conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes 
 

Codes of practice requirements 

10.14 The Gambling Commission issue codes of practice under Section 24 of the 

Gambling Act 2005.  Codes of practice include social responsibility 

provisions that must be adhered to by all licence/permit holders and 

ordinary provisions that are not compulsory but failure to take account of 

them can be used as evidence in criminal or civil proceedings. 

10.15 Clearly licence/permit holders must adhere to all social responsibility 
provisions in full.  In addition, the Council expects licence/permit holders to 
adhere to all ordinary provisions unless the Council is aware of, or made 
aware by a third party, of circumstances that indicate such provisions would 
be inappropriate or the applicant can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the 
Council why the provisions are not applicable or that they have satisfied the 
provisions by suitable alternative means that are equally effective and 
acceptable to the Council. 

 
10.16 Specific attention is drawn to the provision that now formalises the 

requirement (with effect from 6 April 2016) for future and existing licensees to 
assess (and also review and update as necessary) local risks to the licensing 
objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at each of their 
premises, and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate 
those risks.  In undertaking risk assessments, licensees must take into 
account relevant matters identified in this Policy.   

 
10.17 Licensees are also expected to share their risk assessments with the Council 

when applying for a premises licence or applying for a variation to existing 
licensed premises, or otherwise on request.  Under the code of practice, the 
requirement to share risk assessments with the Council is not mandatory; 
however, the Council will expect licensees to do this unless there are 
exceptional circumstances that are accepted by the Council and which would 
exempt a licensee from the requirement to share their risk assessment.        

 
 

Where to find licensing conditions and codes of practice requirements 
 
10.18 The relevant mandatory and default conditions can be found in the 

Gambling Act 2005 (Mandatory and Default Conditions) (England and 

Wales) Regulations 2007 (SI 2007 No 1409) and within the document 

entitled ‘Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice’ (LCCP) issued by 

the Gambling Commission. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

19 

 

10.19 The LCCP is not a static document and continues to evolve over time; 
however, at the time of writing this Policy, the current version of the LCCP 
was published in February 2015 (updated April 2015), with the majority of 
amendments effective from 8 May 2015.   

 
10.20 The LCCP document is available on the Gambling Commission’s website at 

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/Latest-LCCP-and-
Extracts/Licence-conditions-and-codes-of-practice.pdf.   

 
10.21 The Gambling Commission also provides sector specific extracts from the 

LCCP that are applicable to each type of licence.  These are available at 
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Publications-consultations/Sector-
specific-extracts-from-LCCP.aspx. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

20 

 

 

 

 

PART 2 

 

LICENSING 

PRINCIPLES, 

PROCESS AND 

DELEGATION 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

21 

 

 
 
 

PART 2 – LICENSING PRINCIPLES, PROCESS AND DELEGATION 
 
11.0 Introduction 
 
11.1 This part of the Policy focusses on the functions that the Council undertakes 

and the principles the Council will follow when administering applications, 
reviewing conditions and setting fees.  The Council expects compliance with 
these principles to assist applicants and licence holders to meet the statutory 
licensing objectives when undertaking gambling activities that are regulated 
by the Council.   

 
11.2 This part also explains the roles and duties of the Strategic Licensing 

Committee, the Licensing Act Sub-Committee and officers of the Council.   
 
12.0 Council licensing functions  
 
12.1 The Council seeks to ensure that gambling facilities are suitable and that 

gambling activities are conducted in such a matter to minimise the risks to the 
licensing objectives.  The specific regulatory functions of the Council, 
including the activities that the Council is able to licence, as it relates to the 
licensing of gambling establishments and activities for which it has 
responsibility are:  

 

• licensing premises where gambling activities take place by issuing premises 
licences, including provisional statements 

• regulating gaming and gaming machines in members’ clubs and miners’ 
welfare institutes by issuing club gaming permits and/or club machine permits 

• regulating gaming machines in commercial clubs by issuing club machine 
permits 

• granting permits to family entertainment centres for the use of certain lower 
stake gaming machines 

• regulating gaming and gaming machines on alcohol licensed premises by 
receiving notifications for the use of two or fewer gaming machines 

• regulating gaming machines on alcohol licensed premises by issuing gaming 
machine permits where there are more than two gaming machines 

• granting permits for prize gaming 

• registering societies to allow them to hold small society lotteries;  

• receiving and endorsing temporary use notices  

• receiving occasional use notices  

• providing information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of 
licences/permits issued (see information exchange) 

• maintaining registers of the licences and permits issued 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

22 

 

• setting and collecting licence/permit fees 

• inspection, compliance and enforcement locally in relation to licences, permits 
and permissions issued under the above functions 

 
12.2 With respect to premises licences and permits, the Council also has the 

regulatory responsibility for dealing with variations, change of circumstances, 
transfers, reinstatements and producing copies of lost, stolen or damaged 
licences in accordance with specific regulatory provisions that relate to each 
licence or permit type.   

 
12.3 The Council does not license operators of gambling establishments or 

individuals who work in the gambling industry.  It also does not regulate the 
National Lottery.  These licences are the responsibility of the Gambling 
Commission.  A person considering becoming involved in the provision of 
gambling establishments and/or activities must ensure they have the 
appropriate operator and personal licences in place (or confirmation that such 
licences are not required) prior to approaching the Council for a premises 
licence and/or permit.    

 
13.0 Overarching licensing principles 
 
13.1 The Council aims to provide a clear, consistent and responsive service to 

prospective and current licence/permit holders, members of the public and 
other relevant stakeholders.   

 
13.2 The Council will seek to build and maintain good liaison and working 

relationships with the Commission, other regulators and law enforcement 
bodies, including sharing relevant information and, where appropriate, 
investigating offences.  

 

13.3 In accordance with Section 1536 of the Act, the Council will aim to permit the 
use of premises for gambling, i.e. it will seek to regulate gambling by using 
powers to moderate the impact on the licensing objectives rather than by 
starting out to prevent gambling altogether, providing it is: 

  

• in accordance with the relevant code of practice issued by the Commission 
under Section 24 of the Act;  

• in accordance with any relevant guidance issued to local authorities by the 
Commission under Section 25 of the Act (Guidance to licensing authorities 5th 
Edition March 2015, which can be found at 
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/GLA5---March-2015.pdf; 

• reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 

• in accordance with this Policy. 
 

13.4 Whilst the Council will aim to permit the use of premises for gambling, as set 
out above, it will not grant a licence/permit/registration if it believes that to do 
so will mean taking a course of action that does not accord with any relevant 

                                                           
6 References are made throughout this Policy to Section 153 of the Gambling Act 2005.  In all cases, such references 
relate to the requirements set out in paragraph xxxx [insert ‘this’ para no]. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

23 

 

Commission code of practice or guidance, the licensing objectives or this 
Policy.  

 
13.5 When considering any application, the Council will grant the application 

subject to the mandatory and default conditions providing these are sufficient 
to ensure the gambling operation is consistent with the licensing objectives.  

 
13.5 When determining whether to grant a licence/permit, the Council will not have 

regard to the expected demand for the gambling facilities that it is proposed to 
provide or whether the application is to be permitted in accordance with law 
relating to planning permission, building regulations approval or building 
consent.  However, the Council, in terms of both the licensing and planning 
regimes, will consider carefully any conflict that may exist between licence 
conditions and planning/building regulation restrictions and will work with 
applicants and licence/permit holders to resolve such conflicts.     

 
13.6 The Council will be mindful of the needs of the applicant but this will be 

balanced against the clear duty that the Council has to take account of the 
over-riding principles set out in Section 153 of the Act and the Council’s desire 
to ensure the overall purpose of this Policy is delivered.   

 
13.7 In all cases, licence/permit applications will be considered and determined on 

their own individual merits. 
 
13.8 The Council will make general advice, relating to its functions under the Act, 

available through its website.  In addition, on request, the Council will provide 
specific advice about compliance to prospective and actual 
license/permit/registration holders and will, in partnership with the 
Commission, advise the public on what activities they may undertake without 
the need for specific permissions.  

 
13.9 The Council will employ staff with the necessary skills and knowledge and will 

delegate to them the necessary powers they need to carry out licensing, 
compliance and enforcement functions. 

 
13.10 In the event that the Council perceives a conflict between a provision of a 

Commission code of practice or guidance and this Policy or view as to the 
application of the licensing objectives, the Commission’s codes and guidance 
will take precedence. 

 
13.11 The Council will have regard to any other codes of practice or guidance that 

may from time to time be issued by the Gambling Commission and other 
relevant stakeholders. 

 
14.0 Principles adopted specifically in relation to the licensing objectives 
 
14.1 The general principles that the Council will apply when considering whether 

the licensing objectives are being met are set out below in relation to each of 
the objectives in turn.  As there will inevitably be overlap between the 
objectives, the Council will apply the principles widely and across all the 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

24 

 

objectives where this is appropriate to do so.  Applicants and 
licence/permit/registration holders will be expected to apply the same 
approach when considering the way in which the operation of their particular 
gambling activity will satisfy the licensing objectives. 

  
14.2 In particular, in relation to all three licensing objectives, the Council is likely to 

apply relevant conditions where these are determined by the Council’s local 
area profile.  In addition, it will also strongly expect operators to submit 
suggested conditions to mitigate risks based on their own risk assessments.  
Where operators fail to satisfy the Council that identified risks are sufficiently 
mitigated, the Council may conduct a review of the premises licence.  

 
15.0 Objective 1: Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, 

being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime  

 
15.1 The Council’s licensing, compliance and enforcement processes are designed 

to ensure that:  
 

• only appropriate premises are granted premises licences for gambling 
activities; 

• the appropriateness of premises licences to continue will be reconsidered in 
the light of any subsequent criminal and/or disorder activity or in connection 
with such activity;  

• where it is within the control of the Council, i.e. with respect to certain permits 
and registrations, only suitable applicants are granted and allowed to retain 
such permits and registrations;  

• compliance activity at licenced premises is targeted at those premises where 
there is the greatest risk of crime and disorder.  

 
15.2 Whilst each case will be considered on its merits, where it is the responsibility 

of the Council to assess the suitability of applicants, it is likely to refuse an 
application or review a licence where there is evidence of convictions for 
relevant offences.  Where such evidence is known to the Council and relates 
to persons who hold operator and personal licences, the Council will inform 
the Commission. 

 
15.3 Whilst it is recognised that there is no clear line between nuisance and 

disorder, the Council considers disorder as activity that is more serious and 
disruptive than nuisance.  The Council is more likely to consider disorder to be 
behaviour that others, who have seen and heard the disorder, feel threatened 
by and/or that requires police assistance. The Council cannot address 
concerns about nuisance under the Gambling Act.   

 
15.4 The Council has specifically considered the location of premises and the 

controls that are necessary to prevent premises being associated with or used 
to support crime.  In this respect, the Council has not, at this time, prohibited 
any specific areas where gambling premises may be located on the basis that 
there is no evidence to support such an approach.  If this position changes, 
the Council will update this Policy accordingly.  Nevertheless, the Council is 
likely to refuse an application for a premises licence if the premises is in an 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

25 

 

area associated with unacceptable levels of crime that are creating burdens 
for the police and other enforcement agencies where there is evidence that 
the crime is a risk to the licensing objectives.  However, whereunless the 
applicant can sufficiently demonstrate, by way of their risk assessment and 
proposed conditions and/or agree to the imposition of additional conditions 
proposed by the Council, how they would to ensure the premises would not 
further increase the current levels of crime, the Council is likely to grant an 
application. 

 
15.5 Where the Council determines it is necessary, the Council will give serious 

consideration to including a condition requiring door supervision to prevent 
disorder.  Any person employed on door supervision will be required to hold a 
licence issued by the Security Industry Authority (SIA) unless the persons 
carrying out the door supervision are in-house employees at casino and bingo 
premises.   

 
15.6 Where door supervision is being carried out by in-house employees at casino 

and bingo premises, the Council will expect a minimum of one supervisor for 
every 100 persons (or part thereof) to be in place.  This is to take account of 
the nature of the door supervisor role that such employees will have to 
undertake, including the difficult tasks of dealing with potentially aggressive 
customers and searching individuals for the presence of offensive weapons.   

 
15.7 The Council is aware of the concerns that exist in relation to fixed odds betting 

terminals (FOBT) and the potential links to criminal damage and disorder. The 
Council’s initial local area profile has not highlighted this as either an existing 
or emerging risk in local communities.  However, if this position changes, the 
Council will give due consideration to the need to apply conditions to betting 
shop premises licences including, but not limited to, recording and reporting 
all attacks on FOBT to the police and/or the Council. 

 
15.8 Where there are voluntary initiatives/schemes aimed at addressing issues 

such as underage access, staff safety and security, the Council will expect 
applicants and licence/permit holders to have, as a minimum, considered the 
value that such initiatives/schemes would bring to the licensed premises and, 
where appropriate, to subscribe and actively promote the initiatives and 
schemes, e.g. The Safe Bet Alliances Voluntary Code on Safety and Security 
National Standards for Bookmakers  

 
15.9 Where there are persistent or serious disorder problems or other evidence or 

information concerning criminality that causes the Council to question the 
suitability of an applicant, e.g. an operator is failing to act on the advice of 
officers of the Council to prevent crime and disorder occurring, the Council will 
bring this to the attention of the Commission without delay so that the 
Commission can consider the continuing suitability of the operator to hold an 
operating licence.  

 
15.10  The adoption of these principles also support the Council’s duty under Section 

17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, i.e. to exercise its functions with due 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

26 

 

regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need 
to do all it reasonably can, to prevent crime and disorder in Shropshire. 

 

 

 

 

 

16.0 Objective 2: Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way  
 
16.1 The Council is unlikely to deal with issues of fairness and openness on a 

frequent basis as these are likely to be matters for either the way specific 
gambling products are provided and, therefore, subject to the operating 
licence, or will be in relation to the suitability and actions of an individual and, 
therefore, subject to the personal licence.  These are matters for the 
Gambling Commission. 

 
16.2 However, where the Council suspects that gambling is not being conducted in 

a fair and open way the Council will bring this to the attention of the 
Commission so that it can consider the continuing suitability of the operator to 
hold an operating licence or of an individual to hold a personal licence.  

 

16.3 In relation to the licensing of tracks, the Council’s role is different from other 
licensed premises in that track owners will not necessarily have an operating 
licence.  In these circumstances, the Council is more likely to apply conditions 
to the premises licence to ensure that the environment in which betting takes 
place is suitable; in particular to ensure that: 

 

• rules are transparent to those who may wish to bet and that they know what to 
expect;  

• rules are fair;  

• easily understandable information about the rules is made available by licence 
holders to those who wish to bet, e.g. the rules are prominently displayed in or 
near to betting areas or distributed by other appropriate measures; and 

• the terms and conditions on which bets are made are clear. 
 

17.0 Objective 3: Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling  

 
17.1 The Council considers this objective to include preventing children and 

vulnerable persons from taking part in gambling as well as restricting 
advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at, or are made 
particularly attractive to, children and vulnerable persons.  Consequently, the 
Council is likely to reject an application or revoke an existing licence/permit 
where there is insufficient emphasis placed on7: 

                                                           
7 This list is not mandatory in its entirety but operators are expected to have considered these matters and made positive decisions on 

the need (or not) for specific actions.  The list is also not exhaustive; it provides indicative measures that operators ought to consider. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

27 

 

 

• explaining precisely what activity/activities the Council is being asked to 
authorise 

• explaining the way in which gambling facilities will be managed/operated, 
including relevant plans 

• determining the need for separate premises licences to ensure clarity of 
responsibilities 

• staff training 

• staff ability to adequately supervise entrances, whether directly or by CCTV or 
other means 

• staff ability to adequately supervise gaming machines in non-adult gambling 
specific premises, whether directly or by CCTV or other means 

• physical segregation of gambling and non-gambling areas frequented by 
children 

• physical segregation of adult gambling areas from those areas suitable for 
children 

• appropriate notices and signs for adult only areas 

• with respect to tracks, distinct entrances to each type of premises  

• excluding children from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter  

• the employment of door supervisors 

• verifying the age of customers 

• measures to deal with suspected truanting school children 

• the location of entry 

• the location of gaming machines and betting machines 

• specific opening hours 

• the provision of information to support vulnerable persons and problem 
gamblers, including helpline contacts for organisations that provide support 

• self-exclusion schemes, where customers ask operators to refuse to accept 
their custom 

 
17.2 This is particularly relevant to tracks that may be subject to one or more 

premises licences where each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  
The Council will work with operators to consider how any impediments to the 
supervision of premises might be most appropriately remedied.  

 
17.3 Where the Council considers the structure or layout of premises to be an 

inhibition or potential inhibition to satisfying this licensing objective, the 
Council will expect the licensee to consider what changes are required to 
ensure the risk is mitigated.  The Council will expect the licensee to consider 
the positioning of staff or CCTV, the use of floor-walkers and the relocation of 
the staff counter to enable direct line of sight.  The Council will not 
unnecessarily expect licensees to make changes to the physical layout but 
will consider the proportionality of this against other measures that could be 
put in place.  

 
17.4 Where category C or above gaming machines are on offer in any premises to 

which children are admitted (including buildings where multiple premises 
licences apply), the Council expects: 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

28 

 

• all such machines to be located in an area of the premises which is separated 
from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier that prevents access 
other than through a designated entrance; 

• only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located; 

• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

• the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be 
observed by staff or the licence holder; and 

• at the entrance to and inside any such area there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18. 

 
17.5 The Council has specifically considered the location of premises and the 

controls that are necessary to protect children and other vulnerable persons 
from being harmed or exploited.  In this respect, the Council has not 
prohibited any specific areas where gambling premises may be located on the 
basis that there is no evidence to support such an approach.  If this position 
changes the Council will update this policy accordingly.  Nevertheless; 
however, the Council is likely to refuse an application for a premises licence if 
it is located close to a mainstream school or a residential school for children 
with truanting problems or a hostel for vulnerable adults or a centre that 
provides support for problem gamblers where there is evidence that the 
proximity to such establishments is a risk to the licensing objectives.  
However, where unless the applicant can sufficiently demonstrate, by way of 
their risk assessment and proposed conditions and/or agree to the imposition 
of additional conditions proposed by the Council, tohow they would ensure the 
proximity would not undermine the licensing objectives, the Council is likely to 
grant an application.overcome the anticipated concerns. 

 
17.6 Where there is a need and/or requirement to ensure under 18 year olds do 

not access gambling premises or make use of adult gaming machines or 
under 16 year olds do not sell or purchase lottery tickets, the Council expects 
applicants and licence/permit holders to:  

 

• introduce a ‘Challenge 25 policy’ linked with effective ID challenges and proof 
of age schemes (the preferred policy is ‘Challenge 25’; however, it is 
recognised that the Gambling Commission’s Ordinary Code provisions 
requires staff to check the age of any customer who appears to be under 21)  

• use a ‘challenge log’ to record all age restriction challenges (where this 
information is recorded for either the Gambling Commission or any other party 
this record will satisfy this requirement) 

• ensure a system is in place to ensure that the circumstances in which a 
customer may or may not be permitted access is understood and consistently 
applied 

• have a mechanism in place to inform customers of the law and 
policies/procedures that are in operation at the premises 

• train staff to ensure the law and policies/procedures are understood, up-to-
date and applied consistently, including setting out how staff’s knowledge and 
understanding will be assessed. 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

29 

 

17.7 The Council will pay significant regard to any guidance and codes of practice 
provisions, issued by the Commission, in relation to how gambling premises 
ought to be presented in order to prevent access by children.  

 

17.8 Although the Council’s role does not extend to the treatment or care of those 
who have gambling problems, the Council does have an interest in keeping up 
to date with developments and trends in work of this kind, in particular, to 
inform its local area profile.  

 
17.9 Whilst the Act does not seek to prohibit ‘vulnerable’ groups of adults from 

gambling in the same way that it prohibits children, the Council has 
considered the need for special considerations in relation to the protection of 
vulnerable persons.  This has been balanced against the Council’s objective 
to aim to permit the use of premises for gambling.  The Council has concluded 
that, in general, no special considerations are required and that the 
considerations in relation to protecting children will apply.   

 
17.10 However, with respect to the nationally expressed concerns that exist in 

relation to the potentially adverse impact FOBT (and self-service betting 
terminals) may have on vulnerable adults (notwithstanding it is not currently a 
risk that is identified in the Council’s Local Area Profile), the Council will give 
due consideration to the need to apply conditions to betting shop premises 
licences including, but not limited to, setting out minimum staffing levels to 
ensure sufficient staff are on the premises to enable staff to comprehensively 
promote responsible gambling, adequately protect players, particularly in 
relation to players who are deemed to be vulnerable (as defined within this 
Policy) and to prevent under 18 year olds accessing gambling facilities.  
Additional conditions will only be applied on the basis that there is evidence of 
a risk to the licensing objectives. 

 
18.0 Delegation of Council licensing functions 
 
18.1 Licensing of the gambling industry, as set out at paragraph *** [insert 

paragraph number from ‘licensing functions’ section above], is a Council 
function that is delegated to the Strategic Licensing Committee.  The Strategic 
Licensing Committee has delegated this function to the Licensing Act Sub-
Committee and to officers of the Council who will determine all applications in 
accordance with this Policy.  

 
18.2 The specific delegations are set out in the Council’s Constitution, which is 

available at [link to website to be included when the policy consultation has 
been completed].  The relevant extract from the Constitution is produced at 
Appendix D of this Policy. 

 
18.3 Officers and the Licensing Act Sub-Committee may elect not to exercise their 

delegated decision making authority in respect of any particular licence/permit 
application.  This is likely to be the case where delegation may give rise to a 
risk of judicial review challenge, particularly on the basis of appearance of 
bias. 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

30 

 

18.4 Whilst officers and the relevant committees will, in the majority of cases, 
follow the Policy, there may be specific circumstances where the Council 
believes it is right to depart from the Policy.  This may also be the case in 
relation to the Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities 5th 
Edition (March 2015).  In either case, the Council will take account of the 
implications of any departure from the Policy and/or the Guidance and shall 
ensure there are strong reasons for such departure.  In all cases, these 
reasons will be clearly expressed and explained.   

 
19.0 Committees  
  

Strategic Licensing Committee 
 
19.1 This Committee is made up of 15 members of the Council.  It deals with policy 

issues, including the setting of gambling licence fees where this is required 
and/or permitted by relevant legislation.   

 
Licensing Act Sub-Committee 

 
19.2 This Committee is made up of a selection of Members from the Strategic 

Licensing Committee.  Three Members will sit on hearings to determine new 
applications, variations, transfers, provisional statements and club 
gaming/club machine permits.  In all cases, the Sub-Committee will only be 
convened where, in respect of the various applications, representations have 
been received and not withdrawn.  In addition, Members will sit on hearings to 
deal with the decision to give a counter notice to a temporary use notice and 
in respect of any licence review.  With respect to all other applications, officers 
have the delegated authority to make the necessary determinations. 

 
19.3 Members on the Sub-Committee, when determining applications, making a 

decision to give a counter notice to a temporary use notice or hearing a 
licence review, will have regard to relevant gambling legislation, in particular 
the Gambling Act 2005 and associated regulations and orders, this Policy, the 
Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities 5th Edition (March 
2015), the Human Rights Act 1998, the Equality Act 2010, any relevant legal 
case law, other relevant Council policies and any other relevant guidance that 
may from time to time be made available by the Gambling Commission or 
other appropriate organisations or stakeholders.  

 
19.4 Decisions 
 
19.5 The Council will ensure that licensing and regulatory decisions are properly 

reasoned and evidence-based
 
and taken at the most appropriate level.  The 

Council will adopt a presumption in favour of decisions being made at the 
lowest appropriate level within the Council so that decisions of similar 
complexity and impact are generally made at similar levels within the Council.  

 
19.6 The decisions that the Council can take, either by way of a Licensing Act Sub-

Committee hearing, including where the hearing is for the purposes of a 
premises licence review, or by an officer under delegated authority, are 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

31 

 

dependent on the type of licence or permit being considered and the specific 
circumstances associated with the licence/permit.   

 
19.7 However, broadly, the Council has the power to: 
 

• grant or reject/refuse new and renewal applications 

• grant or reject/refuse applications for variations and transfers 

• revoke or cancel existing licences/permits under certain circumstances, 
including for the non-payment of fees  

• suspend a premises licence  

• add, remove, amend and exclude licence/permit conditions  

• review premises licences 
19.8 In addition, the Council may choose to issue written warnings and prosecute 

(including offering a simple caution) in respect of specified criminal offences.  
Further details, in this regard, are provided in Part 4 of this Policy. 

 
19.9 Any decision to grant, reject/refuse, revoke, cancel or suspend a 

licence/permit or to add, remove, amend or exclude conditions or to issue a 
written warning will be made in accordance with relevant legislative 
provisions, the Council’s scheme of delegation and any other appropriate 
procedures.  The Council will base any decision to reject/refuse, revoke or 
suspend on reasons that demonstrate that the licensing objectives are not 
being, or are unlikely to be, met, and/or objections do not relate to the 
licensing objectives.  

 
19.10 When applications are to be determined, the officer and/or Licensing Act Sub-

Committee will take into consideration the facts of the application, any 
information and evidence provided by the responsible authorities, any 
information and evidence from other interested parties, together with the 
options set out in the licensing officer’s report.  The licensing officer will not 
normally make a specific recommendation, but may do so in exceptional 
circumstances.   

 
19.11 In order to provide applicants with the opportunity to consider and respond by 

way of written and/or verbal representations, as appropriate, the Council will 
provide the relevant details which have given rise to the need for an officer 
decision and/or hearing. 

 
19.12 The Council will not turn down applications for premises licences where 

relevant objections can be dealt with through the use of conditions.  Equally 
the Council will not attach conditions that limit the use of premises for 
gambling unless it is necessary to do so in accordance with the requirements 
set out in Section 153 of the Act.  In determining applications for premises 
licences and permits, the Council will request as much information as it 
requires to satisfy itself that all the requirements set out at Section 153 of the 
Act are met. 

 
19.13 Following the determination of an application by the Council (or any other 

regulatory enforcement decision), the applicant or licensee and any other 
relevant party will receive a copy of the decision in writing.  The reasons for 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

32 

 

the decision will be clearly set out and will reflect the extent to which the 
decision has been made with regard to the Council’s Policy and any 
Commission guidance.  It will be delivered as soon as is practicable after the 
decision has been made.  This will include information on the right of appeal, 
where this is relevant. 

 
19.14 The Council will publish a register of licensing decisions.  It may also publish 

details of licence applications that were refused, or withdrawn before they 
were determined, where it considers it in the public interest to do so.  Such 
information will be published as soon as practicable after a decision has been 
taken, whether or not the decision is the subject of an appeal. 

 
20.0 Appeals 
 
20.1 Parties aggrieved by a decision of the Council have a right of appeal to the 

Magistrates’ Court.  Appeals must be lodged with the Court in accordance 
with the relevant statutory provisions.  The Council strongly advises parties to 
promptly seek appropriate independent legal advice if they wish to consider 
pursuing an appeal. 

 
20.2 With respect to premises licences, parties aggrieved by a decision may further 

appeal to the High Court; however, this is only in respect of a point of law.  
 
20.3 Any party to a decision may apply for judicial review (although the Court may 

decline an application) and ask the Court to grant a particular type of order if 
they believe that the decision taken by the Council is:  

 

• illegal, i.e. beyond the powers available to the Council;  

• subject to procedural impropriety or unfairness with a failure in the process of 
reaching the decision; or 

• irrational such that no sensible person could have reached that decision.  
 

21.0 Responsible authorities 
 
21.1 The Act requires applicants to give notice of premises licence applications to 

certain public bodies - ‘responsible authorities’ - that are listed in Section 157 
of the Act.  This requirement also applies to certain permit applications; 
however, the extent of the notice requirements applicable to permits are 
generally less onerous and are different depending on the individual permit 
type. 

 
21.2 Responsible authorities have the right to make representations, in writing, in 

relation to premises for which applications for gambling licences/permits have 
been submitted to the Council and in relation to any licence review.  They may 
also apply to the Council for a review of an existing licence. 

 
21.3 The responsible authorities are: 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

33 

 

• The Council in its capacity as the licensing authority, the planning authority 
and the authority which has functions in respect of minimising or preventing 
the risk of pollution of the environment or of harm to human health 

• Gambling Commission 

• Chief Officer of Police for West Mercia Police 

• Shropshire and Wrekin Fire & Rescue Authority  

• Shropshire Safeguarding Children Board  

• Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HMRC) 

• In relation to a vessel (including pleasure boats), the navigation authorities, 
as defined in the Water Resources Act 1991, that have statutory functions 
in relation to the waters where the vessel is usually moored or berthed, or 
any waters where it is proposed to be navigated at a time when it is used 
for licensable activities, namely:  

� Environment Agency in England and Wales (Scottish Environment 
Protection Agency in Scotland) 

� British Waterways Board  
� Maritime and Coastguard Agency (Secretary of State for Transport) 

The contact details for each of the responsible authorities are available on 
the Council’s website at https://shropshire.gov.uk/licensing/gambling-
licences/gambling-act-2005-responsible-authorities/ [website details to be 
finalised after the consultation process is completed] 

 
22.0 Body competent to advise about the protection of children from harm 
 
22.1 The principles that the Council will apply in exercising its powers to designate, 

in writing, a body competent to advise the Council about the protection of 
children from harm are set out below.  

 
22.2 The body needs to: 
 

• be responsible for the whole geographical administrative area of the Council; 

• be independent and have an independent chair that can hold all agencies 
including the council to account, individually and collectively; 

• comprise of a wide range of agencies, including lay members who represent 
the local community, that contribute to safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children; 

• have statutory responsibilities for coordinating and monitoring the 
effectiveness of services that work together to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children; and 

• be reportable to democratically elected persons rather than any particular 
vested interest groups 
 

22.3 Having taken into consideration the principles set out above, the Council has 
designated the Shropshire Safeguarding Children Board as the body 
competent to advise about the protection of children from harm and by doing 
so this Board is also a designated responsible authority under the provisions 
of the Gambling Act 2005.   

 
23.0 Interested parties   



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

34 

 

 
23.1 Interested parties have the right to make representations in relation to 

premises for which applications for gambling licences/permits have been 
submitted to the Council and in relation to any licence review.  Interested 
parties will be expected to submit their representations in writing to the 
Council.  Interested parties may also apply to the Council for a review of an 
existing licence. 

 
23.2 An ‘interested party’ is defined in Section 158 of the Act as a person who: 
 

(a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
authorised activities, 

(b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised 
activities, or 

(c) represents persons who satisfy (a) or (b) 
 
23.3 It is a matter for the Council to decide whether a person is an interested party 

with regard to a particular premises and this will be decided on a case by case 
basis.  However, the principles that will be applied when determining whether 
a person is an interested party in relation to a premises licence, or in relation 
to an application for or in respect of a premises licence are set out below. 

 

• The ‘status’ of each person in each case will be determined on their own 
merits. 

• Specific regard will be given to what a potential interested party says about 
their status to make representations. 

• Adherence to a set of strict and rigid rules will be avoided with a reasonable 
and proportionate approach adopted in each case. 

• When determining whether a person ‘lives sufficiently close to the premises’, 
the Council will consider the following non-exhaustive list of relevant factors:  
 

� size of the premises  
� nature of the premises  
� distance of the premises from the location of the person making the 

representation  
� potential impact of the premises, e.g. number of customers, routes 

likely to be taken by those visiting the establishment  
� circumstances of the person who lives close to the premises; this is not 

their personal characteristics, but their interests which may be relevant 
to the distance from the premises 

� living sufficiently close to the premises may be different for different 
parties, e.g. a private resident, a residential school for children with 
truanting problems, a residential hostel for vulnerable adults 
 

• ‘Business interests” will be given a wide interpretation and is deemed to 
include, but is not limited to, the activities of sole traders, partnerships, 
companies, charities, faith groups and medical practices. 

• When determining whether business interests may be affected, the Council 
will consider the following non-exhaustive list of relevant factors:  

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

35 

 

� size of the premises  
� ‘catchment’ area of the premises, i.e. how far people travel to visit the 

premises  
� whether the person making the representation has business interests in 

that catchment area that might be affected 
� nature and scope of the likely impact 

 

• A representation, by an existing gambling business, stating that it is going to 
be affected by another gambling business starting up in the area will not be 
considered a relevant representation, unless it is supported by other specific 
evidence, as such a representation relates to demand or competition and not 
to the licensing objectives. 

• Trade associations, trade unions, residents’ and tenants’ associations will 
generally not be viewed as interested parties unless they are representing a 
specific member who is held to be an interested party in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 158 of the Act. 

• A school head or governor will generally not be viewed as an interested party 
unless they are representing the interests of pupils or parents who are held to 
be interested parties in accordance with the provisions of Section 158 of the 
Act. 

• A community group will generally not be viewed as an interested party unless 
they are representing the interests of vulnerable people who are held to be 
interested parties in accordance with the provisions of Section 158 of the Act. 

• Persons who are democratically elected, e.g. Councillors and Members of 
Parliament, are considered to be interested parties.  The Council will not 
require such elected persons to provide evidence that they have been asked 
to represent any particular person providing the elected person represents the 
area/location that will be affected by the licence/permit application or review.   

 
[Note: If any individual wishes to approach a Shropshire Council 
Councillor to act as their representative, care must be taken to ensure that 
the Councillor in question is not a member of the Strategic Licensing 
Committee and in particular absolutely must not be a member of the 
Licensing Act Sub-Committee dealing with the licence/permit application 
or licence review.  If there is any doubt, the individual is advised to contact 
the Council’s Licensing Team for clarification.]   

 

• Parish and Town Councils are also considered to be interested parties.  The 
Council will not require such Councils to provide evidence that they have been 
asked to represent any particular person providing the geographical area (or 
any location within this area) of the Council will be affected by the 
licence/permit application or review.   

• In all other cases, any person wishing to represent an interested party/parties 
will be required to produce written evidence that the person(s) they are 
representing either live sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be 
affected by the authorised activities or has business interests that might be 
affected by the authorised activities. 

 
24.0 Review of premises licence  
 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

36 

 

24.1 A premises licence may be reviewed by the Council of its own volition on the 
basis of any reason it thinks is appropriate or following the receipt of an 
application requesting a review from a responsible authority or an interested 
party.  However, where an application requesting a review is received from a 
third party, it is for the Council to decide whether the review is to be carried 
out.   

 
24.2 The Council will carry out licence reviews in pursuit of the principles set out in 

Section 153 of the Act.  All reviews will be determined by the Licensing Act 
Sub-Committee. 

 
24.3 Before carrying out a review, the Council will normally undertake a process of 

ensuring compliance by a licence/permit holder through constructive 
discussions, an initial investigation by a Council officer, informal mediation 
and/or dispute resolution.  If the concerns are not resolved then the Council 
will carry out a formal review and, where appropriate, may impose additional 
conditions or revoke the licence.  

 
24.4 Where the Council is willing to enter into constructive discussions with the 

relevant licence/permit holder, the licence/permit holder will be asked, as a 
minimum, to provide an up-to-date local risk assessment which sets out the 
controls it has put in place to mitigate the risks that pertain to the concerns 
raised and to offer suggestions as to the nature of additional conditions that 
could be placed on the premises licence to mitigate the risks and address the 
concerns.  Where the licence/permit holder fails to provide an up-to-date local 
risk assessment and/or does not offer reasonable or practical suggestions to 
mitigate the risks and address the concerns, the Council will carry out a 
review under the relevant provisions of the Act.  

 
24.5 The Act does not provide a pre-defined list of issues that might prompt a 

licence review; however, the Council is likely to consider carrying out a review 
where there are reasonable concerns relating to: 

 

• the licensing objectives being undermined or that compliance with the 
objectives is at risk; 

• the fundamental purpose of the Council’s Policy being undermined or that 
compliance with the purpose is at risk; 

• complaints from residents, responsible authorities of other interested parties 
about the operation of the premises 

• premises licence conditions not being observed  

• the premises operating outside of the principles set out in the Council’s Policy  

• an inherent conflict with the Commission’s codes of practice and guidance, 
the licensing objectives or the Council’s own Policy; 

 
24.6 The Council must follow prescribed procedures when undertaking a review as 

set down in the Gambling Act 2005 (Premises Licences) (Review) 
Regulations 2007 (SI 2007/2258), as amended.  

 
24.7 Where a responsible authority or an interested party (the applicant) intends to 

submit a review application, they are strongly advised to contact the licensing 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

37 

 

team to discuss their concerns in advance of submitting their application.  This 
is on the basis that the Council prefers to provide licence/permit holders the 
opportunity to first enter into constructive discussions to secure compliance 
without recourse to a formal licence review where it is practical to do so.   

 
24.8 In the event that an application for a review is to be submitted, the following 

process applies: 
 

• Applicant submits the application to the Council on the required form (the 
relevant form is available on the Council’s website) together with a statement 
of the reasons why a review is being requested and with any supporting 
information and documents.  

• Applicant provides written notice of the application to the premises licence 
holder and to all responsible authorities (contact details are available on the 
Council’s website) within seven days of making their application.  Failure to do 
so will halt the application process until notice is received by all parties.  

• Representations (see paragraph xxx on how to make representations) to the 
application must be made within 28 days, commencing seven days after the 
date on which the application was received.  During these seven days the 
Council will publish notice of the application in accordance with prescribed 
rules.  
 

24.9 It is the Council’s decision whether to grant an application for a review; 
however, it will do so, unless it considers that the grounds on which the review 
is sought are: 

 

• not relevant to the licensing objectives, the Commission’s codes of practice 
and guidance, or the Council’s Policy8; 

• frivolous; 

• vexatious; 

• ‘will certainly not’ cause the Council to revoke or suspend a licence or 
remove, amend or attach conditions on the premises licence; 

• substantially the same as ground sited in a previous application related to the 
same premises, taking into account the period of time that has passed since 
the previous application or representations were made; or 

• substantially the same as representations made at the time the application for 
a premises licence was considered, taking into account the period of time that 
has passed since the previous application or representations were made. 

 
24.10 Where the Council has given notice of its intention to initiate a review or 

having decided to grant a review following an application, the Council will 
carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28 day period for making 
representations has passed.  

 

                                                           
8 General objections to gambling as an activity, that relate to demand for gambling premises, or raise issues relating 
to planning, public safety, and traffic congestion are unlikely to be considered an appropriate basis for review, and 
are, therefore, likely to lead to an application for review being rejected by the Council.  

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

38 

 

24.11 The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the Council should 
take any action in relation to the licence, namely:  

 

• add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by the Council;  

• exclude a default condition or remove or amend an exclusion;  

• suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months; or  

• revoke the premises licence.  
 
24.12 The Council may take the above action on the grounds that a premises 

licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling at the premises.  This is 
to prevent people from applying for licences in a speculative manner without 
intending to use them.  Equally, the Council may take the above action on the 
grounds that the premises licence holder was offering a type of gambling that 
they were not licensed for and therefore not permitted to offer.  

 
24.13 The Council will hold a hearing, unless the applicant and any person who has 

made representations consent to the review being conducted without one.  
The licensing authority must have regard to any relevant representations 
when reviewing the matter, and must have regard to the principles in Section 
153 of the Act.  

 
24.14 Once the review has been completed the Council will notify its decision as 

soon as practicable to:  
 

• the licence holder  

• the applicant for review (if any)  

• the Commission  

• any person who made representations  

• Chief Officer of Police, West Mercia Police  

• HMRC  
 
24.15 The applicant, any person who made representations on the application, the 

person (if any) who applied for the review and the Commission may appeal a 
decision in respect of a licence review.  See paragraph xxx in relation to 
appeals.   

 
25.0 Making representations 
 
25.1 Any objections to premises licence applications or requests for a review must 

be based on the licensing objectives.  The attention of applicants and persons 
wishing to make representations is drawn, in particular, to the factors that will 
not be relevant to the exercise of the Council’s functions, and will, therefore, 
not be considered for the purposes of applications or reviews.  These factors 
include, but are not limited to: 

 

• preventing public nuisance and anti-social behaviour (unlike the Licensing Act 
2003, the Gambling Act 2005 does not include this as a specific licensing 
objective); 

• the expected demand for gambling facilities; 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

39 

 

• the law relating to planning or building matters, e.g. whether or not planning 
permission may be granted for a particular building;   

• moral or ethical objections to gambling; and 

• dislike of gambling, or a general notion that it is undesirable to allow gambling 
premises in an area (with the exception of the casino resolution powers). 

 
25.2 Where applicants, responsible authorities and interested parties wish to make 

representations in respect of an application and/or licence review, the parties 

will be given the opportunity to provide written representations.  Oral 

representations will only be allowed in exceptional circumstances. 

25.3 Officers have the delegated authority to determine whether a representation, 
on the balance of probabilities, is irrelevant (does not relate to the licensing 
objectives), is frivolous or vexatious or is certain not to influence the 
determination of the application and such a decision would result in such 
representations not going before the Licensing Act Sub-Committee. 

 
 
 
26.0 Exchange of information 
 
26.1 The principles that the Council will apply in relation to the exchange of 

information with the Commission and other persons/bodies are set out below. 
 
26.2 The Council recognises that shared regulation depends on effective 

partnerships and collaboration and that the exchange of information between 
the Council and the Commission and other appropriate persons/bodies is an 
important aspect of this and benefits all parties.   

 
26.3 Where the Council is required or wishes to exchange information with other 

persons/bodies, the information will be relevant and it will be appropriate, 
necessary and proportional to do so for the purposes of carrying out its 
functions under the Act and to also enable those other persons/bodies to 
carry out their functions under the Act.   

 
26.4 The exchange of information will be undertaken in accordance with the Data 

Protection Act 1998 and the associated ‘Guide to data protection’ and the 
‘Data Sharing Code of Practice (May 2011) both published by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (ICO), or such other guidance that may from time to 
time be made available.  Both the Guide and the Code of Practice are 
available on the ICO website at https://ico.org.uk/. 

 
26.5 The Council has not established any information exchange protocols 

specifically for the purposes of the Gambling Act and does not currently intend 
to do so.  However, where there are existing information exchange protocols 
established in relation to other matters, the Council will have due regard to 
any relevant principles set out in such protocols and apply them as if they 
were established for the purposes of information exchange with other 
persons/bodies under the Act.  If at any time during the lifetime of this Policy it 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

40 

 

becomes necessary to establish specific information exchange protocols 
under the Gambling Act, the Council will take appropriate steps to do so.  

 
Exchange of information between the Council and the Commission 

 
26.6 The Council will share information about gambling activity across Shropshire 

to enable the Commission: 
 

• to develop an overarching view of all gambling activity across Great Britain; 

• to identify risks; 

• to feed information and intelligence back to the Council (and to other licensing 
authorities) to support it to carry out its regulatory responsibilities;  

• to avoid duplication or over-regulation and to maximise the efficient use of 
resources; and  

• to fulfil its duty to advise the Secretary of State about the incidence of 
gambling and the manner in which it is conducted. 

 
26.7 Specifically, the Council will provide information to the Commission where the 

information forms part of the registers that the Council is required to maintain 
under the Act and where information is in the Council’s possession in 
connection with any provision of the Act. 

 
Exchange of information between the Council and other persons 

  
26.8 The Council will exchange information with other persons/bodies for use in the 

exercise of functions under the Act.  These other persons/bodies are: 
 

• a police officer or police force 

• an enforcement officer 

• a licensing authority 

• HMRC 

• the First Tier Tribunal 

• the Secretary of State 

• Scottish Ministers 
 
26.9 Specifically, the Council is more likely to exchange information with West 

Mercia Police and licensing authorities that share geographical borders with 
the Shropshire Council area; however, the Council will also exchange 
information on a wider basis where it is appropriate to do so.   

 
26.10 The Council may exchange information with other organisations and operators 

to achieve the most appropriate outcomes for the parties concerned.  This will 
only occur where the law permits such information exchange e.g. where the 
Council has obtained permission. 

 
 
 

Freedom of information 
 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

41 

 

26.10 As a public body, the Council is subject to the provisions of the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 (FOIA).  Information disclosed in relation to freedom of 
information requests will be disclosed in accordance with the legislation and 
the ‘Guide to freedom of information’ issued by the ICO or such other 
guidance that may from time to time be made available.  The Guide is 
available on the ICO website at https://ico.org.uk/. 

 
26.11 The information submitted to the Council in pursuance of applications will be 

kept confidential unless it is necessary to share it for the purposes of the 
Council exercising its functions under the Act. The Council will undertake to 
keep personal names and addresses (in particular those provided in respect 
of Club Gaming Permit and Club Machine Permit applications) confidential; 
however, the Council cannot give an assurance that this confidentiality can be 
maintained in all circumstances because under the FOIA, there is a statutory 
Code of Practice with which the Council must comply and which deals, 
amongst other things, with obligations of confidence.  

26.12 Persons who wish to access information about themselves that the Council 
may hold should submit a FOIA request. 

 
 

Confidentiality of those making representations 
 
26.13 Representations, including personal information, will be subject to publication 

in accordance with the necessary regulatory processes associated with the 
processing of applications and reviews.  In addition, representations, including 
personal information, may be subject to release to other parties or to 
disclosure in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are 
primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Data Protection Act 
1998 (DPA) and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004).   

26.14 If persons making representations want information, including personal data 
that they have provided to be treated as confidential, they must be aware that, 
under the FOIA, there is a statutory Code of Practice with which the Council 
must comply and which deals, amongst other things, with obligations of 
confidence.  

26.15 In view of this, where persons want information and personal data to be 
treated as confidential, the Council expects persons making representations 
to explain why they regard the information and/or personal data they have 
provided as confidential.  The Council will take full account of the explanation 
provided, but cannot give an assurance that the requested confidentiality can 
be maintained in all circumstances.  An automatic confidentiality disclaimer 
generated by an IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the 
Council.  

  
26.16 The Council will give due consideration to all representations and treat any 

information and/or personal data as confidential where it may, on the balance 
of probabilities, have a disproportionate and unnecessary adverse impact on 
any individual or business, particularly where they are not directly affected by 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

42 

 

the application or review that is the subject of the representation.  
Nevertheless, for the same reasons that are set out above, the Council cannot 
give an assurance that the information it may deem ought to be treated as 
confidential can be maintained as such in all circumstances.          

 
 
227.0 Working in partnership 
 
27.1 The Council aims to work in partnership when dealing with matters relating to 

the licensing/permitting of gambling establishments and activities, including 
the adoption of a partnership approach to address problems that may arise.  
Such partnerships will include (but are not restricted to) the Gambling 
Commission, relevant gambling trade associations, other local authorities, 
West Mercia Police, consumer groups and problem gambling support groups.  
With respect to betting shops, the Council will pay due regard to the ‘LGA – 
ABB framework for local partnerships on betting shops’.    

 
27.2 The Council works in partnership with the Gambling Commission specifically 

on a shared regulation approach.  In doing so, the Council takes the lead on 
regulating local gambling and the Commission focusses on operators and 
issues of national or regional significance.   

 
27.3 The Council will work cooperatively with local businesses to reduce the risk to 

the licensing objectives to acceptable levels.  However, it must be recognised 
that the Council, as the primary local regulator, will ensure that all relevant 
provisions relating to the effective administration of the licensing functions are 
robustly enforced to take account of the Gambling Act licensing objectives 
and the fundamental purpose of this Policy. 

 
28.0 Setting fees  

 
28.1 The Council’s compliance and enforcement work and the costs of dealing with 

illegal gambling is covered by fees from premises licences and permits.  
 
28.2 The Council aims to ensure that the income from fees, as nearly as possible, 

equates to the costs of providing the service to which the fees relate; in this 
respect, the Council is committed to continuous improvement across the fee 
setting process.  

 
28.3 The Council aims to make its fee setting as transparent as possible.  Costs 

are tracked to enable the Council to evidence, as much as is reasonably 
practicable, how it arrives at the specified fee levels.  Fees are calculated on a 
cost recovery basis only.  

 
28.4 The Strategic Licensing Committee reviews the fees annually under delegated 

authority from the Council.    

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

43 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PART 3 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

44 

 

ACTIVITIES 

SUBJECT TO 

AUTHORISATIONS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

PART 3 – ACTIVITIES SUBJECT TO AUTHORISATIONS  

 

 
29.0 Introduction 
 
29.1 This part of the Policy focusses on the activities that are subject to 

authorisations and sets out how applicants obtain and hold a licence, permit 
or registration and, where relevant, how they provide notifications.  These 
steps will include the standards that applicants must attain and the conditions 
that apply.   

 
29.2 Where appropriate and unless specifically indicated to the contrary, any 

reference to ‘licence’ is deemed to include a licence, permit, registration and 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

45 

 

notice and any reference to ‘applicant’ is deemed to include existing 
licence/permit/registration holders. 

 
30.0 Appointments 
 
30.1 The Council runs an appointment system for all licensing matters.  Where an 

applicant wishes to see an officer for any reason, they must make an 
appointment as they will otherwise not be seen.   

 
 
31.0 General principles relevant to all licence types 
 

• The appropriate application form must be fully completed and accurate, 
contain or be accompanied by all the relevant information and documents and 
be accompanied by the appropriate fee.  If any part of the application form is 
incomplete or the relevant information or documents are not provided, the 
applicant will be requested to provide the missing information/documentation 
and informed that the application has not been correctly made and will not be 
processed until such time as all the information/documentation is provided.  
The full fee for the licence is payable at the time the application is submitted.  
 

• The Council will aim to visit all premises before granting any new licence. 
 

• Where the law is not specific a consultation period, the Council will allow 28 
days for responsible authorities/interested parties to make representations. 

 

• Applicants will be permitted to make minor changes to their proposals, but the 
Council will not permit applicants to make material changes to their application 
during the process.  Material changes to an application are likely to result in 
an applicant being invited to withdraw their application and submit a new 
application, accompanied by the appropriate fee, or it may result in an 
application being refused. 

 

• The Council will provide assistance to applicants to help them through the 
application process; however, the responsibility for providing information rests 
with applicants.  The Council will treat repeated delays in providing 
information as a strong indicator that it ought to consider refusing the 
application. 

 

• The Council expects applicants to work with it in an open and cooperative way 
and to disclose anything which the Council would reasonably expect to know.  
The Council will attach significant weight to an applicant’s failure to work in an 
open and cooperative way.    

 

• Where an applicant has failed to declare relevant information or provided false 
information, the application is likely to be refused; where this relates to an 
existing licence, the licence is likely to be revoked.  Applicants are reminded 
that it is an offence without reasonable excuse to provide false or misleading 
information; 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

46 

 

 

• All licence fees are payable at the time of application.  Where a licence is not 
granted, i.e. the applicant withdraws their application; a proportion of the licence 
fee will be refunded.  The actual amount of the refund will depend upon the 
progress of the application at the time the applicant withdraws; 

 

• In the event that an application for a licence is paid by cheque, the application 
will not be valid until such time as the cheque has cleared.  In the event that the 
cheque does not clear and the licence has been issued, the Council will cancel 
the licence on the basis of non-payment of the application fee; 

 

• Where a licence has lapsed, been surrendered or revoked a new application 
must be submitted in accordance with the relevant new licence procedures 
before the Council will consider the application; 

 

• Where renewals and annual fees apply, the Council will notify licence holders 
that their licence is due to expire at least four weeks before the actual expiry 
date.  Where the licence holder fails to pay the fee, the licence will cease to 
exist. 

 

• When a licence expires and is subject to renewal provisions, the Council will 
not permit any ‘periods of grace’, beyond those set down in the relevant 
legislation, for the submission of a renewal application unless there is 
satisfactory evidence of exceptional circumstances that are accepted by the 
Council.  

 

• Where changes are made to a premises layout, an application for a variation 
to the premises licence will only be required where there are material changes 
to the layout of the premises.    What constitutes a material change will be a 
matter for the Council to determine but the Council will adopt a common 
sense approach in this regard. 

 

• All applicants must be aged 18 or over. 
 

• All applicants must provide evidence of Public Liability Insurance with a 
minimum cover of £5,000,000.00, except for the purposes of Small Society 
Lotteries. 

 

• The relevant application forms and manner in which applications must be 
made, together with the forms to notify relevant responsible authorities, can 
be found on the Council’s licensing web pages. 

 

• The Council will accept applications electronically (fax or email) and by post. 
  

• For those licence types that require a local risk assessment the Council 
expects applicants, as a minimum, to use their risk assessment to assess 
specific risks to the licensing objectives in the local area, determine the extent 
to which mandatory and default conditions mitigate the risks and to assess 
whether and what additional control measures are required.  



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

47 

 

 
32.0 Meaning of ‘premises’ 
 
32.1 ‘Premises’ is defined as including ‘any place’ and no more than one premises 

licence can apply to any place.   However, a single building can be subject to 
more than one premises licence, providing each licence is for different parts of 
the building, and the different parts of the building can reasonably be 
regarded as being different premises.   

 
32.2 Premises licences can be granted for passenger vessels.  A vessel is defined 

as:  
 

• anything (other than a seaplane or amphibious vehicle) designed or adapted 
for use on water;  

• a hovercraft; or 

• anything, or part of any place, situated on or in water (structures that are an 
extension of the land are not vessels, even if they arch over water, e.g. piers, 
bridges are not vessels and they remain caught by the definition of 
‘premises’).  

 
32.3 Vehicles (trains, road vehicles, aircraft, sea planes and amphibious vehicles, 

other than a hovercraft) may not be the subject of a premises licence and 
therefore all forms of commercial betting and gaming is unlawful in a vehicle 
in Great Britain.  Certain allowances are made for private and non-commercial 
gaming or betting to take place in a vehicle, but these are subject to a number 
of stringent requirements to ensure that, at no point, can the gambling 
become a commercial activity. 

 

32.4 Specifically with respect to temporary use notices, the Act refers to a ‘set of 
premises’ and provides that a set of premises is the subject of a TUN where 
‘any part’ of the premises is the subject of a notice.  The reference to ‘a set of 
premises’ prevents one large premises from having a TUN in effect for more 
than 21 days in a year by giving notification in relation to different parts of the 
premises and re-setting the clock.  Note that this definition of a ‘set of 
premises’ differs to the definition of ‘premises’.  

 
32.5 A licensed family entertainment centre (FEC) is classified as ‘premises’ and 

only premises that are wholly or mainly used for making gaming machines 
available may hold an FEC premises licence.  As a result, it is generally not 
permissible for such premises to correspond to an entire shopping centre, 
airport, motorway service station or similar.  Typically, the machines would be 
in a designated and enclosed area.  

 

33.0 Principles to be applied in relation to the meaning of premises 
 
33.1 Where large, multiple unit premises such as pleasure parks, tracks, or 

shopping malls apply for a number of discrete premises licences, the Council 
will pay particular regard to ensuring that appropriate safeguards are in place.  
Any issues concerning the sub-division of a single building or plot will be 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

48 

 

closely examined and significant emphasis will be given to compliance with 
the mandatory conditions relating to access between premises.  

 
33.2 In most cases the Council will expect that a single building will be the subject 

of an application for a premises licence.  However, the Council accepts that 
this does not mean that a single building cannot be the subject of separate 
premises licences for separate parts of the building, e.g. the basement and 
ground floor, providing they are configured in an acceptable manner; the 
location and the suitability of any division will be matters that the Council will 
wish to discuss with the operator.  Nevertheless, the Council is likely to 
consider those applications where a single building is the subject of a single 
premises licence application more favourably. 

 
33.3 The Council does not consider that areas of a building that are artificially or 

temporarily separated, e.g. by ropes or moveable partitions, can properly be 
regarded as different premises.   

 
33.4 Where a premises to which a premises application relates is located within a 

wider venue, the Council will request a plan of the whole venue on which the 
premises must be identified as a separate unit.  

 
33.5 The Council is unlikely to issue a premises licence unless the proposed 

premises are genuinely separate premises that merit their own licence.  
Where there is any indication that the premises is an artificially created part, 
of what is readily identifiable as a single premises, the Council is likely to 
refuse such an application. 

 
33.6 An application must be made to the Council where the premises is wholly or 

partly situated within Shropshire.  In circumstances where the premises lie 
within Shropshire but also in another licensing authority’s area, the Council 
would expect the operator to discuss the matter with both (or all, if more than 
two) authorities and reach agreement about which authority they will submit 
their application to.  The operator will then have to notify the ‘other’ authority 
of the application and that ‘other’ authority will be entitled to make 
representations as a responsible authority.  

 
33.7 Premises licences for vessels will be accepted by the Council only in relation 

to vessels that are usually moored or berthed within the Shropshire area. 
 
33.8 The Council accepts premises licence applications for pleasure boats 

providing they are usually moored or berthed within the Shropshire area.  As 
with multi-purpose buildings, the Council will licence the part(s) of the vessel 
where gambling takes place and will expect the usual restrictions on access 
for children to be robustly applied.   

 
33.9 Where a premises licence is sought in connection with a vessel that will be 

navigated while licensable activities take place, the Council will be concerned 
with the promotion of the licensing objectives on board the vessel.  It will not 
focus on matters relating to safe navigation or operation of the vessel, the 
general safety of passengers or emergency provision.  (All such matters are 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

49 

 

subject to regulations which must be met before the vessel is issued with its 
Passenger Certificate and Safety Management Certificate.)  

 

33.10 With respect to multiply activity premises, i.e. different licensed activities 
taking place within an area, such as at a track or holiday park, e.g. an area 
could include family entertainment centres (FECs), adult gaming centres 
(AGCs) and bingo, whilst also having an alcohol licence.  In such 
circumstances, the Council will pay particular attention, through checks on 
plans and site visits, to ensure that the relevant gaming machine entitlements 
(machines available for use) are not exceeded and, where applicable, that 
appropriate signage to prevent unlawful entry is in place.  The Commission 
has published an advice note entitled ‘Advice regarding when a gaming 
machine is 'available for use', which the Council will have due regard to when 
determining whether a licence/permit holder is complying with the relevant 
gaming machine entitlements.   

 
33.11 The Council considers that it is not permissible for gaming machines, which 

should be contained within a FEC premises, to be located in corridors and 
walkways which form part of the larger building.  This is because the 
machines are not subject to the controls necessary to minimise gambling-
related harm and to protect children and vulnerable people.  Locating 
machines in corridors and walkways exposes young people to ambient 
gambling that the Act was designed to prevent through the removal of 
machines from takeaways, taxi offices, etc.  

 
34.0 Criminal record disclosure 
 
34.1 Criminal record disclosure is relevant to those persons who wish to apply for 

Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits and Prize 
Gaming Permits because the Council has a responsibility to ensure the 
suitability of the applicant for these particular permits.  In addition, this is also 
applicable to persons submitting Small Society Lottery applications.  Refer to 
Appendix E for further details in this respect.   

 
34.2 For all other permits and premises licence applications, the Council will not 

consider the suitability of the applicant, including in relation to any crime; this 
will already have been considered by the Commission under the procedures 
for granting operator and personal licences. 

 
 
 

Part 3A - Premises Licences 
 
35.0 Where an individual or company uses premises, or causes or permits 

premises to be used, to offer gambling, they must apply for a premises 
licence.  Premises licences, and the regulatory tools associated with them, 
are a key means by which the Council ensures that risks to the licensing 
objectives are mitigated effectively. 

  



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

50 

 

35.1  The Council can grant premises licences without conditions or subject to 
conditions and it can also review or revoke such licences.  Premises licences 
are issued by the Council and authorise the provision of gambling facilities on:  

 
• casino premises  
• bingo premises9  
• betting premises, including tracks  
• adult gaming centres  
• family entertainment centres 

 
35.2 Except in the case of tracks (where the occupier of the track who holds the 

premises licence may not be the person who actually offers the gambling), 
premises licences may only be issued to those who hold a relevant operating 
licence, or who have applied for one. Premises licences may be transferred to 
someone else holding a valid operating licence.  

 
35.3 In addition to licences, there are other forms of authorisation that the Council 

may grant, including authorisations for the temporary use of premises, 
occasional use notices and different permits for unlicensed family 
entertainment centres, prize gaming, gaming machines on alcohol-licensed 
premises and club gaming and club machine permits.  The Council also 
registers persons who wish to provide small society lotteries. 

 
35.4 The following sections of the Policy set out the Council’s specific principles on 

which it proposes to determine applications for the different licence types 
(these are in addition to the general principles set out in Section 2 of the 
Policy), together with the practical steps that applicants are required to take in 
order to submit valid applications. 

 
36.0 Casinos 
 
36.1 The Council has not passed a resolution not to issue casino premises 

licences under Section 166 (1) of the Act.  Should the Council decide to do so 
in the future details of the resolution will be included in this Policy, including 
the date on which such a resolution will take effect.     

 

36.2 Despite the fact that the Council has not passed such a resolution, the 

Council is currently not enabled by the Secretary of State (in accordance with 

regulations made under Section 175 of the Act) to grant a premises licence for 

a small or large casino.  In practice, this means that the Council cannot grant 

such a licence.   

 
37.0 Other premises licences (not provisional statements) 
 

Description 

                                                           
9 Bingo is equal chance gaming and is commonly either cash bingo or prize bingo.  The Commission has published its 
view of what bingo is and how it differs from other forms of gambling.  This can be found in the Commission’s advice 
note ‘What Constitutes Bingo’. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

51 

 

 
37.1 A premises licence is issued in accordance with Part 8 of the Gambling Act 

2005. 
 
37.2 Any person who operates premises for the purposes of the following activities, 

must hold the appropriate premises licence: 
 

• playing bingo 

• using Category B gaming machines (adult gaming centre) 

• using Category C gaming machines (family entertainment centre); or 

• betting  
 

Principles 
 
37.3 The Council will check with the Gambling Commission to ensure the applicant 

has a valid operator’s licence issued by the Gambling Commission. 
 
37.4 Whilst operators can apply for a premises licence in respect of premises 

which have still to be constructed or altered, the Council expects operators, 
wherever practicable, to ensure that premises are completely constructed or 
fully altered, in accordance with scaled plans, before submitting a premises 
licence application.  This is to assist the Council in its approach to be satisfied 
that the premises are going to be ready for use in the near future and to 
enable Council officers, and any other body with inspection powers, to fully 
inspect the premises for compliance with all necessary legal requirements. 

 
37.5 Where buildings are not completely constructed or fully altered, the Council 

expects operators to avail themselves of the provisional statement application 
process in relation to the licensing of premises.  Operators need to refer to the 
principles set out in relation to provisional statements. 

 
37.6 Where an operator prefers to submit a full premises licence application in 

relation to buildings that are not completely constructed or fully altered, the 
Council would prefer to discuss with the individual operator which route, i.e. 
full premises licence or provisional statement, is most appropriate in order to 
avoid the operator having to pay a fee for an application that the Council does 
not think it would be in a position to grant.  Nevertheless, where an operator 
chooses to submit a full premises licence application, the Council will 
determine any such application on its merits.  The Council will, however, 
consider such applications in a two stage process: 

 

• first, the Council will decide whether, as a matter of substance after applying 
the principles in Section 153 of the Act, the premises ought to be permitted to 
be used for gambling; and 

• second, in deciding whether or not to grant the application the Council will 
consider if appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the situation 
that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be before 
gambling takes place. 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

52 

 

37.7 Where conditions are put in place in respect of buildings are not completely 
constructed or fully altered, the Council will require evidence that the 
completed works comply with the original (or changed) plan attached to the 
premises licence.  Depending upon the individual circumstances, the Council 
is likely to achieve this either through physical inspection of the premises by a 
Council officer, written confirmation from the applicant or a report from an 
independent surveyor that relevant conditions have been satisfied. 

 
37.8 Where plans, submitted at the time of an original premises licence application, 

are changed in any material respect during the fitting of the premises after the 
grant of the licence, the Council expects operators to make a fresh premises 
licence application in order to preserve the rights of interested parties and 
responsible authorities to make representations in respect of the application. 

 
37.9 Where an application to vary a premises licence for betting is received in 

order to extend the opening hours, the Council will pay particular regard to 
ensuring that the reason for the application is in line with the requirements of 
the operating licence conditions. 

 
37.10 With respect to adult gaming centres (AGC), the Council will have particular 

regard to the location of and entry to AGC to minimise the opportunities for 
under-18s to gain access.  This will be of particular importance in areas where 
young people may be unsupervised, e.g. where an AGC is in a complex, such 
as a shopping centre. 

 
Period of licence 

 
37.11 A premises licence does not have a defined period of validity; it does not have 

an ‘expiry date’.  Once granted, a premises licence continues to have effect 
unless and until it ceases to have effect in accordance with other relevant 
provisions of the Act. 

 
37.12 A licence ceases to have effect when: 
 

• it is surrendered 

• the holder of the licence fails to pay the annual fee 

• it lapses 
o the company ceases to exist or goes into liquidation 

o the licence holders dies 

o the licence holder becomes bankrupt 

o the licence holder becomes incapable by reason of mental or physical 

incapacity 

 
Application process 

 
37.13 The following sets out a summary of the main application process 

requirements as it relates to: 
 

• new applications; 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

53 

 

• applications to vary or transfer a licence; 

• applications for the reinstatement of a lapsed licence.  
 
37.14 However, it is essential that applicants consider the requirements of the 

Gambling Act 2005 (Premises Licences and Provisional Statements) 
Regulations 2007 (SI 2007/459), as amended, to ensure they fully satisfy the 
application requirements.  

 
37.15 All applicants must hold an operating licence issued by the Commission (or 

have made an application for such a licence) authorising them to carry on the 
specific gambling activity for which their premises licence application relates 
prior to applying for a premises licence from the Council. 

 
37.16 In addition, applicants must: 
 

• Submit a completed application form 

• Pay the appropriate fee 

• Where applicable, provide evidence if the premises has previously been 
granted a provisional statement 

• Provide evidence that they hold an operating licence  

• Provide evidence that they have the right to occupy the premises to which 
their application relates 

• Provide a scale plan of the premises; specific elements must be shown on the 
plan and these are dependent on the actual gambling activity for which the 
licence is being sought  

• Provide evidence that the building is completely constructed so that it can be 
fully inspected 

• Set out how they intend to satisfy the relevant mandatory and default 
conditions applicable to the type of gambling activity that will be undertaken at 
the premises 

• Submit their local risk assessment (refer to Social Responsibility Code 
provision 10.1.1) in accordance with Ordinary Code provision 10.1.2 

• Set out the specific steps that will be taken to promote the licensing objectives  

• Provide notice of their application to the relevant responsible authorities 

• Publish notice of their application in a local newspaper and on the premises to 
which the application relates (not applicable to the transfer or reinstatement of a licence) 

 
 
 
 
38.0 Provisional Statement 
 

Description 
 
38.1 Provisional statements are issued in accordance with Part 8 of the Gambling 

Act 2005. 
 
38.2 For any premises that are yet to be constructed or altered or where the 

person has not yet acquired a right to occupy the premises, an application 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

54 

 

may be submitted to the Council for a provisional statement where premises 
will be operated for the purposes of the following activities:  

  

• playing bingo 

• using Category B gaming machines (adult gaming centre) 

• using Category C gaming machines (family entertainment centre); or 

• betting  
 
 

Principles 
 
38.3 Where the Council is considering an application for a provisional statement 

and the applicant has also applied to the Commission for an operating 
licence, the Council will not speculate on or otherwise take into account the 
likelihood of an operating licence being granted. 

 
38.4 Once the Council has granted a provisional statement, it is constrained in the 

matters it can consider when an application for a premises licence is made 
subsequently in relation to the same premises.  The Council will not take into 
account any further representations from responsible authorities or interested 
parties unless they concern matters that could not have been addressed at 
the provisional statement stage, or they reflect a change in the applicant’s 
circumstances.  Consequently, the Council will only refuse the premises 
licence, or grant it on terms different to those attached to the provisional 
statement, by reference to matters:  

 

• that could not have been raised by way of representations at the provisional 
licence stage   

• that, in the Council’s opinion, reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances  

• where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan and 
information submitted with the provisional statement application; this must be 
a substantial change to the plan. 

 
38.5 With respect to where the premises has not been constructed in accordance 

with the plan and information submitted with the provisional statement 
application, the Council will discuss any concerns they have with the applicant 
before making a decision.  

 
 
 
 

Period of licence 
 
38.6 A provisional statement does not have a defined period of validity; it does not 

have an ‘expiry date’.  Once granted, a provisional statement continues to 
have effect until it is replaced by a full premises licence or is surrendered or 
lapses.  A provisional statement lapses if: 

 

• the company ceases to exist or goes into liquidation 

• the provisional statement holder dies 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

55 

 

• the provisional statement holder becomes bankrupt 

• the provisional statement holder becomes incapable by reason of mental or 

physical incapacity 

 
Application process 

 
38.7 The following sets out a summary of the main application process 

requirements as it relates to a provisional statement. 
 
38.8 However, it is essential that applicants consider the requirements of the 

Gambling Act 2005 (Premises Licences and Provisional Statements) 
Regulations 2007 (SI 2007/459), as amended, to ensure they fully satisfy the 
application requirements.  

 
38.9 The application form must be fully completed, contain or be accompanied by 

all the relevant information and documents and be accompanied by the 
appropriate fee.  If any part of the application form is incomplete or the 
relevant information or documents are not provided, the applicant will be 
requested to provide the missing information/documentation and informed that 
the application has not been correctly made and will not be processed until 
such time as all the information/documentation is provided.  The full fee for 
the licence is payable at the time the application is submitted.  

 
38.10 Applicants must: 
 

• Submit a completed application form 

• Pay the appropriate fee 

• Provide a scale plan of the premises; specific elements must be shown on the 
plan and these are dependent on the actual gambling activity for which the 
licence is being sought  

• Set out how they intend to satisfy the relevant mandatory and default 
conditions applicable to the type of gambling activity that will be undertaken at 
the premises 

• Submit their local risk assessment (refer to Social Responsibility Code 
provision 10.1.1) in accordance with Ordinary Code provision 10.1.2 

• Set out the specific steps that will be taken to promote the licensing objectives  

• Provide notice of their application to the relevant responsible authorities 

• Publish notice of their application in a local newspaper and on the premises to 
which the application relates  

 
Part 3B -– Permits 

 

 

39.0 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (UFEC) 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

56 

 

39.1 A UFEC permit is issued in accordance with Schedule 10 of the Gambling Act 

2005.10  

 Description 

39.2 UFEC are premises (not vessels or vehicles) which are ‘wholly or mainly’ 
used for making category D gaming machines available. The permit cannot, 
for example, be granted for an entire shopping centre, airport or bowling alley. 

 
 Principles 
 
39.3 The Council will: 
 

• have regard to the licensing objectives and the Guidance to licensing 
authorities 5th Edition (March 2015) issued by the Gambling Commission 

• give weight to protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling 

• expect applicants to demonstrate how they intend to protect children and 
other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 

• where other activities have been introduced into an UFEC premises resulting 
in gaming machines being ancillary to the business, the Council will notify 
the permit holder that the premises are no longer being used as a UFEC and 
the permit will lapse 

 
39.4 The Council cannot attach conditions to a UFEC permit however, it can refuse 

to grant the permit by notifying the applicant of the intention to refuse and the 
reasons for it and then giving the applicant an opportunity to make 
representations.    

 
Period of licence 

 
39.5 A permit ceases to exist after a period of 10 years unless it is renewed, 

lapses, is surrendered or forfeited by the Court.  A permit lapses if: 

• the company ceases to exist or goes into liquidation 

• the permit holder ceases to occupy the premises 

• the permit holders dies 

• the permit holder becomes bankrupt 

• the permit holder becomes incapable by reason of mental or physical 

incapacity 

• the Council informs the permit holder that the premises are not being used as 

an UFEC 

 
Application Process – new and renewal applications 

 
39.6 For new applications, applicants must: 

                                                           
10 Travelling fairs may provide an unlimited number of Category D gaming machines provided that facilities for 
gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair.  They do not require a permit to provide these 
gaming machines but must comply with legal requirements about how the machine operates. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

57 

 

 

• Submit a completed application form 

• Pay the appropriate fee 

• Provide a satisfactory basic criminal record disclosure from Disclosure 
Scotland (see Appendix E) 

• Provide evidence that they have the right to occupy the premises to which 
their application relates 

• Provide a scale plan of the internal layout of the premises including the 
position of the machines, staff/supervisor locations and any restricted access 
provision 

• Provide evidence that the premises will be used as a UFEC 

• Provide a business plan 

• Provide evidence that they fully understand the maximum stakes and prizes of 
the gambling permissible in UFEC   

• Submit a local risk assessment (refer to Social Responsibility Code provision 
10.1.1) in accordance with Ordinary Code provision 10.1.2 

• Provide a staff training programme particularly to ensure staff have a full 
understanding of: 

� the harm and exploitation that is caused by problem gambling 
� their responsibilities to safeguard children, young persons and 

vulnerable adults 
� measures to reduce crime and disorder associated with gambling 
� the relevant legal provisions that restrict the use of gaming machines 

and other gambling activities 
� the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling permissible in UFEC   

• Provide information of category D machine suppliers that the applicant intends 
to use; they must be Commission-licensed suppliers   

• Provide evidence as to how they intend to protect children and other 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 

• Set out how they intend to satisfy the relevant mandatory and default 
conditions applicable to an UFEC 

 

Renewal applications 

39.7 The renewal application process is the same as the process set out above for 

new applications.  

39.8 The renewal application must be submitted no more than 6 months before but 

no less than 2 months before the expiry date of the permit.  Failure to apply 

within the prescribed time period will result in the renewal application being 

refused.  Where the applicant wishes to continue to apply for a permit, they 

will then be required to submit a new application in accordance with the 

procedures above.    

Right of Appeal 

39.9 The applicant or the holder of a permit may appeal if the Council has 

• rejected an application for a UFEC permit or renewal of a UFEC permit 

• given notice that the premises are not being used as an UFEC  



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

58 

 

• given notice that the holder is incapable of carrying out an UFEC business by 

reason of mental or physical incapacity 

Change of permit holder’s name and lost, stolen or damaged permit 

39.10 There are specific provisions that allow a permit holder to make changes to 

their name and to obtain a copy of a lost, stolen or damaged permit.  

Providing the correct application is submitted and the required fee paid and 

for the purposes of a lost or stolen permit evidence that the loss or theft has 

been reported to the Police e.g. crime reference number. 

  

40.0 Club Gaming Permit and Club Machine Permit 

40.0 These permits are issued in accordance with Schedule 12 of the Gambling 

Act 2005 applicant’s attention is also drawn to the Gambling Act 2005 (Club 

Gaming and Club Machine Permits) Regulations 2007, as amended 

(SI2007/1834 & SI2007/2689), and Gambling Act 2005 (Gaming in Clubs) 

Regulations 2007 (SI2007/1942).  

40.2 A ‘fast track’ procedure exists for members’ clubs and miners’ welfare 
institutes that hold a club premises certificate under Section 72 Licensing Act 
2003.  Further details are available from the licensing team. 
 
Description 

 
40.3 A club gaming permit is a permit authorising gaming in members’ clubs and 

miners’ welfare institutes; specific detailed provisions apply.  A club machine 
permit is a permit authorising up to three gaming machines (categories B, C 
or D) in members’ clubs, miners’ welfare institutes and commercial clubs.  
There are a number of legal requirements that must be satisfied before an 
application can be submitted.   

 
40.4 Where applicants are considering making an application for these permits, the 

Council recommends they contact the licensing service prior to making the 
application to ensure the correct permit is applied for.   

 
Principles 

 
40.5 The Council will accept permit applications for clubs that do not have 

permanent premises or hold alcohol premises licences.  
 
40.6 The Council cannot attach conditions to a club gaming and club machine 

permit; however, it can refuse to grant the permit by notifying the applicant of 
the intention to refuse and the reasons for it.   

 
40.7 Where the Council is satisfied that the club is not a ‘true’ members’ club, 

miners’ welfare institute or commercial club or the premises are used wholly 
or mainly by children and/or young persons the Council will refuse the 
application. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

59 

 

 
40.8 Where an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed 

by the applicant while providing gaming facilities, a permit held by the 
applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years or an objection has 
been lodged by the Commission or the police, the Council may refuse the 
application. 

 
Period of licence 

 
40.9 A permit ceases to exist after a period of 10 years unless it is renewed, 

lapses, is surrendered or forfeited by the Court.  A permit lapses if: 

• the club ceases to be a members’ club, miners’ welfare institute or 

commercial club  

 
Application process – new and renewal applications 

 
40.10 Applicants must: 
 

• Submit a completed application form 

• Pay the appropriate fee 

• Provide a staff training programme particularly to ensure staff have a full 
understanding of: 

� the harm and exploitation that is caused by problem gambling 
� their responsibilities to safeguard children, young persons and 

vulnerable adults 
� measures to reduce crime and disorder associated with gambling 
� the relevant legal provisions that restrict the use of gaming machines 

and other gambling activities 
� the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling permissible in the club   

• Provide details of the categories of machine to be used  

• Provide information of the machine suppliers that the club intends to use; they 
must be Commission-licensed suppliers   

• Provide a scale plan of the internal layout of the premises including the 
position of the machines, staff/supervisor locations and any restricted access 
provision 

• Submit a copy of the clubs constitution (see further requirements below) 

• Submit substantial evidence of club activities, including bridge and whist 
activities 

• Submit register of members to include full names and addresses 

• Annual accounts for the previous three years unless the application relates to 
a new constituted club 

• Set out how they intend to satisfy the relevant mandatory and default 
conditions applicable to the permit 

 
40.11 As a minimum the club constitution must make the following clear: 
 

• What is the primary purpose and aims of the clubs activities? 

• Who makes commercial decisions on behalf of the club? 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

60 

 

• What are the governance arrangements? 

• What is the position in respect of permitting access to children into the club 
premises?  

• Whether there are any shareholders?  

• Is the members’ club permanently established?  

• What periods of membership are available? 

• Any age restrictions applicable to membership of the club 

• How long between applying for membership and participating in any gaming 
activity is required?  

• What if any long term membership benefits exists? 

• What are the profits used for?  

• What is the process for members to permit guests into the club premises? 
 
40.12 The club must also provide the following information:  
 

• That the constitution has been approved by members of the club 

• List of committee members and evidence of their election by members of the 
club 

• Copies of club meeting minutes for the previous 12 months 

• The number of nights per week that gaming is made available? 

• How does the club advertise gaming? 

• What are the stakes and prizes offered? 

• Do you have weekly/monthly/annual league winners? 

• Is the club tied in with other clubs through tournaments or leagues?  If yes, 
provide details.  

• What percentage of members do not participate in gaming activity? 

• What activities are provided for club members via the internet? 

• Do you teach members to promote gaming? 

• Does your club receive any sponsorship?  If yes, who by? 

• What if any gaming participation fees are charged?  

• Is the club advertised and listed in directories including on the internet?  If 
yes, provide details.  

 
Renewal 

40.13 The renewal application process is the same as the process set out above for 

new applications.  

40.14 The renewal application must be submitted no more than 3 months before but 

no less than 6 weeks before the expiry date of the permit.  Failure to apply 

within the prescribed time period will result in the renewal application being 

refused.  Where the applicant wishes to continue to apply for a permit, they 

will then be required to submit a new application in accordance with the 

procedures above.    

Variation and lost stolen or damaged 

40.15 There are specific provisions that allow a club to vary their permit and to 

obtain a copy of a lost, stolen or damaged permit.  Providing the correct 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

61 

 

application is submitted and the required fee paid and for the purposes of a 

lost or stolen permit evidence that the loss or theft has been reported to the 

Police e.g. crime reference number. 

Right of Appeal 

40.16 The applicant or holder of a permit may appeal if the Council has: 

• rejected an application for a Club Gaming Permit/Club Machine Permit or 

renewal of a Club Gaming Permit/Club Machine Permit 

• cancelled a permit 

Annual Fee 

40.17 Permit holders must pay to the Council the first annual fee within 30 days of 

the issue of the permit and an annual fee before each anniversary of the issue 

of the permit thereafter.  Failure to do so will result in the permit being 

cancelled. 

 

41.0 Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permit 

41.1 Licensed premises gaming machine permits are issued in accordance with 

Schedule 13 of the Gambling Act 2005. 

Description 

41.2 A licensed premises gaming machine permit authorises a premises, holding 

an alcohol premises licence in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003 

(providing the premises have a bar at which alcohol is served), to make 

available category C and D machines.  This replaces and is not in addition to 

the automatic entitlement to two machines.    

Principles 
 
41.3 The Council will expect that gambling will remain ancillary to the main purpose 

of the premises.  Should it become aware that this is not the case and the 
holder of the permit has not complied with reasonable requests by authorised 
officers to reduce the level of gambling or applied for the appropriate gambling 
premises licence, the Council will take appropriate enforcement action 
including utilising licence review provisions under either the Gambling Act 
2005 or the Licensing Act 2003.    

 
41.4 The Council cannot attach conditions to a Licenced Premises Gaming 

Machine Permit; however, it can refuse to grant the permit by notifying the 
applicant of the intention to refuse and the reasons for it.  In addition where 
the Council intends to grant a permit, it can do so for a smaller number of 
machines and/or a different category.    

 
41.5 Where an operator of an alcohol licensed premises wishes to make gaming 

machines available in any areas of their premises that are not licensed for the 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

62 

 

purposes of selling/supplying alcohol, the operator will be required to apply for 
an adult gaming centre premises licence. 

 
Period of licence 

 
41.6 A permit does not have a defined period of validity; it does not have an ‘expiry 

date’.  Once granted, a permit continues to have effect unless and until it 
ceases.  A permit ceases if: 

 

• the alcohol premises licence ceases to have effect  

• the permit holder ceases to be the holder of the alcohol premises licence 

• the permit is surrendered 

• the permit is cancelled, including where the permit holder fails to pay the 
annual fee 

• the permit is forfeited by the court   
 

Application Process – new applications 
 
41.7 Applicants must: 
 

• Submit a completed application form 

• Pay the appropriate fee 

• Provide a copy of the valid alcohol premises licence or evidence that an 
alcohol premises licence is being or has been applied for  

• Specify the number and category of gaming machines  

• Provide information of the machine suppliers that the club intends to use; they 
must be Commission-licensed suppliers   

• Submit a business plan setting out the main purpose of the business together 
with details indicating the contribution that the gaming machines provide to 
the overall business 

• Provide a staff training programme particularly to ensure staff have a full 
understanding of: 

� the harm and exploitation that is caused by problem gambling 
� their responsibilities to safeguard children, young persons and 

vulnerable adults 
� measures to reduce crime and disorder associated with gambling 
� the relevant legal provisions that restrict the use of gaming machines 

and other gambling activities 
� the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling permissible in the club   

• Provide a scale plan of the internal layout of the premises including the 
position of the machines, staff/supervisor locations and any restricted access 
provision 

• Set out how they intend to satisfy the relevant mandatory and default 
conditions applicable to the permit 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

63 

 

Right of Appeal 

41.8 The applicant or holder of a permit may appeal if the Council has: 

• rejected an application for a permit  

• granted an application for a permit for a smaller number of machines and/or 

different category  

• gives a notice that cancels or varies the entitlements of the permit  

 

Variation, transfer, change of name and lost stolen or damaged 

41.9 There are specific provisions that allow a permit holder to vary, transfer or 

change the name on their permit and to obtain a copy of a lost, stolen or 

damaged permit.  Providing the correct application is submitted and the 

required fee paid and for the purposes of a lost or stolen permit evidence that 

the loss or theft has been reported to the Police e.g. crime reference number. 

Annual Fee 

41.10 Permit holders must pay to the Council the first annual fee within 30 days of 

the permit being issued and an annual fee before each anniversary of the 

issue of the permit thereafter.  Failure to do so will result in the permit being 

cancelled. 

 

 

42.0 Automatic entitlement to two gaming machines 

42.1 This notification is issued in accordance with Section 282 of the Gambling Act 

2005. 

Description 

42.2 There are specific notification procedures available to alcohol premises 

licence holders to make available two gaming machines of category C or D for 

use in alcohol licenced premises. 

Principles 
 
42.3 The Council recognises that it has no discretion to consider the notification or 

to turn it down other than in respect of whether the applicant holds an alcohol 

premises licence and the fee has been paid.  However, in order to enable the 

Council to ensure the applicant is fully aware of their responsibilities the 

specific information, as set out in the notification process below, is requested.  

42.4 The Council will provide written confirmation that notification has been 

received and alcohol premises licence holders are expected to display this 

confirmation in a prominent place within the premises.  



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

64 

 

42.5 The Council will give serious consideration to removing, subject to it following 
the correct procedures, the ‘automatic authorisation’ where there is evidence 
that: 

 

• provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
licensing objectives;  

• gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition relating to 
the location and operation of gaming machines;  

• the premises are mainly used for gaming; or  

• an offence under the Act has been committed on the premises.  
 

Notification Process 
 
42.6 Applicants must:  
 

• Submit a completed notification form 

• Pay the appropriate fee 

• Provide a copy of the valid alcohol premises licence or evidence that an 
alcohol premises licence is being or has been applied for  

• Specify the number and category of gaming machines  

• Provide information of the machine suppliers that the club intends to use; they 

must be Commission-licensed suppliers   

• Provide a staff training programme particularly to ensure staff have a full 
understanding of: 

� the harm and exploitation that is caused by problem gambling 
� their responsibilities to safeguard children, young persons and 

vulnerable adults 
� measures to reduce crime and disorder associated with gambling 
� the relevant legal provisions that restrict the use of gaming machines 

and other gambling activities 
� the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling permissible in the club   

• Provide a scale plan of the internal layout of the premises including the 
position of the machines, staff/supervisor locations and any restricted access 
provision 

 

Annual Fee 

42.7 Permit holders must pay to the Council the first annual fee within 30 days of 

the permit being issued and an annual fee before each anniversary of the 

issue of the permit thereafter.  Failure to do so will result in the permit being 

cancelled. 

 
 
 
 
43.0 Prize Gaming Permit  
 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

65 

 

43.1 A Prize Gaming permit is issued in accordance with Schedule 14 of the 

Gambling Act 2005.11  

 

 

Description 

43.2 Gaming is classed as prize gaming if the nature and size of the prize is not 
determined by the number of people playing or the amount paid or raised by 
the gaming.  Normally the prizes are determined by the operator before play 
commences.  A Prize Gaming Permit is a permit issued by the Council to 
authorise Prize Gaming on specified premises.  Vessels and vehicles are not 
premises. 

 
Principles 

 
43.3 The principles that the Council proposes to apply when considering 

applications for a Prize Gaming Permit are set out below.  The Council will: 
 

• have regard to the licensing objectives and the Guidance to licensing 
authorities 5th Edition (March 2015) issued by the Gambling Commission 

• give weight to protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling 

• expect applicants to demonstrate how they intend to protect children and 
other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 

 
43.4 The Council cannot attach conditions12 to a Prize Gaming permit; however, it 

can refuse to grant the permit by notifying the applicant of the intention to 
refuse and the reasons for it and then giving the applicant an opportunity to 
make representations.   

 
Period of licence 

 
43.5 A permit ceases to exist after a period of 10 years unless it is renewed, 

lapses, is surrendered or forfeited by the Court.  A permit lapses if: 

• the company ceases to exist or goes into liquidation 

• the permit holder ceases to occupy the premises 

• the permit holder e.g. a partnership otherwise ceases to exist 

• the permit holders dies 

• the permit holder becomes bankrupt 

• the permit holder becomes incapable by reason of mental or physical 

incapacity 

 
 

                                                           
11 Section 292 of the Gambling Act 2005 provides that travelling fairs are also able to offer equal chance prize gaming 
without a permit, provided that, taken together, the facilities for gambling are an ancillary amusement at the fair. 
12 Specific requirements are set out in the Gambling Act 2005 that amount to ‘conditions’. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

66 

 

 
 
Application Process – new applications 

 
43.6 Applicants must: 
 

• Submit a completed application form 

• Pay the appropriate fee 

• Provide a satisfactory basic criminal record disclosure from Disclosure 
Scotland (see Appendix E) 

• Provide evidence that they have the right to occupy the premises to which 
their application relates 

• Provide a scale plan of the internal layout of the premises  

• Set out the types of gaming that will be offered  

• Provide a business plan 

• Provide evidence that they fully understand the maximum stakes and prizes of 
the gambling permissible for a Prize Gaming Permit and that the gaming 
offered is within the law   

• Provide a staff training programme particularly to ensure staff have a full 
understanding of: 

� the harm and exploitation that is caused by problem gambling 
� their responsibilities to safeguard children, young persons and 

vulnerable adults 
� measures to reduce crime and disorder associated with gambling 
� the relevant legal provisions that restrict the use of gaming machines 

and other gambling activities  
� the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling permissible for a Prize 

Gaming Permit and that the gaming offered is within the law   

• Provide evidence as to how they intend to protect children and other 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 

• Set out how they intend to satisfy the relevant mandatory and default 
conditions applicable to a Prize Gaming Permit 

 

Renewal applications 

43.7 The renewal application process is the same as the process set out above for 

new applications.  

43.8 The renewal application must be submitted no more than 6 months before but 

no less than 2 months before the expiry date of the permit.  Failure to apply 

within the prescribed time period will result in the renewal application being 

refused.  Where the applicant wishes to continue to apply for a permit, they 

will then be required to submit a new application in accordance with the 

procedures above.    

Right of Appeal 

43.9 The applicant or the holder of a permit may appeal if the Council has 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

67 

 

• rejected an application for a Prize Gaming permit or renewal of a Prize 

Gaming permit 

 

Change of permit holder’s name and lost, stolen or damaged permit 

43.10 There are specific provisions that allow a permit holder to make changes to 

their name and to obtain a copy of a lost, stolen or damaged permit.  

Providing the correct application is submitted and the required fee paid and 

for the purposes of a lost or stolen permit evidence that the loss or theft has 

been reported to the Police e.g. crime reference number.   

 

44.0   Part 3C - Temporary and Occasional Use  

 

Temporary Use Notice (TUN) 

44.1 A TUN is issued in accordance with Part 9 of the Gambling Act 2005 and 

Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007 

(SI2007/3157).  

Description 

44.2 A TUN allows the use of premises (not vehicles, but does include vessels 

whether moored or moving) for gambling where there is no premises licence 

but where an operator wishes to use the premises temporarily for providing 

gambling facilities.  

44.3 Certain restrictions exist in relation to a TUN.  These restrictions are:  
 

• it can only be used to offer gambling of a form authorised by the operator’s  
operating licence  

• gambling under a TUN may only be made available on a maximum of 21 days 
in any 12 month period for any or all of a named set of premises  

• it can only be used to permit the provision of facilities for equal chance 
gaming, and where the gaming in each tournament is intended to produce a 
single overall winner  

• gaming machines may not be made available under a TUN 

• cash games are not permitted under a TUN; cash games are where each 
hand provides a winner  

 
Principles 

 
44.4 As a result of the six week timescale specified in the Act for the purposes of 

fully completing the TUN process, the Council strongly encourages operators 
to make contact with the licensing service to discuss their plans and 
requirements as soon as possible (ideally at least six months) prior to the 
anticipated date of the gambling event.  

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

68 

 

44.5 Where applicants chose to submit a TUN by post, the Council expects the 
applicant to take steps to ensure the notice has been received by the Council 
within three days of the date of posting to assist the Council to process the 
notice within the tight timescales laid down in the Act. 

 
44.6 The Council will send a written acknowledgement confirming receipt of the 

TUN as soon as reasonably practical. 
 
44.7 Where the Council considers it necessary to object to a TUN it will give a 

notice of objection within fourteen days beginning with the date when which 
the TUN was received by the Council. 

 
44.8 When making objections to a TUN the Council, and other relevant bodies, will 

have regard to the same principles that the Council considers when 
determining premises licence applications, in particular, the aims of the 
licensing objectives.   

 
44.9 Where the Council issues a counter-notice, the principles that will be applied 

are the same as those in determining premises licence applications; in 
particular, the Council will aim to permit the provision of facilities for gambling 
under a TUN providing to do so accords with the Commission’s relevant code 
and guidance and the Council’s Policy, and is reasonably consistent with the 
licensing objectives. 

 
44.10 The Council will give serious consideration to objecting to a TUN where it 

appears that the effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that 
could be described as one ‘set of premises’ (refer to section above setting out 
the meaning of ‘premises’). 

 
44.11 Where the Council is made aware or establishes that the premises to which a 

TUN relates has been the subject of one or more TUN for more than a total of 
21 days in the past 12 months, the Council will issue a counter-notice that has 
the effect of stopping the TUN coming into effect.  

 
44.12 Where the Council receives a TUN from a high profile operator (e.g. a casino) 

to hold an event in a larger venue (e.g. a stadium or an arena) and this TUN 
includes the need to hold a remote operating licence, the Council will contact 
the Commission for further advice and guidance before processing the TUN. 

 
Notification process  

 
44.13 Applicants must:  
 

• Submit a completed notification form (must be received by the Council at least 
three months and one day before the day on which the gambling event will 
begin and must be received within seven days of the date the notice has been 
signed) 

• Pay the appropriate fee 

• Provide evidence that they hold an operating licence  



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

69 

 

• Set out how they intend to satisfy the relevant mandatory and default 
conditions applicable to the type of gambling activity that will be undertaken at 
the premises 

• Submit their local risk assessment (refer to Social Responsibility Code 
provision 10.1.1) in accordance with Ordinary Code provision 10.1.2 

• Provide a copy of the notice to the Gambling Commission, West Mercia Police 
and the HMRC (the notice must be received within seven days of the date the 
notice has been signed) (where the TUN relates to a vessel please refer to 
paragraph xxx re responsible authorities) 

• Where applicable, provide a copy of the notice to any other Licensing 
Authority in whose area the premises is also situated (the notice must be 
received within seven days of the date the notice has been signed) 
 

44.14 Where no objections are made within 14 days of the date of the TUN, the 
Council will endorse the TUN as valid and return it to the person who gave the 
TUN.    

 
Objection process 

 
44.15 Where written objections are received, the Council will enter into constructive 

discussions with the applicant and objectors with the aim of resolving the 
objections.  Where resolution cannot be achieved, the Council will hold a 
hearing to listen to representations from: 

 

• the person who gave the TUN; 

• all objectors; and 

• any person who was entitled to receive a copy of the notice.  
 
44.16 Where modifications are accepted by the applicant, the applicant must submit 

a new TUN, incorporating the modifications, and the Council will treat the 
original notice as withdrawn.  The person who made the original objection and 
proposed the modification may not object to the new TUN, but others to whom 
it is copied may object.  Where no new objections are made, there will be no 
need for a hearing. 

 
44.17 After a hearing has taken place or has been dispensed with and the Council 

considers that the TUN should not have effect, the Council will issue a 
counter-notice (copying it to all those who received copies of the TUN) setting 
out the reasons for its issue and providing for the TUN:  

 

• not to have effect; 

• to have effect only in respect of a specified activity; 

• to have effect only in respect of activity carried on during a specified period of  
time or at specified times of day; or 

• to have effect subject to compliance with a specified condition. 
 
44.18 Where the Council decides not to issue a counter-notice, the TUN will take 

effect. The Council will give notice of its decision to the person who gave the 
TUN and to others to whom the TUN was copied. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

70 

 

 
Conditions 

 
44.19 While the gambling is taking place, the operator must ensure a copy of the 

TUN must be displayed prominently on the premises.   
 

Right of appeal 
 
44.20 An appeal against the Council’s decision may be made by the applicant, or 

any person entitled to receive a copy of the TUN, to the Magistrates’ court 
within 14 days of receiving notice of the Council’s decision. There is a further 
right of appeal to the High Court on a point of law. 

 
Lost, stolen or damaged endorsed notice 

 
44.21 There are specific provisions that allow a notice holder to obtain a copy of a 

lost, stolen or damaged endorsed notice, providing the correct application is 

submitted and the required fee paid.  

 
45.0 Occasional Use Notice (OUN) 

45.1 An OUN is issued in accordance with Section 39 of the Gambling Act 2005.  

Description 

45.2 A OUNs is a permit that allows licensed betting operators to use tracks for 
short periods for conducting betting, where the event upon which the betting is 
to take place is of a temporary, infrequent nature. A betting premises licence 
for the track is not required in these circumstances. 

 
Principles 

 
45.3 An OUN must be submitted for each day that betting activity will be conducted 

on the premises.  
 
45.4 Betting activity is only allowed for a maximum of 8 days in a calendar year, if 

betting activity is to be held over a period of 8 consecutive days, the operator 
will be required to submit 8 separate notices. 

 
45.5 The period of 8 days applies to the venue and not the individual who has 

submitted the OUN. 
 
45.6 An event running past midnight and ending on the following day accounts for 

two occasional use days, even though in practice it is one event. 
 
45.7 If the maximum number of days is reached in a calendar year the OUN will 

not be accepted by the Council. 
 
45.8 There is no need for a track to be permanently established for an OUN to be 

given. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

71 

 

 
45.9 The Council expects the betting to be limited to betting on the outcomes of a 

race, competition or other sporting event taking place at the track. 
 
45.10 Betting operators cannot provide gaming machines at a track by virtue of an 

OUN. 
 

Application process  
 
45.11 All applicants must be a person who is either responsible for the 

administration of events on the track or the occupier of the track. 
 
45.12 Applicants must: 
 

• Submit a completed notification form 

• Provide evidence that the applicant is either responsible for the administration 
of events on the track or the occupier of the track 

• Specify the day(s) the notice is to have effect 

• Provide a copy of the notice to West Mercia Police 
 

46.0 Lotteries 

46.1 Large Society Lotteries are regulated by the Gambling Commission through 
operating licenses and are not the concern of the Council. 

 

46.2 There are several other types of lottery which do not require registration with 
the Council: 

• Incidental Non Commercial Lotteries are lotteries that are incidental to a non-
commercial event (such as a school fete). 

• Customer Lotteries, which are lotteries promoted by the occupiers of business 
premises, who sell tickets only to customers present on their premises. 
 

46.3 There are also three types of private lotteries as defined in the Gambling Act 
2005 which do not require registration with the Council, referred to as: 

• Private Society Lotteries (such as might be organised internally by a private 
members club),  

• Work Lotteries (such as when employees at a workplace organise a 
sweepstake on the Grand National), and 

• Resident’s Lotteries (such as when persons all residing in a single premises 
organise a lottery amongst themselves). 

 

46.4 Further details on these types of lotteries can be found in the Gambling 
Commission advice note “Organising Small Lotteries”, which can be found at: 

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/organising%20small%20lotteries
%20-%20november%202009.pdf 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

72 

 

 

 

 

 

47.0     Part 3D - Lotteries 

 

47.1 Small Society Lotteries 

A small society lottery registration is issued in accordance with Schedule 11 of 

the Gambling Act 2005. 

Description 

47.2 Society lotteries are lotteries promoted for the benefit of a non-commercial 
society. A society is non-commercial if it is established and conducted: 

• for charitable purposes (as defined in Section 2 of the Charities Act 2006) 

• for the purpose of enabling participation in, or of supporting, sport, athletics or 

a cultural activity 

• for any other non-commercial purpose other than that of private gain. 
 
47.3 A small society lottery: 

• does not have proceeds (the total value of tickets sold) that exceed £20,000 

for a single draw 

• does not have aggregated proceeds from lotteries in excess of £250,000 in 

any one year. 

• Has a maximum prize for any draw not exceeding £25,000. 

 
47.4 Small society lotteries do not require a licence but must be registered with the 

local authority in the area where the principal office of the society is located. 

 

Principles  

47.5 The Council expects operators of SSL to ensure that: 

• the total value of prizes combined with the expenses of running the lottery do 
not exceed 80% of the total proceeds of that lottery. 

• rollovers between lotteries are only permitted where every lottery affected is 
also a SSL promoted by the same society, and the maximum single prize is 
£25,000 

• every ticket in the lottery must cost the same and the society must take 
payment for the ticket fee before entry into the draw is allowed 

• SSL are conducted in a socially responsible manner 

• effective measures are in place to minimise the risk of lottery tickets being 
sold to children under the age of 16    



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

73 

 

• tickets (physical or virtual e.g. email or text message) issued must include13: 

� the name of the promoting society; 

� the price of the ticket, which must be the same for all tickets; 

� the name and address of the member of the society who is designated 

as having responsibility at the society for promoting small lotteries or, if 

there is one, the External Lottery Manager (ELM); and 

� the date of the draw, or information which enables the date to be 

determined. 

• written records are maintained of any unsold and returned tickets for a period 

of one year from the date of the lottery draw 

• tickets are not be sold by persons under the age of 16 

• tickets are not offered for sale in a street except from a kiosk or similar static 

structure (Note: the Council is minded to prohibit the sale of tickets in the 

street by applying such a condition to the registration.14) 

• tickets are not sold door to door 

• any other necessary permissions, e.g. street trading consents, are in place 

 

47.6 SSL operators will need to be careful when employing external help that such 

an individual or firm is correctly licensed by the Commission as an ELM, if 

required to be so.  That requirement depends on the extent to which they, or 

the SSL itself, will be in control of: 

• how the scheme operates 

• banking arrangements for handling the proceeds 

• who is selling the tickets, and who is paying the prizes 

• who is promoting the lottery 

 

47.7 During the currency of a registration the applicant and any appointed persons 

must notify the council in writing within 7 days of any cautions or convictions 

relating to the offences listed in Schedule 7 of the Act. 

47.8 Where the Council has refused or revoked a registration and the applicant has 

submitted representations, the Council will reconsider the decision and notify 

the applicant of the outcome including the reasons for the decision.  

 
48.0 Application process – new  
 
48.1 Applications for new SSL registrations must:  
 

• Submit a completed application form 

• Pay the appropriate fee 
                                                           
13 The requirement to provide this information can be satisfied by providing an opportunity for the participant to retain 

the message electronically or print it. 

 

14 This is to bring the sale of small society lottery tickets in line with the way in which the Commission requires 
societies running large lotteries to operate. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

74 

 

• Provide a satisfactory basic criminal record disclosure from Disclosure 
Scotland (see note below and Appendix E) 

• Confirm that it does not also hold a duplicate registration with another Council 

where the aims and objectives of the societies are the same.   

• Provide copies of both the societies terms and conditions and constitution 

• Submit a declaration, stating that the person making the application on behalf 
of the society represents a bona fide non-commercial society.   

• Provide evidence that they have procedures in place for: 
� checking the age of apparently underage purchasers of lottery tickets; 

and 
� taking action where there are unlawful attempts to purchase tickets. 

 

 Note: 

48.2 The requirement to provide a satisfactory basic criminal record disclosure  

from Disclosure Scotland applies to the applicant and both appointed persons.  

The Council recognises that an applicant may also be an appointed person. 

48.3 The basic criminal record disclosure from Disclosure Scotland must be no 

more than three years old at the time the application is submitted. 

48.4 A satisfactory enhanced DBS report will be accepted as an alternative to the 

basic criminal record disclosure from Disclosure Scotland.   

 

 

49.0 Returns to the Council15  

49.1 The following information must be submitted as a return to the Council: 

• the arrangements for the lottery – specifically the date on which tickets were 

available for sale or supply 

• the dates of any draw 

• the value of prizes, including any donated prizes and any rollover 

• the total proceeds of the lottery 

• the amounts deducted by the promoters of the lottery in providing prizes, 

including prizes in accordance with any rollovers 

• the amounts deducted by the promoters of the lottery in respect of costs 

incurred in organising the lottery 

• the amount applied to the purpose for which the promoting society is 

conducted (this must be at least 20% of the proceeds) 

• whether any expenses incurred in connection with the lottery were not paid for 

by deduction from the proceeds, and, if so, the amount of expenses and the 

sources from which they were paid. 

 

                                                           
15 Paragraph 39, Schedule 11 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

75 

 

49.2 Returns must: 

• be sent to the Council no later than three months after the date of the lottery 

draw, or in the case of ‘instant lotteries’ (scratch cards) within three months of 

the last date on which tickets were on sale 

• be signed (electronic signatures are acceptable if the return is sent 

electronically) by two members of the society, who must be aged eighteen or 

older, they must be appointed for the purpose in writing by the society or, if it 

has one, its governing body, and be accompanied by a copy of their letter or 

letters of appointment 

 

 

50.0   Annual Fee (Renewal) 

50.1 The renewal registration process is the same as the process set out above for 

new registrations, with the exception that: 

• a satisfactory basic criminal record disclosure from Disclosure Scotland is 
only required where the previously submitted disclosure is more than three 
years old on the date the application is submitted 

• copies of the societies terms and conditions and constitution are only required 
where there have been changes 

• evidence of procedures for checking the age of apparently underage 
purchasers of lottery tickets and taking action where there are unlawful 
attempts to purchase tickets are only required where there have been 
changes 
 

51.0 Decisions of the Council  

51.1 The Council shall refuse a registration if within the previous five years: 

• an operating licence held by the applicant has been revoked  

• an application for an operating licence made by the applicant has been 

refused 

 

51.2 The Council may refuse a registration if it thinks that: 

• the applicant is not a non-commercial society 

• a person who will or maybe connected with the promotion of the SSL has 

been convicted of a relevant offence 

• information provided is false or misleading  

 

51.3 The Council may revoke a registration: 

• if it is considers that it would be obliged or permitted to refuse an application 

for the registration were it being made anew.  

• where the society fails to submit the required returns within three months of a 

lottery 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

76 

 

• where the society fails to comply with the requirements on operators as listed 

in the statement of principles above  

 
51.4 Where the Council intends to refuse or revoke a registration it will notify the 

applicant of the intention to refuse or revoke and the reasons for it and giving 
the applicant an opportunity to make representations.   

 

 

52.0 Right of Appeal 

52.1 Where the Council takes a final decision to refuse to grant the registration or 

revokes it the society may appeal. 

 
 
53.0   Part 3E - Activities Not Requiring Permissions 
 
53.1 There are a number of gambling activities, under limited circumstances, that 

are permitted without any specific permissions.  These are: 
 

• non-commercial gaming 

• non-commercial prize gaming  

• non-commercial equal chance gaming 

• incidental non-commercial lotteries  

• private gaming, including poker as private gaming 

• non-commercial betting 

• non-commercial ‘casino night’ or ‘poker night’ 

• casino night or poker night as non-commercial prize gaming 

• casino night or poker night as non-commercial equal chance gaming 

• casino night as private gaming 

• non-commercial ‘race night’ 

• race night as non-commercial gaming 

• incidental non-commercial lottery 

• race night as non-commercial prize gaming 

• non-commercial equal chance gaming 

• race night as private gaming 

• race nights as betting events 
 

53.2 Children and young persons are permitted to participate in non-commercial 
and private gaming and betting. 

 
 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

77 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PART 4 

 

INSPECTION, 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

78 

 

COMPLIANCE, 

ENFORCEMENT 

AND COMPLAINTS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PART 4 – INSPECTION, COMPLIANCE, ENFORCEMENT AND COMPLAINTS 

 

54.0 Summary 

54.1 This part of the Policy sets out the principles that will be applied when the 
Council carries out the inspection of premises and when it institutes criminal 
proceedings in respect of specified offences under the Act.   

 
54.2 This includes the principles that will be applied in respect of general 

compliance, enforcement and the manner in which complaints will be dealt 
with.   

 
54.3 The focus of the Council’s inspection, compliance and enforcement role is on 

premises licences/permits/registrations for which it has responsibility to 
authorise.   

 
54.4 The Gambling Commission will undertake compliance, regulation and 

enforcement as it applies to operator and personal licences.  In addition, any 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

79 

 

concerns about the manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will be 
notified to the Gambling Commission and not dealt with by the Council.  

 
55.0 Inspection, compliance and enforcement 

55.1 The Council will generally use the least intrusive regulatory tool to achieve 
compliance and will ensure that any regulatory action is proportionate to 
the importance of the matters to which it relates, having regard to relevant 
risk assessments. 

 
55.2 Council officers may undertake inspection, compliance and enforcement 

activities for the purpose of assessing compliance under the Act and to 
determine whether an offence is being committed.  In doing do, the 
Council’s officers will work closely with the gambling trade representatives 
and other enforcement authorities to achieve compliance with the relevant 
legislation, licence/permit/registration requirements and specific conditions 
of each licence/permit/registration.   

 
55.3 The Council will undertake all inspection, compliance and enforcement work 

in accordance with the Council’s Better Regulation and Enforcement Policy 
(or such similar policy that may from time to time be adopted) which is 
available on the Council’s website at http://shropshire.gov.uk/shropshire-
council/policies/.  The Better Regulation and Enforcement Policy sets out 
clearly the overall approach adopted by the Council towards inspection, 
compliance and enforcement.  It also specifically sets out the principles by 
which the Council intends to manage all criminal investigations; these 
principles also apply to the way in which criminal proceedings will be 
managed in relation to gambling related criminal offences specified under 
Section 346 of the Act. 

 
55.4 The Council recognises that combating illegal gambling is of significant benefit 

to the licensed community as the provision of illegal unregulated gambling 
impacts upon the reputation of the industry as a whole.  The persistent and 
widespread existence of illegal gambling also reduces the incentive on 
operators to be correctly licensed.   

 
55.5 Accordingly, where the Council uncovers evidence of illegal gambling it will 

work in partnership with the Commission to undertake criminal investigations 
into such activity with a view to prosecuting the individuals and companies 
responsible.   

 
55.6 The Council will generally take prosecutions against those providing or 

facilitating illegal gambling, in effect gambling without a licence or permit, 
where the criminality is contained in one premises.  The Commission will 
generally take the lead in prosecuting the offence for providing facilities for 
gambling where it is committed in the context of illegal gambling that appears 
organised and has a potentially national or regional impact, or where there are 
deliberate, reckless or significant breaches by a licensed operator.   

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

80 

 

55.7 The Council will generally agree to lead a multi-agency coordinated approach 
into investigations relating to illegal poker or illegal/illegally sited gaming 
machines in a specific premises, with the Commission, the police and, where 
appropriate, HMRC providing support, advice and expertise.   

 
55.8 In relation to the prevention, investigation and prosecution of offences under 

the Act, and other offences related to gambling, the Council will give priority, 
based on the level of risk posed to the licensing objectives, to crimes in which 
there is a greater risk of harm or exploitation to children and vulnerable 
persons. 

 
55.9 Whilst breaching a licence condition is a criminal offence, the Council will 

default, in the first instance, to its regulatory rather than criminal powers when 
considering such a breach.  These regulatory powers include revocation, 
suspension and adding/removing/amending conditions.  However, where 
there are significant breaches of licensing conditions that satisfy the criteria 
for invoking criminal powers in accordance with the Council’s Better 
Regulation and Enforcement Policy this will mean that the Council will 
investigate matters with a view to instituting criminal proceedings irrespective 
of whether it has used its regulatory powers or not.  

 
55.10 The Council will abide by the statutory principles of good regulation and the 

Regulators’ Code.  Inspection and enforcement activities will be carried out in 
a way that is transparent, accountable, proportionate, consistent and targeted, 
and promotes efficient and effective regulatory approaches that improve 
outcomes without imposing unnecessary burdens on business.  

 
55.11 The Council will apply a risk-based approach to inspection and where relevant 

this will be informed by the Council’s local area profile.  Overall, it is the 
Council’s intention to resource inspections of high-risk premises to a greater 
level than those deemed to be of a lower-risk.  This will ensure that resources 
are more effectively concentrated on potential problem premises.  However, 
inspections of lower-risk premises will be undertaken at an appropriate level in 
order to allow the Council to maintain a presence at such premises and to 
target controls on emerging risks.   

 
55.12 Whilst the Council recognises that industry codes, developed through trade 

associations and similar organisations, do not have the force of a licence 
condition or code, the Council will use such codes to assist officers to conduct 
premises inspections.  

 
56.0 Test purchasing and age verification  
 
56.1 The Council will, where appropriate, utilise test purchasing operations to 

measure the compliance of licence/permit holders.  The Council will follow 
current guidance (Age Restricted Products and Services: A Code of Practice 
for Regulatory Delivery published by the Better Regulation Delivery Office, 
April 2014), in order to ensure that tests are carried out in a manner that is 
risk-based and fair, with due regard to the welfare of young people involved in 
the test purchasing.   



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

81 

 

 
56.2 The Council will focus its regulatory test-purchasing on evaluating underage 

controls in place in licensed premises.  The Council, where it is practical to do 
so, may consider test-purchasing in connection with evaluating the 
effectiveness of measures concerning self-exclusion and anti-money 
laundering policies and procedures (e.g. to regulate FOBT), but will only do so 
where it receives guidance and support from the Commission to undertake 
such operations. 

 
56.3 The Council strongly encourages licence/permit holders to manage the 

business risk associated with preventing underage access to premises and 
permitting a young person to gamble, including the underage use of gaming 
machines.  Where a licence/permit holder commissions a third party to test 
the effectiveness of their policies and procedures or put its own testing in 
place and where the results of the tests are shared with the Council and/or the 
Commission, the Council will be less inclined to conduct test purchasing.  

 

56.4 Where the Council has concerns about underage access and age verification 
policies or where there are particular premises it plans to test purchase, the 
Council will, in the first instance, consult with the Commission and then also 
with relevant licence/permit holders and operators.  This will enable the 
Council to avoid creating conflict between any ongoing 
investigation/enforcement activities being undertaken by the Commission, to 
identify what programmes are in place to manage the business risk and to 
take these into account when planning a test purchasing operation.   

 
56.5 The Council will share its test purchasing results with the Commission. 
  
56.6 The Council will follow any age restricted sales of gambling national 

inspection plans and strategies that are published on the Primary Authority 
register when considering proactive age restricted gambling sales activity 
including testing.16  However, where it is necessary, the Council will undertake 
reactive test purchasing (Primary Authority plans do not prohibit this 
approach); the Council will still undertake relevant consultation, with 
appropriate parties, before doing so.    

 
57.0 Complaints 
 
57.1 Where appropriate, complainants will be encouraged to raise complaints with 

the relevant licence holder or business concerned.  However, the Council will 
also respond to complaints in line with its Better Regulation and Enforcement 
Policy and will use complaint information to assist in the determination of 
licensing decisions and enforcement action. 

 

58.0 Publication of information relating to the Council’s regulatory functions 
 

                                                           
16 Where other areas, e.g. Health and Safety, are covered by a Primary Authority Agreement the Council will 

also follow any requirements of that agreement. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

82 

 

58.1 The Council will not normally publish details of the information found or the 
conclusions reached during its inspections and investigations.  An exception 
may be made where there is speculation in the public domain and/or where 
those involved have made public statements which need to be responded to 
in order to avoid misconceptions arising.  

 
58.2 The Council will normally publish details of all formal regulatory action taken 

under the Act. Such information will be published as soon as practicable after 
a decision has been taken, whether or not the decision is the subject of an 
appeal.  

 
58.3 When investigating criminal matters, the Council will generally consider 

making a public announcement when suspects are arrested, when search 
warrants are executed, when charges are laid and at the conclusion of any 
trial.  A public announcement may also be made at other stages of an 
investigation when this is considered appropriate.  

 
58.4 The Council will, upon request, review any compliance or enforcement-related 

notices that are published on the Council’s website in order to determine 

whether continued publication is appropriate, or whether publicity should be 

removed or amended. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

83 

 

PART 5 

 

CONSULTATION  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

59.0    PART 5 – CONSULTATION 

59.1 Formal Cconsultation was undertaken for a period of eight weeks between 5 

October 2015 and 29 November 2015.  However, a period of informal 

engagement with key stakeholders was also undertaken from May 2015 to 

September 2015 to assist in the initial draft of the Policy that was actually 

subject to the formal consultation process.  The Council has consulted as 

widely as was reasonably practicableit could.  Details of the consultees are 

set out below and theat paragraph xx below.  



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

84 

 

59.2 The full list of representations received during the consultation process, 

together with the Council’s responses, is available on the Council’s website as 

part of the report that was presented to the Strategic Licensing Committee on 

the 6 January 2016.  

59.23 During the process of assessing the representations of those who were 
consulted, the Council had regard to guidance issued under the Act and gave 
appropriate weight to the views of those it consulted.  In determining the 
weight to give particular representations, the following factors were taken into 
account: 

 

• who made the representation (their expertise or interest);  

• relevance of the factors to the licensing objectives; 

• how many people expressed the same or similar views; and 

• how far the representations related to matters that the Council should be 
including in its Policy. 

 

60.0 Consultees 

 

Association of British Bookmakers 

Aquarius 

British Amusement Catering Association 

British Horseracing Board 

Casino Operators Association 

Done Brothers t/a Betfred 

Gambling Commission 

Gamcare 

Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 

National Casino Industry Forum (formerly British Casino Association) 

National Leisure Ltd t/a Talarius 

Responsibility in Gambling Trust 

Samaritans 

Shrewsbury resident 

Shropshire Adults Safeguarding Board 

Shropshire Association of Local Councils 

Shropshire businesses holding a gambling premises licence/permit/registration17  

Shropshire Chamber of Commerce 

                                                           
17 Those with an email address recorded on the licensing database. 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

85 

 

Shropshire Clinical Commissioning Group – Mental Health  

Shropshire Council - Development Management  

Shropshire Council – Economic Growth 

Shropshire Council – Information Governance 

Shropshire Council – Planning Policy 

Shropshire Council – Public Health 

Shropshire Council – Safeguarding (Adults) 

Shropshire Council – Safeguarding (Children)  

Shropshire Council – Housing 

Shropshire Council – Visitor Economy 

Shropshire Fire and Rescue Service 

Shropshire Safeguarding Children Board 

Shropshire Town and Parish Councils 

West Mercia Police 

William Hill 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

86 

 

 

PART 6 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

87 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PART 6 

 

LICENSING CONTACT 

DETAILS  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

88 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

61.0   PART 6 – LICENSING CONTACT DETAILS 

 

61.1 Contact details 

61.2 For information, advice and guidance relating to this Policy and the licensing 

and permitting of gambling establishments and activities, please contact: 

 

Licensing 

Business Support and Regulatory Services 

Shropshire Council 

Abbey Foregate 

Shrewsbury 

Shropshire 

Tel: 0345 678 9026  

Email: licensing@shropshire.gov.uk  

 

61.3 Website: [web page link to be included following Strategic Licensing 

Committee decision] 

 

62.0 Licence Fee Payments Telephone: 0345 678 9026 

Online: [web page link to be included following Strategic Licensing Committee 

decision] 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

89 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDICES 
 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

90 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

91 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

 
MAP OF GEOGRAPHICAL AREA OF 

THE ADMINISTRATIVE AREA OF 

SHROPSHIRE COUNCIL 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

92 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

93 

 

  



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

94 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

LOCAL AREA PROFILE 

 

 

 

 
 

 

[Insert local area profile] 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

95 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

96 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

97 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

98 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

99 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

100 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

101 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

102 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

103 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

104 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

105 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

106 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

107 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

108 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

109 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

110 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C 

 
 

CHILD EXPLOITATION 

AND TRAFFICKING OF 

CHILDREN AND 

YOUNG PEOPLE 

 
 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

111 

 

 

 

  

1.0 CHILD EXPLOITATION AND TRAFFICKING OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG 

PEOPLE 

1.1 Introduction 

1.2 Set out below is information for gambling premises licence and permit holders 

and their employees to help them report, to the relevant authorities, matters of 

concern that could relate to the safety of children and vulnerable persons, 

particularly as it relates to child sexual exploitation and trafficking. 

2.0 General information 

2.1 Shropshire Council’s Licensing Service is helping to tackle child sexual 

exploitation and trafficking by working together with key partners particularly 

West Mercia Police, Children and Adult Services within the Council and the 

Safeguarding Children Board.  The Board also works with the police, 

children’s social care, schools, health services and the youth offending team, 

as well as specialist child sexual exploitation organisations such as the child 

sexual exploitation National Working Group (NWG) Network. 

2.2 Through agencies working together and sharing information, we aim to 

identify and prevent sexual exploitation, disrupt the activities of perpetrators, 

protect children and young people and prosecute perpetrators of sexual 

exploitation.  Sharing information with West Mercia Police and Children’s 

Social Care helps to protect young people from harm.  Safeguarding children 

and young people is everyone’s business and everyone’s responsibility.  

2.3 Child sexual exploitation is a crime that can affect any child, anytime, 

anywhere – regardless of their social or ethnic background. 

2.4 Sexual exploitation of children and young people involves exploitative 

situations, contexts and relationships where young people (or a third person 

or persons) receive something, e.g. food, accommodation, drugs, alcohol, 

cigarettes, affection, gifts, money, etc. as a result of them performing, and/or 

another or others performing on them, sexual activities.  Violence, coercion 

and intimidation are commonly involved in such exploitative relationships. 

2.5 Child sexual exploitation involves perpetrators grooming youngsters and using 

their powers to sexually abuse them.  Sexual exploitation of children and 

young people can take many forms, whether it occurs through a seemingly 

‘consensual’ relationship with an older boyfriend, or a young person having 

sex in return for attention, gifts, alcohol or cigarettes.   

 

3.0 How gambling premises licence and permit holders and their employees 

can help tackle child sexual exploitation 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

112 

 

3.1 Gambling establishment licence and permit holders and their employees are 

in a good position to help identify victims of sexual exploitation because, 

through the operation of certain gambling activities, licence and permit holders 

and their employees regularly come into contact with children, young and 

vulnerable people.  This means that licence and permit holders and their 

employees are in an ideal position to help protect young and vulnerable 

people. 

3.2 In particular, licence and permit holders and their employees should ask 

themselves the following questions when they see young and vulnerable 

people in their gambling premises: 

• Do any of your customers appear to be under 18 years old? 

• Are they with a much older person and appear to be in a relationship? 

• Do you think that they are under the influence of alcohol or drugs? 

• Are children/young people being brought regularly to your premises by older 

people?  If so, ask yourself why? 

3.3 If the answers to any of the questions above gives you even the 

slightest cause for concern, these concerns should be reported in 

accordance with the relevant provisions relating to the ‘Safety of 

children and vulnerable persons’ detailed in the Council’s Gambling 

Policy Statement.  

3.4 If you have reason to suspect that a child is being abused or at risk of 

abuse it is your responsibility to report your concerns to and share 

information with West Mercia Police (Tel: 101) and Children’s Social 

Care (Tel: 0345 678 9021). 

3.5 Further information about Shropshire’s Safeguarding Children Board can be 

found at: 

(http://www.safeguardingshropshireschildren.org.uk/scb/index.html)   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

113 

 

 

 

 

 

AAPPENDIX D 

 

EXTRACT FROM THE 

SHROPSHIRE COUNCIL 

CONSTITUTION SETTING 

OUT DELEGATIONS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

114 

 

 

 

 



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1

 1
6
0
1
0
6
 S
L
C
 R
e
p
o
rt
 -
 G

a
m
b
lin
g
 A
c
t 
2
0
0
5
 –
 P
o
lic
y
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
 

1
1

5
 

           



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1

 1
6
0
1
0
6
 S
L
C
 R
e
p
o
rt
 -
 G

a
m
b
lin
g
 A
c
t 
2
0
0
5
 –
 P
o
lic
y
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
 

1
1

6
 

 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 D
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
 D
e
le
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 

 

M
a
tt
e
r 
to
 b
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

F
u
ll
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 A
c
t 
S
u
b
-

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 

P
u
b
li
c
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

(S
p
e
c
ia
li
s
t)
* 

(u
n
le
s
s
 o
th
e
rw
is
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ie
d
) 

F
in
a
l 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
o
f 
th
e
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

P
o
li
c
y
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 

X
 

 
 

 

P
o
li
c
y
 n
o
t 
to
 p
e
rm

it
 

c
a
s
in
o
s
 

X
 

 
 

 

F
e
e
 s
e
tt
in
g
 

 
 

X
 

 
 

 

A
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
 

p
re
m
is
e
s
 l
ic
e
n
c
e
s
 

 
 

X
 

w
h
e
re
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 

re
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
n
d
 n
o
t 
w
it
h
d
ra
w
n
 

X
 

w
h
e
re
 n
o
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 o
r 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 w
it
h
d
ra
w
n
 

A
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
 

v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 a
 l
ic
e
n
c
e
 

 
 

X
 

w
h
e
re
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 

re
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
n
d
 n
o
t 
w
it
h
d
ra
w
n
 

X
 

w
h
e
re
 n
o
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 o
r 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
d
ra
w
n
 

A
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 

o
f 
a
 l
ic
e
n
c
e
 

 
 

X
 

w
h
e
re
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 

re
c
e
iv
e
d
 f
ro
m
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

o
r 
re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

X
 

w
h
e
re
 n
o
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 

fr
o
m
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 o
r 
re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

A
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l 
s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 

 
 

X
 

w
h
e
re
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 

re
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
n
d
 n
o
t 
w
it
h
d
ra
w
n
 

X
 

w
h
e
re
 n
o
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 o
r 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
d
ra
w
n
 

In
it
ia
ti
n
g
 a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
a
 

p
re
m
is
e
s
 l
ic
e
n
c
e
 

 
 

 
X
  

(O
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r)
 



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1

 1
6
0
1
0
6
 S
L
C
 R
e
p
o
rt
 -
 G

a
m
b
lin
g
 A
c
t 
2
0
0
5
 –
 P
o
lic
y
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
 

1
1

7
 

 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
a
 p
re
m
is
e
s
 

li
c
e
n
c
e
 

 
 

X
 

 

W
h
e
th
e
r 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 

a
re
 i
rr
e
le
v
a
n
t,
 f
ri
v
o
lo
u
s
, 

v
e
x
a
ti
o
u
s
 o
r 
‘c
e
rt
a
in
 n
o
t 

to
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
a
ti
o
n
’ 

 
 

 
X
 

A
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
c
lu
b
 

g
a
m
in
g
/c
lu
b
  

m
a
c
h
in
e
 p
e
rm

it
s
 

 
 

X
 

w
h
e
re
 o
b
je
c
ti
o
n
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
n
d
 

n
o
t 
w
it
h
d
ra
w
n
 

X
 

w
h
e
re
 n
o
 o
b
je
c
ti
o
n
s
 m

a
d
e
 o
r 

o
b
je
c
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
d
ra
w
n
 

C
a
n
c
e
ll
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
lu
b
  

g
a
m
in
g
/c
lu
b
 m
a
c
h
in
e
 

p
e
rm

it
s
 

 
 

X
 

 

A
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
o
th
e
r 

p
e
rm

it
s
 

 
 

 
X
 

C
a
n
c
e
ll
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
li
c
e
n
s
e
d
  

p
re
m
is
e
s
 g
a
m
in
g
 

m
a
c
h
in
e
 p
e
rm

it
s
 

 
 

 
X
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 

te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 u
s
e
 n
o
ti
c
e
 

 
 

 
X
 

D
e
c
is
io
n
 t
o
 g
iv
e
 a
 

c
o
u
n
te
r 
n
o
ti
c
e
 t
o
 a
 

te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 u
s
e
 n
o
ti
c
e
 

 
 

X
 

 

X
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
 t
h
e
 l
o
w
e
s
t 
le
v
e
l 
to
 w
h
ic
h
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 d
e
le
g
a
te
d
 

*O
r 
e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
if
 p
o
s
t 
d
e
s
ig
n
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 a
m
e
n
d
e
d
 

 



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1

 1
6
0
1
0
6
 S
L
C
 R
e
p
o
rt
 -
 G

a
m
b
lin
g
 A
c
t 
2
0
0
5
 –
 P
o
lic
y
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
 

1
1

8
 

       



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

119 

 

 

 

APPENDIX E 

 
CRIMINAL RECORD 

DISCLOSURE 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

120 

 

Appendix E 

1.0 Suitability of an applicant to hold a UFEC Permit, Prize Permit and Small 

Society Lottery Registration 

1.1 The Council has a responsibility for determining the suitability of applicants to 
hold an UFEC or a Prize Permit and to ensure that persons submitting Small 
Society Lottery applications have no relevant convictions.  The principles set 
out below will be taken into account. 

 
1.2 The Council will not grant a permit to anyone unless it is satisfied that they are 

a suitable applicant.  The Council will consider the following criteria when 

assessing the suitability of an applicant: 

• the integrity of the applicant; 

• the competence of the applicant to carry on the permitted activities in a 
manner consistent with the licensing objectives; and 

• the financial and other circumstances of the applicant and in particular the 
resources likely to be available for the purpose of carrying on the permitted 
activities. 

 
1.3. In order to ensure the Council is in a position to make as accurate an 

assessment of the applicant’s suitability to hold a permit as is reasonably 
practicable, all applicants (including sole traders, partnerships and 
companies) on initial application and renewal must:  
 

• provide a satisfactory basic criminal record disclosure from Disclosure 
Scotland (applicants can apply to Disclosure Scotland by telephone on 0870 
609 6006, online at www.disclosurescotland.co.uk, by email at 
info@disclosurescotland.co.uk, by fax 0870 609 6996 or in writing to 
Disclosure Scotland at PO Box 250, Glasgow, G51 1YU)18;    

• have a satisfactory check in respect of enquiries made through the Council’s 
Care First system (or equivalent if this is replaced or if it necessary to seek 
details from other local authorities), directly with West Mercia Police (or other 
relevant force), other local authorities and any other organisation, agency or 
person that the Council has deemed appropriate to seek information from;  

• provide evidence of relevant qualifications, training and/or experience to 
demonstrate their competence to carry on the permitted activities 

• provide evidence of their general level of solvency, in particular in terms of the 
financial resources they intend to use for the purposes of carrying on the 
permitted activities; and 

• have two satisfactory references from either professional or business sources 
who have known the applicant for at least two years and are in a position to 
comment on the applicant’s general character, standing in the community, 

                                                           
18 The Council follows the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Code of Practice for Registered Persons and Other 
Recipients of Disclosure Information (April 2009) and abides by the handling of DBS certificate information 
requirements on the secure storage, handling, use, retention and disposal of disclosure certificates and certificate 
information.  Further information about the DBS can be found on the GOV.UK website at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service/about. Where practical, the Council 
encourages the use of the DBS Update Service for all applicants. 
 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

121 

 

experience of working in the gambling industry and financial position. (NB the 
Council will not accept references from family members.) 

 
NB For partnerships or companies, the above requirements apply to all 
partners and directors/company secretaries.  

 

1.4 Persons who have not been resident within the United Kingdom for the five 
years prior to submitting an application, will be required to produce a certificate 
of good conduct or equivalent document (at their own cost) issued by the 
relevant Embassy or High Commission. The certificate must be authenticated, 
translated and sealed by the Embassy or High Commission.  In the event that 
an applicant is not able to obtain a certificate of good conduct, they may submit 
a statutory declaration with regard to their conduct, which must be completed 
in the presence of a practising solicitor.  The Council may contact the relevant 
Embassy, High Commission, solicitor or other appropriate body to verify any 
documents provided.  Proof of a right to work in the United Kingdom will also 
be required.  Contact details for Embassies and High Commissions can be 
found from the Foreign & Commonwealth Office (FCO) on the GOV.UK website 
at https://www.gov.uk/government/world.  The FCO may be contacted for 
further assistance by telephone on 020 7008 1500, by email at 
fcocorrespondence@fco.gov.uk or by post at the FCO, King Charles Street, 
London, SW1A 2AH. 

 
1.5 With specific reference to existing permit holders, where there is any cause 

for a permit to be reviewed, the Council will request the permit holder obtain a 
further basic criminal record disclosure, the cost of which lies with the permit 
holder.  Where a permit holder refuses to obtain a further disclosure report, 
the Council will take this into consideration in determining their continuing 
suitability to hold a permit. 

 
1.6 When assessing the suitability of an applicant to hold a permit, the Council will 

consider the applicant’s criminal history as a whole, together with all other 
relevant evidence, information and intelligence including their history (e.g. 
complaints and positive comments from the public, level of previous 
compliance, and willingness to co-operate with Council officers) whilst holding 
a permit from the Council or any other authority.  Particular attention will be 
given to patterns of behaviour, irrespective of the time-scale over which they 
have occurred, both in terms of proven criminal offences and other 
behaviour/conduct that may call into question the integrity, competence and/or 
financial standing of the applicant that may, in turn, indicate the safety and 
welfare of existing and potential customers may be at risk from the applicant.     

 
1.7 In addition, the Council considers that an important element associated with 

the suitability to continue to hold a permit is the appearance and behaviour of 
the applicant.  Consequently, the Council requires all permit holders to 
maintain a reasonable standard of appearance and behaviour when in contact 
and dealing with customers, the general public, other licensed/permitted 
operators, Council officers and elected members at all times.   

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

122 

 

1.8 Applicants and permit holders must also co-operate with any reasonable 
request made by an authorised officer of the Council, any police officer or 
other person with relevant enforcement powers under the Act. 

 
1.9 The Council will also consider all criminal history, behaviour and conduct 

irrespective of whether the specific history, behaviour or conduct occurred 
whilst permit holders were directly engaged in permitted work at the time or 
whether they occurred during the permit holder’s own personal time. 

 
2.0 Criminal record disclosure 
 
2.1 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 applies to persons who wish to 

apply for a permit.  This means that convictions (not all) and cautions become 
spent in accordance with the provisions of the 1974 Act. 

 
2.2 Although cautions are generally not as serious as convictions, they do require 

an admission of guilt before they can be issued and are therefore a valuable 
indication as to an applicant’s character and whether they are a suitable 
person to be granted or hold a permit. 

 
2.3 The Council does not deem that a criminal record automatically bars an 

applicant from holding a permit; however, it will be a significant factor when 
determining whether a permit ought to be granted or not.  Where an applicant 
has previous criminal convictions, these will be considered in line with the 
guidance set out under ‘Relevance of Criminal Convictions and Cautions’ 
below, taking into account the ‘relevant offences’ listed in Schedule 7 of the 
Gambling Act.  However, the over-riding consideration will always be to 
ensure the safety and welfare of the permit holder’s existing and potential 
customers. 

 
2.4 Where an applicant is the subject of an outstanding charge or summons, their 

application may continue to be processed; however, depending on the 
circumstances, it is unlikely that a decision on the application will be made 
until the conclusion of the criminal proceedings.   

 
2.5 Where the outstanding charge or summons involves a serious offence and/or 

the individual’s offending history and behaviour/conduct indicates a pattern of 
unlawful or unacceptable behaviour/character traits, then the application is 
likely to be refused. 

 
2.6 Where there is evidence/information that an applicant has been arrested or 

charged but not convicted of offences but the nature of this 
evidence/information suggests the applicant may not be a suitable person, the 
Council will give serious consideration to refusing an application or revoking 
an existing permit.  

 
 
 
 
 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

123 

 

3.0 RELEVANCE OF CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS AND CAUTIONS 
   

3.1 Introduction 

 
3.2 The purpose of this section is to provide additional guidance to determine 

whether or not an applicant or an existing permit holder is a suitable person to 
hold a UFEC or Prize Gaming Permit as it relates specifically to convictions 
and cautions. 

 
3.3 The guidance has been produced to assist the Council in its decision-making 

and to maintain the consistency of the decisions made.  It has also been 
formulated to provide clearer information to current and potential applicants, 
with a view to minimising the cost and time spent on the licensing process by 
both the Council and the applicant. 

 
3.4 The aim of the guidance is not to punish the applicant twice for a conviction or 

caution but to ensure that public safety is not compromised.  The Council 
cannot review the merits of any conviction. 

 
3.5 Each case is to be decided on its own individual merits and, where the 

circumstances demand, the decision making body may depart from the 
guidance in which case the reasons for this will be made clear.   

  
4.0 Legislation  
 
4.1 Schedule 10 (Paragraph 7) and Schedule 14 (Paragraph 8) of the Gambling 

Act 2005 sets out that the Council may prepare a statement of principles that 
it proposes to apply in exercising its functions in relation to UFEC and prize 
gaming permits and in doing so may, in particular, specify matters that the 
Council proposes to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for a 
permit. 

 
4.2 The Council has prepared a statement of principles in respect of UFEC and 

prize gaming permits and has agreed that unless it is satisfied that the person 
is a suitable applicant in terms of integrity, competence and financial 
solvency, it will not issue an UFEC Permit or a Prize Permit. 

 
4.3 The wording of the statement of principles makes it clear that the Council will 

only grant a permit if it is satisfied that the person is suitable. 
 

5.0 Defining ‘suitability of an applicant’  
 
5.1 There is no legal definition as to what definitively constitutes a ‘suitable 

applicant’.  However, because of the potential vulnerability of the customers 
that permit holders may come into contact with, it is incumbent on the Council 
to take a very robust stance when deciding whether or not a person is suitable 
to hold a permit granted by the Council.   

 
5.2 In essence, a suitable applicant will be: 

 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

124 

 

• Honest and trustworthy  

• Not abusive, violent or threatening  

• Knowledgeable and competent in the area of gambling law and practice 

• Able to communicate effectively with customers 
 

6.0 The Council’s approach when considering convictions 
 
6.1 The disclosure of any convictions or cautions will not necessarily mean an 

applicant is an unsuitable applicant and, therefore, automatically prevented 
from being issued a permit.  However, the Council will have regard to all live 
convictions and cautions and they will be assessed accordingly.  
Consideration will be given, but not restricted to, the following: 
 

• How relevant the offence(s) are to the permit being applied for. 

• How serious the offence (s) were. 

• When the offence(s) were committed. 

• The date of conviction. 

• Circumstances of the individual concerned. 

• The extent of any mitigating factors. 

• Sentence imposed by the court. 

• Whether the offence(s) form part of a pattern of offending or indicate a 
pattern of unacceptable behaviour. 

• Any other character check considered reasonable, e.g. personal 
references. 

• Any other factor that may be relevant. 
 

6.2 If the Council has any doubts as to the suitability of an applicant/existing 
permit holder, then an application must be refused or permit revoked until 
those doubts can be effectively allayed through the provision of further 
adequate evidence.   

 
6.3 If the applicant or holder of a permit has notified the Council of a conviction 

but is appealing against it to a higher court the matter will be referred to the 
Licensing Act Sub-committee for a decision as to whether the permit ought to 
be revoked. 

 
7.0 Patterns of behaviour 
 
7.1 A series of offences or a pattern of behaviour/conduct over a period of time is 

more likely to give cause for concern than an isolated conviction/incident.  
However, that is not to say that an isolated conviction/incident cannot give 
cause for concern in its own right, particularly where it relates to a serious 
matter.  In such circumstances, the Council will give significant consideration 
to refusing to grant a permit or to revoking an existing permit.   

 
7.2 A serious view will always be taken where an applicant shows any tendency 

towards criminal and/or unacceptable/inappropriate behaviour patterns.  In 
such instances, the Council is unlikely to consider such an applicant/existing 
permit holder is a suitable proper person to hold a permit and will give 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

125 

 

significant consideration to refusing to grant a permit or to revoking an existing 
permit. 

 
 
 

 
8.0 Rehabilitation periods 
 
8.1 Detailed guidance (effective March 2014) on the Rehabilitation of Offenders 

Act 1974 is available on the GOV.UK website at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-guidance-on-the-
rehabilitation-of-offenders-act-1974 

 
8.2 A person with a conviction for an offence need not be automatically barred 

from obtaining a permit.  However, they would be expected to remain free of 
conviction for an appropriate period of time (as set out in Tables A and B 
below) and demonstrate adequate evidence that they are a suitable person to 
hold a permit.  The onus is on the person to produce such evidence.   

 
NB Simply remaining free of conviction will not generally be regarded as 
adequate evidence that a person is a fit and proper person. 

 
 
 

Table A 

 
Sentence 

Rehabilitation period 
(applies from the end date of the 
sentence, including any licence 

period) 

Custodial sentence* of over 48 
months, or a public protection 
sentence** 

Never spent 

Custodial sentence* of over 30 
months and up to and including 48 
months 

7 years 

Custodial sentence* of over 6 
months and up to and including 30 
months 

4 years 

Custodial sentence of 6 months or 
less 

2 years 

Community order  1 year 
 
*Custodial sentence includes both an immediate custodial sentence and a suspended sentence. 
**Public protection sentence means a sentence of imprisonment imposed for specified sexual and violent offences as 
set out in Schedule 15 of the Criminal Justice Act 2003.  (Equivalent provisions of the Armed Forces Act 2006 are 
also applicable.) 

 
 
 
 
 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

126 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Table B 

 
* Disqualified’ – refers to the period of disqualification actually served in order to take account of the fact that a court 
may reduce the period of disqualification; an applicant must provide evidence to prove that the court agreed a 
reduction in the period of disqualification. 

 
8.3    Where a person does not satisfy the rehabilitation periods referred to in the 

tables above, then the Council will refuse to grant a new permit or revoke 
an existing permit until the applicant is in a position to satisfy them.   

 
8.4    The specific periods of rehabilitation are not intended to be taken as 

definitive time periods by which an applicant/permit holder is automatically 
granted a licence simply on the basis that the rehabilitation period has 
elapsed.  Rather they are intended to give parameters for consideration 
when taken with the overall history of an applicant/permit holder in order to 
assist the Council to determine whether an applicant/existing permit holder 

 

Sentence 
Rehabilitation period 
(applies from the date of 

conviction) 

Endorsement for a road traffic offence 
imposed by the court or a FPN; or if a 
driving licence is revoked or refused 
on medical grounds by the DVLA (or 
other body responsible for issuing the 
driving licence) 

5 years 

Penalty points for a road traffic offence 3 years 

Driving disqualification* when the disqualification ceases 
to have effect 

Community order with no specified end 
date 

2 years 

Fine 1 year 

Conditional discharge Period of the order 

Absolute discharge None 

Conditional caution 3 months or when the caution 
ceases to have effect if earlier 

Simple caution Spent immediately 

Compensation order On the discharge of the order (i.e. 
when it is paid in full); individuals 
must obtain and retain proof of 
payment from the court 

Binding over order; Attendance centre 
order; Hospital order (with our without 
a restriction order) 

Period of the order 



APPENDIX 1 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement  

127 

 

is a suitable person or not.  The rehabilitation periods will not be 
considered in isolation.  

 

  

8.5 The Council will not grant a permit to an applicant who has been convicted of 
a specified sexual or violent offence unless significant and exceptional 
circumstances apply. 

 
9.0 Gambling offences 

 
9.1 In addition to the consideration of rehabilitation periods, where an existing 

permit holder is found guilty of gambling related offences or multiple breaches 
of permit requirements, permit holders will be referred to the Licensing Act 
Sub-Committee with a view to determining whether the permit should be 
revoked. 

 

10.0 Right of appeal 
 
10.1 Any applicant refused a permit on the grounds that they are not a suitable 

person, or who has had their permit revoked has a right of appeal by way of 
written complaint, to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of the notice of 
decision.  
 

11.0 Conclusion 
 

11.1 Any applicant having a previous or current conviction should not, in principle, 
debar them from obtaining a permit.  However, previous convictions are a 
significant factor in the decision making process and it will inevitably be more 
difficult for such applicants to obtain a permit.  It is this Council’s policy to 
consider the protection of the public above all else by ensuring all holders of 
permits are honest and trustworthy, will not be a threat to the public, are 
competent in their role and able to communicate effectively.  In doing so, the 
Council will focus on the background of an applicant as a whole and will not 
consider individual offences and their rehabilitation periods identified above in 
isolation from other factors, in particular patterns of unacceptable or 
inappropriate behaviour and conduct that may not necessarily be linked to 
proven convictions. 





APPENDIX 2 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement 

‘Get Involved’ Website Consultation Details

Why are we consulting?

Under the Gambling Act 2005 (‘the Act’), the council is the licensing authority and is 

responsible for licensing and overseeing local gambling establishments.  Part of this 

responsibility is the duty to prepare and publish a statement of the principles (a 

policy) that the council proposes to apply in exercising its functions under the Act. 

The council’s current Gambling Act policy came into effect on the 1 June 2013 and 

will cease to have effect on the 31 May 2016. The council must be in a position to 

formally adopt a revised policy with effect from 1 June 2016.  It is, however, the aim 

to bring the adoption date forward to the 1 April 2016 and, in order to satisfy the 

specific legal requirements set down in the Gambling Act 2005, the council needs to 

carry out the consultation process during October and November.

The proposed Gambling Policy statement is available to view as an attachment on 

this page.

What does the revised policy seek to achieve?

The council has taken the opportunity to significantly revise the format and content of 

the policy to reflect the latest guidance issued to licensing authorities by the 

Gambling Commission, to provide greater practical clarity to existing and potential 

licence holders and to assist council officers to correctly apply the legal provisions of 

the Gambling Act 2005.

In particular:

a)    There is a greater focus on setting out the overarching principles that the council 

intends to consider when exercising its functions under the Act, including those that 

the Council will specifically consider in relation to each of the licensing objectives as 

set out in the Act.

http://new.shropshire.gov.uk/get-involved/gambling-act-policy-consultation/
http://new.shropshire.gov.uk/get-involved/gambling-act-policy-consultation/


APPENDIX 2 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement 

b)   It is recognised nationally that there is a greater need to focus on understanding 

and mitigating gambling related harm more broadly, rather than focussing on 

problem gambling alone.  In this respect, the revised policy is intended to emphasise 

the Council’s focus on protecting children and young people, particularly in relation to 

child exploitation, and also other vulnerable people from harm. 

c)    Nationally, gambling policy and the regulatory environment overall has an 

increasing focus on risk.  Whilst not compulsory, it is now recommended that the 

Council creates a ‘local area profile’ (an initial draft is included as part of the revised 

policy) to inform its understanding of risk and to allow appropriate decisions to be 

made and steps taken to mitigate these risks.  From April 2016, gambling 

establishment operators must undertake ‘local area risk assessments’ before 

submitting a premises licence application or variation and will be expected to give 

due consideration to the information available in the Council’s ‘local area profile’.  It 

is wholly anticipated that the Council’s ‘local area profile’ will develop over time and 

will be influenced by information and intelligence from key partners and other 

stakeholders.

d)   The Act singles out children and vulnerable people for special regulatory 

attention; consequently, the revised policy is intended to have a greater focus on 

protecting these particular groups. 

e)    The application processes applicable to each different type of licence are set 

out, together with the requirements that must be satisfied before an applicant can 

obtain and then retain any such licence.

f)     The premises licence review process is set out to ensure all stakeholders 

understand when and how this process may be utilised in accordance with the 

provisions of the Act.

g)   A detailed explanation setting out the way in which the Council deals with the 

exchange of information is included.



APPENDIX 2 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement 

h)   The Council’s overarching approach to inspection, compliance, enforcement and 

complaints is clearly stated and links made to the Council’s Better Regulation and 

Enforcement Policy.

On what does the council particularly want to 
receive feedback?

The Council welcomes and encourages all interested parties to provide feedback in 

relation to the content and format of the whole policy.  However, we are particularly 

keen to hear views in relation to the following matters:

a)     Have we adequately considered safeguarding as it applies to both children and 

adults as it relates to gambling activities?

b)     Have we appropriately identified who is vulnerable, why and under what 

circumstances in relation to gambling activities?  If not, who have we missed? 

c)     Have we included appropriate controls in relation to vulnerable groups?

d)     What other data and information could be included in the local area profile to 

increase the Council’s ability to determine additional/different principles under which 

it will exercise its functions under the Act and to also assist applicants to produce 

effective local area risk assessments?

e)     Should the Council have a ‘no casino policy’?  If yes, why?

We want to hear your views. You can submit your response by: 

·         Email:  Licensing@shropshire.gov.uk 

·         Telephone: Licensing 0345 678 9026 

·         Post: Licensing Service, Public Protection, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, 

Shrewsbury SY2 6ND 

http://new.shropshire.gov.uk/get-involved/gambling-act-policy-consultation/
http://new.shropshire.gov.uk/get-involved/gambling-act-policy-consultation/


APPENDIX 2 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement 

The consultation period will end at midnight on Sunday 29 November 2015.

Documents

 Proposed Gambling Policy statement 2016 to 2019 

http://new.shropshire.gov.uk/media1/2257/proposedplusgamblingpluspolicyplusstatementplus2016plustoplus2019.pdf
http://new.shropshire.gov.uk/media1/2257/proposedplusgamblingpluspolicyplusstatementplus2016plustoplus2019.pdf


APPENDIX 3 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement



APPENDIX 3 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement



APPENDIX 3 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement



APPENDIX 3 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement



APPENDIX 3 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement



APPENDIX 3 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement



APPENDIX 3 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement



APPENDIX 3 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement



APPENDIX 3 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement



APPENDIX 3 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement



APPENDIX 4 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement 

Summary of Consultation Responses Received 

Letter/ Document 
Number

Para. No.
Included in Revised Policy 
[Y/N, In Part, Supporting 

Proposals (SP) or Context 
Statements (CS)]

Officer Comments
Explanatory Notes

Doc 1 1 to 3 CS Comments noted
Doc 1 4 CS It is not the intention to undermine the ‘aim to permit’ principle; in 

fact the policy repeats this principle in paragraphs 4.3, 13.3, 13.4, 
17.9 and 44.9.

Doc 1 5 & 6 CS Comments noted
Doc 1 7 CS Whilst not disagreeing with the comments, it is noted that 

supporting evidence was not provided with the response; 
consequently no changes to the policy have been made in this 
respect.

Doc 1 8 SP Paragraph 27.1 sets out the Council’s commitment to working with 
gambling trade associations, which would clearly include the 
Association of British Bookmakers (ABB).  In addition, the 
paragraph has been amended to clarify that the partnership 
approach will be adopted to deal with problems when they arise.
A new Paragraph 27.10 has been inserted to increase 
transparency in respect of information exchange with other 
organisations/operators. 

Doc 1 9 Y Paragraph 27.1 amended to make specific reference to the LGA – 
ABB framework for local partnerships on betting shops

Doc 1 10 Y Paragraph 56.6 amended to strengthen the position in respect of 
Primary Authority Partnerships.

Doc 1 11 SP Given that the requirement for local risk assessments is new, 
officers currently agree with the comments submitted.  However, as 
the risk assessment approach develops it may become necessary 
to prescribe the format in the future.     



APPENDIX 4 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement 

Doc 1 12a Y Paragraph 2.6 amended to confirm the risks identified in the local 
area profile will be evidence based.

Doc 1 12b In Part It is accepted that risks based on perception would distort the ‘aim 
to permit’ principle and incorrectly move the burden of proof onto 
operators.  Consequently the amendment to Paragraph 2.6 clarifies 
this position.  However, it is not accepted that it is solely the 
responsibility of the licensing authority to provide evidence of risks 
including potential risks (which are different from perceived risks) to 
the licensing objectives; in fact, officers are of the view that 
operators have an equal responsibility to identify and mitigate 
against potential risks. 

Doc 1 12c Y The Local Area Profile will be included at Appendix B of the policy.
Doc 1 13 CS Comments noted
Doc 1 14 In Part Officers are minded not to refer to exceptional circumstances on 

the basis that Paragraphs 10.7 and 10.8 adequately cover the 
appropriate use of additional conditions. 

Doc 1 15 In Part Paragraph 7.3 has been amended to remove the implication that 
certain persons were automatically vulnerable; however the 
paragraph has also been extended to further clarify potential 
vulnerable persons in line with the research set out in ‘Exploring 
area-based vulnerability to gambling related harm: Who is 
vulnerable?  Findings from a quick scoping review Heather Wardle, 
Gambling and Place Research Hub 13th July 2015’.

Doc 1 16 Y Paragraph 10.7 and 10.8 have been amended to clarify that 
additional conditions will only be imposed based on evidence. 
New Paragraph 13.5 included to set out the Council’s starting 
position with respect to any application.

Doc 1 17 Y Paragraph 14.2 typographical error corrected.
Doc 1 18 In Part The policy does not specify any area where gambling premises 

should not be located; however, the local area profile may identify 
in the future such areas but these will be wholly evidence based 
and dealt with on a case by case basis.  Paragraph 15.4 has been 



APPENDIX 4 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement 

amended to make it clear that refusal of an application will be 
based on evidence of risk to the licensing objectives together with 
ways in which these can be mitigated through appropriate 
conditions.

Doc 1 19 SP Comments noted
Doc 1 20 In Part Consultee has referred to Paragraph 17.4, however it appears that 

the comments made are relevant to Paragraph 17.5.  The policy 
does not specify any area where gambling premises should not be 
located; however, the local area profile may identify in the future 
such areas but these will be wholly evidence based and dealt with 
on a case by case basis.  Paragraph 17.5 has been amended to 
make it clear that refusal of an application will be based on 
evidence of risk to the licensing objectives together with ways in 
which these can be mitigated through appropriate conditions.

Doc 1 21 In Part The originally drafted Paragraph 17.6 was not a misunderstanding 
of the operation of betting premises; it was intended to bring 
policies around preventing underage sales of age restricted 
products/services in line with the requirements of ‘Challenge 25’; 
this is a nationally recognised policy aimed at preventing many 
types of underage sales not only those under the Licensing Act 
2003.  However, Paragraph 17.6 has been amended to 
acknowledge the Gambling Commission’s current position.  (It is 
the intention that officers will raise this matter with the Gambling 
Commission for further consideration on the basis that officers are 
of the view that ‘Challenge 25’ ought to be the standard that 
applies to all policies aimed at preventing age restricted sales.)

Doc 1 22 Y Paragraph 17.10 amended to include reference to additional 
conditions being applied only where there is a risk to the licensing 
objectives.

Doc 1 23 CS Comments noted

Doc 2 1 CS Comments noted



APPENDIX 4 160106 SLC Report - Gambling Act 2005 – Policy Statement 

Doc 2 2 In Part Paragraph 17.1 sets out that the Council is likely to reject an 
application or revoke an existing licence or permit where there is 
insufficient emphasis placed on the provision of information to 
support vulnerable persons and problem gamblers.  It is not 
appropriate for the Council to specify how an operator ought to 
provide the information; the emphasis is on the operator to set out 
how it will achieve this and for the Council to then determine 
whether this is sufficient to satisfy the licensing objectives.  Policing 
the compliance with conditions is a role for the Council.  With 
respect to 16 and 17 year olds the focus is on preventing access to 
gambling activities rather than providing information/advice.

Doc 2 3 CS Comments noted
Doc 2 4 N The whole policy is aimed at reducing the risk of gambling 

becoming an addiction. However, the law requires the Council to 
‘aim to permit’ gambling activities.  It is not the role of the Council 
to support those with gambling addictions and in this respect the 
Council’s position is set out at Paragraph 17.8.

Doc 2 5 CS Comments noted

Doc 3 1 & 4a CS Comments noted
Doc 3 2, 3 & 4c SP Comments noted
Doc 3 4b Y An additional bullet point has been added to Paragraph 31.0 to 

clarify the minimum that is expected from a local risk assessment. 

Doc 4 N/A Direct response to specific 
questions posed as part of 
the consultation.

Consultee agrees that the policy adequately considers 
safeguarding, has appropriately identified who is vulnerable and 
has included appropriate controls in relation to vulnerable groups.
Unsure about additional data and information that could be 
included in the local area profile and absolutely sure that there 
should be a ‘No Casino’ policy.



Committee and Date

Strategic Licensing 
Committee

6th January 2016

Item

9
Public

EXERCISE OF DELEGATED POWERS

Responsible Officer Mandy Beever, Transactional - Team Manager 
Email: Mandy.Beever@shropshire.gov.uk Tel: 01743 251702

1. Summary

1.1 Licensing officers have been given delegated powers to issue or amend licences, 
providing no objections have been received in the case of licences issued under the 
Licensing Act or with regard to general and public health licences. 

1.2 Further, procedures have been approved for officers with direct line management 
responsibility for Licensing to use their delegated powers to, amend, revoke or 
refuse driver and vehicle licences. 

1.3 This report gives details of the licences issued, variations that have been made and 
the enforcement action undertaken between 1st September 2015 and the 30th 
November 2015 and a summary of applications considered by committee.   

2. Recommendations

2.1     That members note the position as set out in the report.

REPORT

3. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

3.1 This is an information report giving Members information on the work undertaken 
by the Licensing Team and Committee and therefore a risk assessment and 
opportunities appraisal has not been carried out.

4. Financial Implications

4.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.

5. Background

5.1 Information regarding the issue of licences by Officers under delegated powers is 
reported to Committee on a quarterly basis.



Strategic Licensing Committee – 6th January 2016 – Agenda Item 9

5.2 Officers use their delegated powers in a number of situations, including where:

a) A licence has been requested and there have been no objections raised by 
interested parties or Responsible Authorities.

b) The application has met the Council’s policy criteria for accepting an application. 

c) There are vehicle applications for new or renewal licenses and revocation of 
licences where the operating criteria as set by the Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licence policy or Out of Area policy is not met and the officer does not 
consider there to be any special reason for an exception to be made.

d) There are driver’s applications for new or renewal licences or revocation of 
licences where the criteria as set by the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licence policy is not met and the officer does not consider there to be any special 
reason for an exception to be made.

5.3 The table in Appendix A shows the complete range of licences issued by the 
licensing team during the period of the 1st September 2015 and the 30th November 
2015.  During this period the total number of licences processed was 1741.  

5.4 The Table in Appendix B shows that there were no Licensing and Safety Sub-   
Committee Meetings held between the 1st September 2015 and the 30th November 
2015.

5.5 The Licensing Act activities at Sub Committee have also been given in Appendix C.

5.6 The Private Hire Vehicle and Hackney Carriage checks undertaken between the 1st 
September 2015 and the 30th November 2015, results are provided in Appendix D.

5.7 Following the decision at the Strategic Licensing Committee on 21st March 2012, 
vehicles and driver applications are now being considered by Officers using 
delegated powers. Evidence is obtained by the officers through interview with the 
applicants, to ascertain where they intend to operate to a material extent and to also 
obtain agreement that they will keep records if a licence is granted. In relation to 
Driver Applications where the decision is ‘minded to refuse’, a letter is sent to the 
applicant giving them an opportunity to make written representations stating any 
exceptional circumstances that they wish to be taken into consideration. This is in 
line with the rules of natural justice which state that there is a right to be heard 
before a decision is made.



Strategic Licensing Committee – 6th January 2016 – Agenda Item 9

5.8 The number of licences and actions determined by this process is as follows:-

Driver Granted Granted 
and/or
Warning 
letter

Letter 
Council is 
‘Minded to 
refuse’ or 
‘Suspend’

Refused To refer to 
Committee

New 2 1 4
Renewal
Conduct 3 8

Vehicle Granted Granted 
subject to 
keeping 
records
(Warning)

Letter sent 
stating 
Council is 
‘Minded to 
refuse’

Refused To refer to 
Committee

New 1
Renewal 4
Condition

6. Conclusion

6.1 During the last three months the workload for the Licensing team continued to be 
high, the team have been working hard to maintain the flow of applications.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)
Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor Malcolm Price – Portfolio Holder for Regulatory Services, Housing and 
Commissioning (Central)
Local Member
Cover all areas of Shropshire
Appendices: 
A – Licences issued 1st September 2015 and the 30th November 2015. 
B – Number of hackney Carriage / Private Hire Vehicle applications considered at 
the Licensing and Safety Sub-Committees from 1st September 2015 and the 30th 
November 2015. 
C – Hearings held for licensed premises at the Licensing Act Sub-Committees from 
1st September 2015 and the 30th November 2015.
D – Private Hire Vehicle and Hackney Carriage checks undertaken between the 1st 
September 2015 and the 30th November 2015.



APPENDIX A 
Licences issued – 1st September 2015 to the 30th November 2015.

General Licensing   Total Taxi Licensing  Total Gambling Act 2005   Total
Acupuncture Personal 1 Hackney Carriage N 9 Bingo Premise Licence 0
Acupuncture Premises 1 Hackney Carriage R 37 Betting Premise Licence 7
Animal Boarding 26 Joint HC/PH Driver N 31 Licensed Premise Gaming Machine Permit 6
Animal Breeding 4 Joint HC/PH Driver R 157 Notification of Intent to have gaming machines 75
Caravan Sites 6 Private Hire Operator N 4 Club Machine Permits 8
Cosmetic Piercing Personal 5 Private Hire Operator R 9 Occasional Use Licence 0
Cosmetic Piercing Premises 5 Private Hire Vehicle N 46 Adult Gaming Centre 0
House to House Collection 10 Private Hire Vehicle R 182 Small Society Lotteries 20
Pet Shops 2 Hackney Vehicle Transfer 5 Change of Promoter 0
Riding Establishments 5 Private Hire Vehicle Transfer 52 Annual Fee 0
Scrap Metal Site 0 Private Hire Licensee Transfer 0 Total Gambling Act 2005 Applications 116
Scrap Metal Collector 0 Total Taxi Applications 532
Sex Establishment Licence 1

Street Collection 53 Licensing Act 2003 Total   
Street Trading Consent 7 Club Certificate with alcohol 0
Tattooing Personal 1 Personal Alcohol 99
Tattooing Premises 0 Premises Licence 17
Electrolysis 0 Temp Event Notice no Alcohol 0
Dangerous Wild Animals 0 Temp Event Notice with Alcohol 313
Zoo 0 Minor Variation Application 9
Performing Animals 0 DPS Change/Variation 63
Total  Applications General 127 Transfer Application 33

Annual Fee 426 Total Applications 1741
Taxi Licensing (Surrendered) Total Premises Review 0

Private Hire Vehicles 15
Premises Lic with Alcohol - Full 
Variation 6

Hackney Carriages 3
Premises Lic without Alcohol - Full 
Variation 0

Total Surrendered 
Vehicles 18

Total Surrendered Vehicles 18 Total  Lic Act Applications General 966



Strategic Licensing Committee – 6th January 2016 – Agenda Item 9

APPENDIX B

Licensing and Safety Sub-Committee Meetings – 1st September 2015 to the 30th November 2015. 

Date of Meeting Scheduled/
Additional

Item Time Decisions

 None



Strategic Licensing Committee – 6th January 2016 – Agenda Item 9

APPENDIX  C 

Licensing Act Sub-Committees.  
Hearings held for licensed premises from 1st September 2015 to the 30th November 2015. 

Date Premises Type of 
application

Councillors Meeting 
Venue

Decision Review 
Requested 
by

2nd September 
2015

St Nicholas 
Café, 24 
Castle Street, 
Shrewsbury, 
Shropshire, 
SY1 2BQ. 

Review Peter Adams, 
Andrew Davies 
and Michael 
Wood

Shirehall Licence 
amended and 
Conditions 
added

Environmental 
Health

10th September 
2015

St Chad’s 
Church and 
Church Hall, 
St Chad’s 
Terrace, 
Shrewsbury, 
SY1 1JX

New Peter Adams, 
Joyce Barrow 
and Keith 
Roberts

Shirehall Granted

7th October 
2015

Efes Kebab & 
Burger 
House, 8 
Castle 
Foregate, 
Shrewsbury, 
SY1 2DJ. 

Variation n/a Shirehall Cancelled – 
Withdrawn by 
applicant



Strategic Licensing Committee – 6th January 2016 – Agenda Item 9

APPENDIX D

Private Hire Vehicle and Hackney Carriage checks undertaken between the 1st September 2015 and the 30th 
November 2015. 

Inspection Date Total Number of 
Vehicles Inspected

Advisory Note No Action Required

12th September 2015 3 0 3

2nd October 2015 3 0 3

17th October 2015 3 0 3

18th October 2015 10 0 10

21st October 2015 4 0 4

25th October 2015 19 0 19

31st October 2015 2 0 2





SHROPSHIRE COUNCIL

LICENSING ACT SUB-COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held on 2 September 2015
9.30 am - 12.27 pm in the Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, 

Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2 6ND

Responsible Officer:    Shelley Davies
Email:  shelley.davies@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 257718

Present 
Councillors Peter Adams, Andrew Davies and Michael Wood

7 Election of Chairman 

RESOLVED:

That Councillor Andrew Davies be elected Chairman of the Licensing Act Sub-
Committee for the duration of the meeting.

8 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Members were reminded that they must not participate in the discussion or voting on 
any matter in which they had a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave the 
room prior to the commencement of the debate.

9 Application for a Review of a Premises Licence - St Nicholas Bar and Cafe, 
Shrewsbury 

Consideration was given to an application for a Review of a Premises Licence in 
respect of St Nicholas Bar and Café, 24 Castle Street, Shrewsbury, SY1 2BQ.

Ms. Louise Prince (Solicitor – Shropshire Council); Mr Ben Smith (Licence Holder); 
Mr Kevin Rippard (Licence Holder’s Advisor); Mr M Key (Applicant – Environmental 
Health, Shropshire Council); Ms Joanne Chanter (Public Protection Officer – 
Professional – Shropshire Council); Mrs Kate Roberts (Public Protection Officer - 
Professional - Shropshire Council); Councillor Andrew Bannerman (Local Ward 
Member); Dr Alan Shrank (Interested Party); Mr Richard Harris (Interested Party); Mr 
David Waterhouse (Interested Party); Mr Dudley Clark (Interested Party); and PC 
Kevin Roberts (West Mercia Police) were present.

Mr M Key (Applicant – Environmental Health) addressed the Sub-Committee, stating 
that the application for a review of the Premises Licence was made on the grounds 
that operations at the premises undermined the Prevention of Public Nuisance 
Licensing Objective. He detailed the background to the application and advised that 
following continuing noise nuisance issues at the premises a noise abatement notice 
was served on 6th March 2015. Mr Key circulated a copy of draft conditions which he 



Minutes of the Licensing Act Sub-Committee held on 2 September 2015

Contact: Shelley Davies on 01743 257717 2

considered would address the issues at the premises and confirmed that he had 
discussed these conditions with the Licence Holder prior to the meeting.

In response to questions from the Licence Holder, Interested Parties and Members of 
the Sub-Committee Mr M Key confirmed that:

 Planning conditions related to the building itself and Licensing conditions 
related to the Licensing activity at the Premises;

 It was not a legal requirement to consult Planning in relation to Licensing 
applications;

 He was not aware of any complaints received since the application for the 
review had been submitted;

 He had been in contact with the Licence Holder in relation to the draft 
conditions but had not previously been in a position to produce a list of draft 
conditions;

 The Licence Holder had been in breach of Licensing Objectives not 
necessarily the conditions of the Premises Licence;

 The courtyard area was not included in the licensed area of the premises but 
conditions could be attached to this area as the noise issues were a direct 
result of the licensed activity;

 The noise management plan requested as part of the draft conditions would 
manage the noise issues to ensure the music was an acceptable level; and

 The noise management plan would be agreed between the Licence Holder 
and Environmental Health.  

The Public Protection Officer (Professional) addressed the Sub-Committee 
confirming that the application for the review had been accepted as a valid 
application and that representations had been received during the consultation 
period.

In response to a question from the Licence Holder Mrs K Roberts confirmed that the 
licensed area of the premises was shown on the premises licence plan and it was the 
Licence Holder’s responsibility to ensure they were operating within the conditions of 
the premises licence.

PC K Roberts (West Mercia Police) addressed the Sub-Committee confirming that 
representations had been submitted by West Mercia Police. He added that he had 
visited the premises on a number of occasions in relation to noise nuisance issues 
but there were no issues at the premises in relation to crime and disorder.

In response to questions from the Licence Holder, Interested Parties and Members of 
the Sub-Committee PC K Roberts confirmed that:

• The effect of music on an individual was subjective and if an individual’s 
hearing had shut down on leaving an entertainment venue it did not 
necessarily indicate that the music was too loud;

• He was not aware of reports of customers of St Nicholas Café urinating 
outside the premises; and 



Minutes of the Licensing Act Sub-Committee held on 2 September 2015

Contact: Shelley Davies on 01743 257717 3

• The Council were responsible for the closure of a premises due to noise 
nuisance issues, not the Police.

Councillor Andrew Bannerman addressed the Sub-Committee on behalf of Dr and 
Mrs King (Interested Parties) confirming that he supported the draft conditions 
circulated by Mr Key. He suggested the premises should operate more like a 
restaurant closing at 11:00 p.m. due to the proximity of residential properties.

Mr D Waterhouse (Interested Party) addressed the Sub-Committee explaining that 
he supported the review of the premises licence and stated that the premises had 
been operating as a nightclub rather than a café/bar.

Mr R Harris (Interested Party) addressed the Sub-Committee explaining that he was 
in support of the review application and questioned why the premises had been 
licensed in the first place due to the proximity of residential properties.

Dr A Shrank (Interested Party) addressed the Sub-Committee explaining that he was 
in support of the review application and stated that as the premises were surrounded 
by residential properties and it was more suited for use as a restaurant where alcohol 
was only served with a meal. 

Mr D Clark (Interested Party) addressed the Sub-Committee explaining that he was 
in support of the review application and stated that the current use of the premises 
was intolerable for residents and was not being properly run. 

In response to a question from a Member of the Sub-Committee Dr A Shrank 
confirmed that he considered any alcohol should only be served with a substantial 
meal.

The meeting was adjourned at 10:47 a.m. to allow time for those present to read the 
list of draft conditions circulated by Mr M Key.

The meeting was reconvened at 10:51 a.m.

The Interested Parties present confirmed that the draft conditions were acceptable 
subject to the opportunity to comment on the noise management plan before it was 
finalised. 

Mr B Smith (Licence Holder) addressed the Sub-Committee in relation to the review 
application. He explained that he was willing to change the direction of the business 
to alleviate the noise issues experienced by local residents by including 5 hotel 
rooms, ceasing live music at 11:00 p.m. and utilising the top floor as a steak and 
lobster restaurant. 

In response to questions from Environmental Health, Interested Parties and 
Members of the Sub-Committee Mr B Smith confirmed that:

• He was acceptable to the draft conditions circulated by Mr Key apart from the 
condition to close the premises at 11:00 p.m., which he considered would be 
detrimental to the business; 



Minutes of the Licensing Act Sub-Committee held on 2 September 2015

Contact: Shelley Davies on 01743 257717 4

• He intended to move the café to the ground floor; 
• The business was thriving and contributing to the local economy;
• The issue of noise could be mitigated by measures such as not allowing customers 
to go outside to smoke after 11:00 p.m., moving the access/egress and including a 
last entry time;
• He was willing to look at having a designated smoking area away from residential 
properties;
• He was not aware that the ground floor was not included in the licensable area;
• The proposed café on the ground floor would close at 6:00 p.m. and weddings 
would be held in the upstairs restaurant;
• He had changed the type of live music to acoustic music which was more suitable 
to the building; and
• He had already used 6 Temporary Event Notices (TENS) this year and would be 
worried about Christmas time if he had to rely on TENS to hold weddings and events 
at the premises.

The Chairman invited all parties to sum up and make any final comments prior to the 
Sub-Committee making a decision on the application.

Members of the Sub-Committee retired to consider the application, in private, at 
12:00 p.m. and reconvened at 12:25 p.m. to announce their decision.

RESOLVED:
That the Premises Licence for St Nicholas Café, 24 Castle Street, Shrewsbury be 
modified as detailed below: 

The Opening Hours of the premises and the Sale of Alcohol be amended as follows:

Opening hours 
Mon-Thu 10.00 – 00.00
Fri-Sat 10.00 – 00.00 
Sun 10.00 - 23:00

Sale of Alcohol
Mon-Thu 10.00 – 23.30
Fri-Sat 10.00 – 23.30 
Sun 10.00 - 23:00

That the licence be amended to restrict the hours for live music and recorded music 
(s177A Licensing Act 2003 does not apply) as follows:

Live Music
Mon-Sat 10.00 – 23.00
Sun 11.00 – 16.00

Recorded Music
Mon-Sat 10.00 – 23.00
Sun 11.00 – 23.00



Minutes of the Licensing Act Sub-Committee held on 2 September 2015

Contact: Shelley Davies on 01743 257717 5

That an additional condition to require a designated smoking area (location to be 
agreed with Environmental Health) and the following conditions (recommended by 
Environmental Health) be added to the Premises Licence:  

1. A noise management plan shall be submitted in writing to the Licensing 
Authority by 2 October 2015 for the written approval of the Licensing Authority. 
It shall detail the controls to be adopted to manage the impact of noise on 
nearby premises and minimise noise escape from the premises associated with 
amplified and acoustic music and in any case to avoid nuisance to nearby 
residential premises. The noise management plan shall detail the methods and 
controls to be adopted to ensure compliance with the licence conditions and 
shall specifically include:-

• the scheduling and operating hours of all live acoustic and amplified music
• the location on the site and orientation of all acoustic instruments, amplification 

equipment and speakers
• all steps as necessary for attenuation of noise including sound-proof treatment 

of the building as necessary and appropriate 
• specification and noise mitigation controls for all fixed amplification equipment
• management and supervision proposed to ensure compliance with the 

measures included in the noise management plan.

The controls and requirements of the noise management plan including any 
conditions attached to the written approval issued by the Licensing Authority shall be 
complied with at all times. This plan shall be subject to regular review and any 
changes necessary shall be submitted in writing to the Licensing Authority.  (s177A 
Licensing Act 2003 does not apply).

2. The Live Music Act 2012 shall not apply to these premises. Therefore the 
controls and restrictions relating to regulated entertainment at the premises 
shall apply during licenced hours.

3. No regulated entertainment shall occur at the premises until the Noise 
Management Plan required in accordance with condition 1 has been approved 
in writing by the Licensing Authority.  (s177A Licensing Act 2003 does not 
apply).

4. There shall be the provision of SIA licensed door supervisors after 21.00 to 
manage the main entrance to the premises and ensure that customers leaving 
and entering the premises and also those smoking externally do not cause 
nuisance or interfere with the amenity of nearby residential premises.

5. A designated smoking area shall be provided away from the main entrance to 
the premises, such position to be agreed with the Licensing Authority. The 
proposed location of the designated smoking area shall be submitted in writing 
to the Licensing Authority by 2 October 2015. 

The Sub-Committee requested that the Interested Parties be given the opportunity to 
comment on the noise management plan detailed above. 



Minutes of the Licensing Act Sub-Committee held on 2 September 2015

Contact: Shelley Davies on 01743 257717 6

Reasons

The Sub-Committee had considered all of the documents submitted prior to the 
hearing and the representations made by the parties at the hearing. The Sub-
Committee also took into account the Guidance issued under S182 of the Licensing 
Act 2003 and Shropshire Council’s Licensing Policy.

The Sub-Committee noted the concerns from the neighbours regarding noise 
nuisance and disturbance they experienced from the premises, in particular from 
music and customers leaving the premises, however, having regard to the 
representations made by the Licence Holder and the recommendations made by the 
Environmental Health officer, it was considered that the revised conditions were 
appropriate and proportionate in order to promote the licensing objective of 
prevention of public nuisance.

The parties were advised that the decision would be confirmed in writing within 7 
days of the date of the hearing.  Every party had the right of appeal against this 
decision to the Magistrates Court within 21 days of being notified of the decision.

Signed (Chairman)

Date: 



SHROPSHIRE COUNCIL

LICENSING ACT SUB-COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held on 10 September 2015
10.30 - 11.39 am in the Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, 

Shropshire, SY2 6ND

Responsible Officer:    Shelley Davies
Email:  shelley.davies@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 257718

Present 
Councillors Peter Adams, Joyce Barrow and Keith Roberts

10 Election of Chairman 

RESOLVED:

That Councillor Keith Roberts be elected Chairman of the Licensing Act Sub-
Committee for the duration of the meeting.

11 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Members were reminded that they must not participate in the discussion or voting on 
any matter in which they had a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave the 
room prior to the commencement of the debate.

Councillor Peter Adams stated that he knew the Parish Secretary, Claire Crackett 
who had submitted the Premises Licence Application. 

12 Application for a Premises Licence - St Chad's Church and Church Hall, 
Shrewsbury 

Consideration was given to an application for a Premises Licence in respect of St 
Chad’s Church and Church Hall, St Chad’s Terrace, Shrewsbury, SY1 1JX.

Ms. Louise Prince (Solicitor – Shropshire Council); Mrs Emma Armstrong-Chadwick 
(Applicant); Rev Mark Chadwick (Vicar, St Chad’s); Mrs Sally Seymour (Church 
Warden); Mr Peter Flint (Church Warden); Mr David Tudor (Church Warden); Mrs 
Kate Roberts (Public Protection Officer - Professional - Shropshire Council); Mr 
Robert Lewis (Interested Party); Ms Wynona Silcock (Interested Party); Mr Trevor 
Wheatly (Interested Party - Joint car park owner ); Mr Peter Stewart (Interested 
Party- Joint car park owner); Dr Gareth Benyon (Interested Party); Mr Richard Tudor 
(Interested Party) and Mrs Gail Holmes (Interested Party) were present.

Mr David Tudor (Church Warden) addressed the Sub-Committee on behalf of the 
applicant. He explained that St Chad’s Church was used for a number of events and 
the Church Hall was an important adjunct to the Church especially as the Church had 
no kitchen so any event that required catering would need to use the Church Hall. It 
was stressed that the Parochial Church Council (PCC) did not plan any change in 



Minutes of the Licensing Act Sub-Committee held on 10 September 2015

Contact: Shelley Davies on 01743 257717 2

policy for the use of the Church or Church Hall if the Premises Licence was granted 
and Mr Tudor listed a number of concessions agreed with residents, these were as 
follows:

1. Hours to be covered by the licence should be 10.00 am to 10.00 pm.
2. If at some future point the Church hall is no longer in use by the Church, the hall 

will not be let or sold as licenced premises.
3. The hire agreement on the church hall will be strengthened to emphasise that the 

adjacent car park is privately owned and that there is foot access only to the hall.

In response to questions from the Public Protection Officer (Professional), Interested 
Parties and Members of the Sub-Committee Mr Tudor confirmed that:

 The Church and Church Hall had previously applied for Temporary Event 
Notices for events that included alcohol but it was expensive to do this and it 
took time to do this for each event;

 The buildings were regularly visited by the Shropshire Fire and Rescue 
Service and an annual fire safety check was undertaken;

 He was not aware of any complaints from residents in relation to events at the 
Church Hall;

 The Church was informed by Shropshire Council that just one notice was 
required to be displayed in relation to the application and this had been 
displayed at the Church; and

 He considered that a notice displayed in the Church giving a point of contact 
was reasonable and a good idea.

The Public Protection Officer (Professional) addressed the Sub-Committee 
confirming that the new application had been accepted as a valid application and 
that representations had been received during the consultation period. It was 
explained that due to changes made by Government regarding regulated 
entertainment to buildings such as Church Halls certain entertainment does not 
require a licence.

Peter Stewart (Interested Party - Joint car park owner) explained that Trevor 
Wheatly and himself had met with the PCC in relation to the issues concerning the 
car park and had agreed a number of concessions with David Tudor (the precise 
wording of these concessions was circulated to Members) and therefore would 
withdraw his representation subject to the concessions being included as conditions 
of the licence.

Mrs Gail Holmes (Interested Party) addressed the Sub-Committee explaining that 
some events at the Church Hall caused a noise nuisance to properties in the area. 

Dr Gareth Benyon (Interested Party) addressed the Sub-Committee and questioned 
who residents would contact from the PCC if there were issues during an event at 
the Church Hall.

Mr Robert Lewis (Interested Party) addressed the Sub-Committee explaining that 
individuals using the hall did not take any notice of the signs stating that the car 



Minutes of the Licensing Act Sub-Committee held on 10 September 2015

Contact: Shelley Davies on 01743 257717 3

park was for residential use only and continued to park in this area. He added that 
once a booking for the hall was made he felt the PCC were not interested in how 
the event was run.

In response to questions from a Member of the Sub-Committee, Mr Peter Stewart 
explained that following the erection of a number of notices in relation to the car 
park the problem had decreased but a number of people using the Church Hall still 
parked in this area.

 In response to questions from a Member of the Sub-Committee, Ms Wynona 
Silcock explained that she had lived in her property for 16 years and the music in 
the Church was not an issue but problems occurred when amplified music was 
played during events at the Church Hall. 

The Chairman invited all parties to sum up and make any final comments prior to 
the Sub-Committee making a decision on the application.

Members of the Sub-Committee retired to consider the application, in private, at 
11:21 a.m. and reconvened at 11:38 a.m. to announce their decision.

RESOLVED:

That the application for a Premises Licence for St Chad’s Church and Church Hall, 
St Chad’s Terrace, Shrewsbury, SY1 1JX, be granted for the following days, hours 
and licensable activity:

Plays, Films, Live Music, Recorded Music, Performance of Dance – indoors
Monday to Sunday – 09:00 to 22.30

Supply of Alcohol - on the premises
Monday to Sunday - 10:00 to 22:00

Opening Hours
Monday to Sunday – 08:00 to 23:00 

And in accordance with the following operating schedule:

Prevention of Crime and Disorder
1. CCTV system is in place in the church, the recordings are kept for 28 days. 
Recordings will be made available to Shropshire Council or the Police on request.
2. Crime prevention notices displayed at premises.

Public Safety
1. Maximum number of people on the premises will never exceed the legal 

maximum.
2. First aid equipment will be available and maintained available for use.
3. Fire equipment regularly maintained and checked.
4. Escape routes maintained and kept free from obstruction.

Prevention of Public Nuisance



Minutes of the Licensing Act Sub-Committee held on 10 September 2015

Contact: Shelley Davies on 01743 257717 4

1. When licensable events take place, regular checks will be undertaken outside 
by church members to ensure that there is no noise nuisance to local residents. 
Any action taken will be recorded.

2. Notices will be displayed at exit doors to ask patrons to leave quietly.

Protection of Children from Harm
1.  A Challenge 25 policy will be operated at the premises with notices informing 

of the policy being displayed within the premises. Those responsible for 
alcohol sale(s) must be trained on this policy.  Regular refresher training to 
enforce this policy. 

2. All alcohol sale refusals will be noted in a refusals register which will be 
available for inspection by an officer of a responsible authority on request. 

3. Acceptable proof of identification will be a passport, photo card driving 
licence or recognised proof of age card.

Reasons:

The Sub-Committee had considered all of the representations that had been made 
by all parties prior to the hearing and at the hearing. The Sub-Committee also took 
into account the Guidance issued under S182 of the Licensing Act 2003 and 
Shropshire Council’s Licensing Policy.

The Sub-Committee had noted the concerns of local residents and understood their 
position.  However, having considered the application in detail and the answers 
given by the applicant the Sub-Committee were satisfied that the application 
satisfactorily promoted the licensing objectives and therefore granted the 
application as detailed above. The matters set out in the operating schedule 
(detailed above) were to be made conditions on the licence.  The setting of these 
conditions was an appropriate and proportionate measure to take for the 
furtherance of the licensing objectives.

It was noted by the Sub-Committee that the concessions proposed by the applicant 
(detailed below) were not enforceable and therefore would not be conditions of the 
licence

• If at some point the church hall was no longer in use by the church, the hall 
would not be let or sold as a licensed premises; and

• The hire agreement on the church hall be strengthened to emphasise that the 
adjacent car park is privately owned and that there is foot access only to the 
hall.

Members of the Sub-Committee recommended to the applicant that a notice 
providing the contact details of the relevant person to contact in case of any 
problems was displayed on the exterior of both the Church and the Church Hall.

The parties were advised that the decision would be confirmed in writing within 7 
days of the date of the hearing and that every party had the right of appeal against 



Minutes of the Licensing Act Sub-Committee held on 10 September 2015

Contact: Shelley Davies on 01743 257717 5

this decision to the Magistrates Court within 21 days of being notified of the 
decision.

Signed (Chairman)

Date: 




	Agenda
	4 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Safety of Sports Grounds - Annual Report December 2015
	7 Gambling Act 2005 - Policy Statement
	Item 7 Appendix 1 Proposed Gambling Act 2005 Policy Statement 2016 to 2019 2
	Item 7 Appendix 2 'Get involved' website consultation details
	Item 7 Appendix 3 Representations received
	Item 7 Appendix 4 Officer response to representations received

	9 Exercise of Delegated Powers
	10 Records of Proceedings - Licensing Sub-Committees
	Item 10 - Minutes of the Licensing Act Sub Ctte held on 10-09-15 (St Chads Church)


